

# A Potpourri of Estate Planning Considerations for Modern Families

May 15, 2024 1:30 – 3:40 pm EDT

Kim Kamin, Partner Chief Wealth Strategist Gresham Partners, LLC 333 W. Wacker Dr., Suite 700 Chicago, IL 60606 (312) 960-0200 kkamin@greshampartners.com



Copyright © 2024 Gresham Partners LLC All rights reserved.



KIM KAMIN is a partner at Gresham Partners LLC, an independent wealth management firm currently serving about 120 families nationally as a multifamily office. At Gresham, Ms. Kamin serves as Chief Wealth Strategist, leading Gresham's development and implementation of estate, wealth transfer, philanthropic, educational, and fiduciary planning activities. Previously she was a partner in the Private Clients, Trusts and Estates Group at a large national law firm where for many years her legal practice involved all aspects of trust and estate planning, administration, and dispute resolution; advising families and their privately held businesses on a wide array of wealth preservation, asset protection and succession planning issues; and serving as counsel for the formation and operation of not-for-profit entities.

Ms. Kamin is an adjunct professor at the Northwestern University Pritzker School of Law where she was awarded the William M. Trumbull Lectureship, and has taught Advanced Trusts and Estates, Income Taxation of Trusts and Estates, and Estate Planning. She is also on faculty for the Certified Private Wealth Advisor® (CPWA®) program through the University of Chicago Booth School of Business Executive Education.

Ms. Kamin is on the UHNW Families & Family Offices Committee of the *Trusts & Estates Magazine* Editorial Advisory Board and has authored numerous pieces at http://wealthmanagement.com/author/kim-kamin. She has published on a wide variety of topics and is also a frequent lecturer in a variety of venues across the country (including for ACTEC, ALI-CLE, Family Office Exchange, Heckerling Institute, Purposeful Planning Institute, Notre Dame Tax & Estate Planning Institute, and Tulane Tax Institute).

She is co-executive editor and co-author for the Leimberg Library Tools & Techniques book, *Estate Planning for Modern Families* (4<sup>th</sup> Ed. 2024), and she has been a contributing author for chapters in books, including the recent *Wealth of Wisdom: Top Practices for Wealthy Families and Their Advisors*.

Ms. Kamin is a Regent of the American College of Trust and Estate Counsel (ACTEC), is Past President of the Chicago Estate Planning Council, and serves on the Advisory Board, Leaders Council and as Estate Planning & Legal Issues Domain Chair for the UHNW Institute. She also serves on the Founders' Committee for the University of Chicago Center of Law and Finance.

She serves on advisory boards for multiple local philanthropic organizations: the Chicago Community Trust Professional Advisory Council, the Art Institute of Chicago Gift Planning Advisory Committee, the Northwestern Memorial Foundation Professional Council for Philanthropy, the Goodman Theatre Spotlight Advisory Council, the Chicago Foundation for Women Professional Advisory Council, WTTW/WFMT Planned Giving Advisory Committee, PAWS T&E Professional Advisory Board (Chair), and the Executive Committee for the Lurie Children's Legacy Partners. She also serves on the Chicago Stanford Association's Board of Leaders. She is a member of The Economic Club of Chicago, where she has served on several committees.

Ms. Kamin received her B.A., with distinction and departmental honors in Psychology, from Stanford University and her J.D. from the University of Chicago Law School. She is an AEP<sup>®</sup> (Distinguished) and a 21/64 Certified Advisor.

These materials are intended to provide attendees with general guidance. The materials do not constitute, and should not be treated as, legal or tax advice regarding the use of any particular estate planning technique or the tax consequences associated with any such technique. Gresham Partners LLC does not provide legal or tax advice and does not assume responsibility for any individual's reliance on the written information disseminated during the seminar. Each participant should independently verify all statements made in the materials before applying them to a particular fact situation and should independently determine both the tax and nontax consequences of using any particular estate planning technique before recommending that technique to a client or implementing it on a client's or your own behalf. The author welcomes your questions or comments about these seminar materials. In addition, kindly inform the author if you become aware of any errors or omissions within these materials.

Gresham Partners is an independent investment and wealth management firm that serves clients as a multifamily office and an outsourced chief investment officer. Gresham has been serving select families, family offices, foundations and endowments since the firm was established in 1997. Today, we manage or advise on ~\$8.7 billion for about 120 families located nationally. We are committed to providing superior investment performance by utilizing select, difficult-to-access managers that are located globally in a full range of asset classes and are not affiliated with Gresham. We make these managers available to our clients in a flexible format well suited to achieving a broad spectrum of investor goals. As a multi-family office, we integrate this investment approach with comprehensive wealth planning and management services to address the full range of each client's financial needs, often avoiding the need for them to maintain a family office. Gresham is wholly owned by its senior professionals; client fees are its sole source of compensation; it avoids conflicts of interest that affect many other firms and serves its clients as a fiduciary, dedicated to serving their best interests.

# **Table of Contents**

| I.   | Intro  | duction.   | 1  |
|------|--|--|----|
| II.  | Considerations for Modern Families.                |  |    |
|      | A.   | Single Clients   | 3  |
|      | В.   | Divorce  |    |
|      | C.   | Blended Families   |    |
|      | D.   | Same-Sex Married Couples   | 7  |
|      | E.   | Multinational Couples  |    |
|      | F.   | Unmarried Couples  | 8  |
|      | G.   | Polyamorous Relationships  | 9  |
|      | H.   | Multiracial Families   | 10 |
|      | I.   | Religious Diversity in Families  | 11 |
|      | J.   | Special Needs  | 12 |
|      | K.   | Transgender Clients and Family Members                                 | 14 |
|      | L.   | Adoption   | 15 |
|      | M.   | Nonmarital Children  | 16 |
|      | N.   | Assisted Reproductive Technologies                                     | 18 |
|      | O.   | Longer Life Spans in Retirement  | 21 |
|      | P.   | Longer Life Spans and Fading Capacity                                  | 22 |
|      | Q.   | Cryonics and Cloning   | 23 |
|      | R.   | Digital Assets and Cryptocurrencies                                    | 25 |
|      | S.   | Intellectual Property  | 27 |
|      | T.   | Pets   | 28 |
|      | U.   | Modern Philanthropy  | 29 |
| III. | Drafting with Flexibility for All Modern Families. |  | 31 |
|      | A.   | General Approach   | 31 |
|      | B.   | Distribution Standards and Related Powers                              | 32 |
|      | C.   | Trustee Succession Plan  | 32 |
|      | D.   | Divided Trusteeships and Directed Trusts                               | 33 |
|      | E.   | Powers of Appointment  | 35 |
|      | F.   | Trust Protectors   | 37 |
|      | G.   | Decanting  | 40 |
|      | H.   | Grantor Trust Provisions   | 40 |
|      | I.   | Funding Formulas   | 43 |
|      | J.   | Additional Drafting Considerations                                     | 48 |
| IV.  | Con  | clusion  | 49 |
| V.   | Addendum: Sample Trust Language.*                  |  |    |
|      | A.   | Distribution Standards   | 51 |
|      | B.   | Trustee Succession Plan  | 51 |
|      | C.   | Divided Trusteeship/Directed Trust                                     | 52 |
|      | D.   | Direction Power of Individual Co-Trustee                               | 53 |
|      | E.   | Granting Broad Special Lifetime and Testamentary Powers of Appointment | 53 |

| F. | Method of Exercise of Powers of Appointment               | 53 |
|----|---|----|
| G. | Power to Create Testamentary General Power of Appointment | 54 |
| H. | Change of Situs and Governing Law                         | 54 |
| I. | Trust Protectors  | 55 |
| J. | Decanting Permission Limiting Notice Requirements.        | 56 |
| K. | Grantor Trust Power to Substitute                         | 57 |
| L. | Grantor Trust Power to Borrow                             | 57 |
| M. | Grantor Trust Power to Add Charitable Beneficiaries       | 57 |
| N. | Grantor Trust Reimbursement Provisions                    | 57 |
| O. | Funding Formulas  | 59 |
| P. | Digital Assets  | 63 |
| Q. | Definition of Descendants                                 | 63 |
| R. | Expanded Definition of Spouse                             | 64 |
| S. | Mediation Provision Options                               | 64 |

### A Potpourri of Estate Planning Considerations for Modern Families\*

#### I. Introduction.

A. Modern families take many forms, and estate planning professionals must advise them all. This outline describes some of the distinct issues faced by a modern family. Given the wide range of configurations of the modern family, there may be more considerations than one may realize.

# B. What is a Family?

1. It is important to understand how the Supreme Court has historically defined a family. Those definitions are not consistent.

The constitutional importance of the family first surfaced in the progressive era when the Supreme Court held that the constitutional right to "liberty"—found in the Fourteenth Amendment—included the right to "establish a home and bring up children" without government interference. Despite the subsequent demise of economic liberty, which was developed at the same time as family liberty, restrictions on the State's ability to interfere in the family have remained intact. <sup>1</sup>

- 2. In the 1960s, family membership began to be defined by genetics for purposes of rights and benefits.<sup>2</sup> States, however, attempted to define family members based on the marital status of the parents.<sup>3</sup> Since the 1970s advocates have been able to stretch the meaning of family to include those people an individual chooses to live with, with the opposition to that notion being rooted in policies as to who can receive public benefits.<sup>4</sup> That tug-of-war continues today, which is explored below.
- C. While helping clients to structure their affairs to avoid paying unnecessary taxes is one aspect of estate planning, there will always be significant non-tax reasons why estate planning is necessary, such as:
  - 1. Loss of Capacity. Without a plan, if a client becomes incapacitated and unable to manage their affairs, a court will select the person to manage the client's finances and medical decisions. With a plan, the party who fills that role has already been identified and authorized so that court involvement can be avoided.
  - 2. End of Life Decisions. Without a plan, there may be no documentation regarding a client's wishes regarding life-sustaining treatment and comfort care. With a plan, clients have an opportunity to express their wishes and inform family members of their preferences. In some cases, mandating that health care providers do not resuscitate or refuse to administer life-prolonging treatment may be desired by the client to avoid having family members make decisions or implement the client's wishes in that regard.

<sup>\*</sup>These materials are based on Stephan R. Leimberg, Kim Kamin and Wendy S. Goffe, *The Tools & Techniques of Estate Planning for Modern Families*, ALM (4th Ed. 2024) and more specifically from Kim Kamin's presentation materials: *A Potpourri of Estate Planning Considerations for Modern Families* on October 13, 2023, for the Montana Tax Institute. A version of Sections I and II appeared in *Estate Planning for Modern Families*, 44 TAX MGMT. EST. GIFTS & TR. J. 51 (Bloomberg, Jan. 2019). The author gratefully acknowledges assistance with these materials from Jonathan Lee.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Katharine K. Baker, *Making Some Sense of the Constitutional Family*, WASH. U. J.L. & Pub Pol'Y. at pg. 5 (May 3, 2023), available at <a href="https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=4437411">https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=4437411</a>.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  *Id.* at pg. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Id*.

- 3. *Minor Children*. Without a plan, a court must determine who will raise minor children if neither parent is alive. With a plan, the parent(s) can nominate (and in some states can determine without court intervention) the guardian(s) of their choice to take care of and handle the finances for minor children in the event of both parents' deaths.
- 4. Avoiding Intestacy. Without a plan, assets of the decedent pass to heirs according to state laws of intestacy. Intestacy rules vary by state and are the default for those who die without a plan. Family members (and perhaps not the ones the client would choose) receive a deceased client's assets outright, without benefit of trust protection. With a plan, the client—not the state—makes decisions concerning who inherits certain assets, along with how and when the designated recipients receive those assets.
- 5. Avoiding Probate. Without a plan, assets in the decedent's name owned outright go through probate (subject to certain small estate transfer exceptions in some states, usually for amounts typically not exceeding \$100,000). Probate can be an expensive, public and time-consuming process, and it usually gives creditors an easy forum for filing claims. Waiting for a personal representative to be appointed through probate can delay the timely administration of assets. Although many states boast that probate is not cumbersome in their state, it is still desirable for planners to help clients avoid being forced to go through probate.
- 6. *Privacy*. As referenced above, clients who die without a plan, or with a plan that hasn't made an effort to protect their privacy, may subject their family to undue public scrutiny. With careful planning, including transfer-on-death and/or trust planning, clients' privacy can be protected.
- 7. *Blended Families*. Without a plan, children from multiple relationships may not be treated as intended and the interests of surviving spouses may be in direct conflict with those children. With a plan, the creator of the estate plan determines what goes to the current spouse, if any, and what goes to any children from current and prior relationships.
- 8. Special Needs Planning. Without a plan, recipients with special needs risk being disqualified from receiving Medicaid or SSI benefits and may have to use an inheritance to pay for care. With a plan, a trust can be created that should enable recipients to remain eligible for government benefits while using the trust assets to pay for non-covered expenses.
- 9. *Keeping Assets in the Family*. Without a plan, upon an adult child's death, that adult child's surviving spouse could receive the child's inherited assets if the child predeceases that spouse. If the child divorces the current spouse, a significant portion of the inherited assets could go to the spouse. With a plan, a trust can be created to help ensure that assets will stay in the family and, for example, pass to grandchildren or more remote descendants instead.
- 10. Retirement Accounts. Without a plan, the beneficiary of any IRAs, or other retirement account funds, may not reflect the client's current wishes and may result in burdensome tax consequences for the heirs, particularly if the probate estate is the default beneficiary. With a plan, a designated beneficiary reflecting the client's wishes can be selected.
- 11. Digital Information and Assets. Without a plan, the family may not be able to access the decedent's online photo albums, music files, email accounts, financial accounts, social media accounts, websites, blogs, online subscriptions, online memberships and domain names. With a plan, the governing instrument can specify who is to manage or inherit such assets, or alternatively, direct that such assets be deleted, terminated, or closed after death.

- 12. Business Ownership. Without a plan, a business owner may not be able to control who runs the business at the owner's death, thus risking both a reduction in value and loss of control of the business for the family. With a plan, the business owner chooses who will own and control the business after the owner dies.
- 13. Minimizing Family Discord. Without a plan, there is a greater risk that the client's wishes will not be well documented and that survivors will have conflict over the administration of the estate and remaining assets. With a well-conceived, well-communicated, and wellexecuted plan, a client can manage expectations, reduce legal conflicts, and put in place mechanisms for dispute resolution prior to litigation.
- 14. Creditor Protection. Without a plan, assets have no protection from creditors. With a plan, it is possible to engage in asset protection, avoid probate, and take other reasonable steps to prevent creditors (including frivolous claims and/or divorcing spouses) from taking assets that could be retained instead in carefully structured trusts for the original owner or intended beneficiaries.
- 15. Philanthropy. State intestacy statutes do not include charitable beneficiaries. With a plan, clients can choose to support the causes they care about at death.<sup>5</sup>
- 16. Values Legacy. Without a plan, there may be no written record of the clients' values, wishes and intentions for how descendants should conduct themselves. With a plan, clients can be given the opportunity to document their values and wishes for their family members.
- D. As indicated by the considerations above, planning is still essential regardless of the tax considerations. Moreover, all such planning must account for the changing nature and composition of families in the 21st century, and developments in laws, social norms, science and technology.
- E. At a minimum, the following situational variables and issues should be considered in planning for modern families in particular: (1) single clients; (2) divorce; (3) blended families; (4) samesex married couples; (5) multinational couples; (6) unmarried couples; (7) polyamorous relationships; (8) special needs; (9) transgender clients and family members; (10) adoption; (11) nonmarital children; (12) assisted reproductive technologies; (13) longer life spans in retirement; (14) longer life spans and fading capacity; (15) cryonics and cloning; (16) digital assets and cryptocurrencies; (17) intellectual property; (18) pets; and (19) modern philanthropy.
- F. Each of the above topics will be considered at a high level herein to flag a few of the basic considerations. Then the outline describes how to draft for flexibility in estate planning for all modern families.

#### II. **Considerations for Modern Families.**

#### A. Single Clients

1. Years of declining marriage rates and changes in family structure have created a new subset within American society—the never married or single by choice. In 1940, 7.7% of all U.S. households were one-person households, while in 2020, over a quarter (27.6%) were oneperson households.<sup>6</sup> According to the Census Bureau, there are roughly 117.6 million

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The above list of nontax considerations is drawn from Kim Kamin & Wendy S. Goffe, *The Tools & Techniques of* Estate Planning for Modern Families (Leimberg Library, 4th ed. 2024) (hereinafter Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe), ch.1. <sup>6</sup> Lydia Anderson et al., Share of One-Person Households More Than Tripled from 1940 to 2020, U.S. Census Bureau (June 8, 2023), available at https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2023/06/more-than-a-quarter-all-householdshave-one-person.html.

unmarried adults in America, which is roughly 45% of all adults in America.<sup>7</sup> Traditional nuclear families with two married different sex parents have now become the minority of American modern families.<sup>8</sup>

- 2. According to an Institute for Family Studies analysis of U.S. Census data, 35% of adults over 25 years old in 2018 had never been married, a figure that had risen from 9% in 1970 and 19% in 1990. Multiple factors have contributed to the rising number of unmarried people. Adults are generally marrying later in life, and many choose to cohabitate and raise children outside of a formal marriage. Shifting public attitudes, the struggling economy, and changing demographic patterns have also influenced the rise in the number of nevermarried adults. <sup>10</sup>
- 3. The number of single parents by choice is also a "booming" phenomenon, especially single mothers who have chosen to adopt or utilize donor sperm. <sup>11</sup> The rise of single motherhood is the driving and largest influence on this trend. These patterns vary by socioeconomic class. The nonmarital birthrate for college-educated parents is under 10%. By contrast, nearly 70% of children born to parents with a high-school education or less live in a single-parent household. <sup>12</sup>
- 4. Although estate planning often focuses on married couples, given the trends described above, there is understandably an increasing need to plan for single clients and focus on their distinct needs. For married couples, there is an expectation that the surviving partner will receive and manage assets if something happens to one of them. But unless there is planning, it is not clear whom a single client would choose to handle such affairs. In the absence of planning, a single person's estate will pass to children (if any), otherwise to any living parents or siblings, otherwise to more distant relatives through traditional rules of intestacy.
- 5. For single clients, it is imperative to ensure that the client has designated the appropriate beneficiaries for retirement accounts and life insurance policies. Events such as marriage or divorce, death of a named beneficiary, or birth of a child/children merit revising any such retirement plans. This applies to single clients who are divorced even when their state

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Profile America Facts for Features: Unmarried and Single Americans Week: Sept. 17-23, 2023, Census Bureau, (Sept. 17, 2023), available at https://www.census.gov/newsroom/stories/unmarried-single-americans-week.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Profile America Facts for Features: Unmarried and Single Americans Week: Sept. 18-24, 2016, Census Bureau, (Aug. 26, 2016), available at <a href="https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/newsroom/facts-for-features/2016/CB16-FF.18.pdf">https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/newsroom/facts-for-features/2016/CB16-FF.18.pdf</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Wendy Wang, *The Share of Never-Married Americans Has Reached a New High*, IFS (Sept. 9, 2020), available at <a href="https://ifstudies.org/blog/the-share-of-never-married-americans-has-reached-a-new-high">https://ifstudies.org/blog/the-share-of-never-married-americans-has-reached-a-new-high</a>.

Wendy Wang & Kim Parker, Record Share of Americans Have Never Married, as Values, Economics and Gender Patterns Change, Pew Research Center (Sept. 24, 2014), available at <a href="https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2014/09/24/record-share-of-americans-have-never-married/">https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2014/09/24/record-share-of-americans-have-never-married/</a>; Richard Fry & Kim Parker, Rising Share of U.S. Adults Are Living Without a Spouse or Partner, Pew Research Center (Oct. 5, 2021), available at <a href="https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2021/10/05/rising-share-of-u-s-adults-are-living-without-a-spouse-or-partner/">https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2021/10/05/rising-share-of-u-s-adults-are-living-without-a-spouse-or-partner/</a>. See also Ashley R. Williams, A Record-High Number of 40-Year Olds in the U.S. Have Never Been Married, Study Finds, CNN (July 1, 2023), available at <a href="https://www.cnn.com/2023/07/01/us/record-number-of-40-year-olds-never-married-trnd">https://www.cnn.com/2023/07/01/us/record-number-of-40-year-olds-never-married-trnd</a> (noting that a record number of 40 year olds (25%) in the U.S. have never been married).

<sup>11</sup> Emily Green, *Working Mother, Single Mothers by Choice a Booming Trend* (Nov. 29, 2017), previously available at <a href="https://www.workingmother.com/single-mothers-by-choice-booming-trend">https://www.workingmother.com/single-mothers-by-choice-booming-trend</a> (accessed 2019); *see also* United States Census Bureau, *National Single Parent Day* (Mar. 21, 2023), available at <a href="https://www.census.gov/newsroom/stories/single-parent-day.html">https://www.census.gov/newsroom/stories/single-parent-day.html</a> (noting that almost 25% of children under the age of 18 live with one parent and no other adults).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Matthew Stewart, *The 9.9 Percent is the New American Aristocracy*, The Atlantic (June 2018), available at <a href="https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2018/06/the-birth-of-a-new-american-aristocracy/559130/">https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2018/06/the-birth-of-a-new-american-aristocracy/559130/</a>.

has in place revocation upon divorce statutes that would remove a former spouse.<sup>13</sup> In addition, state statutes do not affect beneficiary designations under retirement accounts that are subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act ("ERISA").<sup>14</sup>

- 6. Lawyers, accountants, bank trust officers, and other advisors are equipped to handle legal and financial tasks, but sensitive medical decisions are typically best reserved for relatives or close friends. If relatives live far away, single clients may want to consider using advance medical directives to give powers to trusted friends who live nearby.
- 7. Although single clients cannot take advantage of interspousal tax-free transfers or gift-splitting, many tax planning strategies are available. Single clients can take advantage of the lifetime estate and gift tax exemption and the gift tax annual exclusion, and they can make unlimited gifts for education and medical expenses. Single persons often use the gift tax annual exclusion to benefit a significant other, children, nieces, nephews, and other relatives. The lifetime gift tax exemption can also help single clients who want to transfer assets during their lifetimes in order to exclude the appreciation on those assets from their estates at death. <sup>15</sup>
- 8. Because single client plans often have less stability in naming fiduciaries and beneficiaries, such clients—particularly those who do not have children—should consider reviewing their decisions and estate planning documents much more frequently than their married peers.

#### B. Divorce

- 1. Divorce is an inevitable aspect of the estate planner's work in planning for the modern family. Studies show that 50% of first marriages in the United States end in divorce. Those in subsequent marriages face a much higher rate of divorce—with an estimated 67% of second marriages and 73% of third marriages ending in divorce. The state of the modern family of the second marriages and 73% of third marriages ending in divorce.
- 2. Accordingly, estate planners should help clients plan for the contingency of divorce and ensure that divorced clients understand their options. Although couples in second marriages may consider a prenuptial agreement, an increasing number of couples in first marriages are doing so as well.<sup>18</sup> Such agreements can keep assets separate during the marriage and ensure waiver of any elective share rights. At divorce, the Uniform Probate Code ("UPC") provides for revocation upon divorce of any provisions in favor of the exspouse in a will or through non-probate assets beneficiary designations.<sup>19</sup> Most states have adopted this presumption that divorce revokes any bequests to a former spouse in a will

<sup>16</sup> Christy Bieber, Revealing Divorce Statistics in 2024, Forbes (Jan. 8, 2024), available at https://www.forbes.com/advisor/legal/divorce/divorce-statistics/; see also Jessica Schrader, Why Relationships Fail: Poor personal need management could explain relationship failure, Psychology Today (Oct. 30, 2022), available at <a href="https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/new-gps-intimate-relationships/202210/why-relationships-">https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/new-gps-intimate-relationships/202210/why-relationships-</a>

fail#:~:text=At%20best%2C%20the%20marriage%20or,the%20third%20round%20of%20nuptials (noting failure rate for first marriages to be roughly 48% according to the National Center for Health Statistics).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See Sveen v. Melin, 138 S. Ct. 1815 (2018) (upholding the retroactive applicability of a Minnesota revocation-upon-divorce statute to non-probate assets such as life insurance).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See U.S. Department of Labor Employee Benefits Security Administration, FAQS about Retirement Plans and ERISA, DOL, available at <a href="https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/EBSA/about-ebsa/our-activities/resource-center/faqs/retirement-plans-and-erisa-compliance.pdf">https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/EBSA/about-ebsa/our-activities/resource-center/faqs/retirement-plans-and-erisa-compliance.pdf</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See generally Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Jonnelle Marte, *Why you're more likely to have a prenup than your parents were*, Wash. Post (Aug. 4, 2017), available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/economy/why-youre-more-likely-to-have-a-prenup-than-your-parentswere/2017/08/04/51361598-77d8-11e7-9eac-d56bd5568db8\_story.html.

<sup>19</sup> UPC § 2-804.

that predates the divorce. An increasing number apply this to life insurance, retirement plans, and transfer-on-death account beneficiary designations.

- 3. Trusts are a useful planning tool, prior to divorce, for many reasons, including permitting the settlor control over assets being transferred, providing financial security for trust beneficiaries, minimizing the need for future contact between divorcing parties, and potential tax benefits to transfers in trusts from an income tax and/or transfer tax perspective. The following trusts may be particularly useful in the context of divorce: (i) Alimony Trusts; (ii) Child Support Trusts; (iii) Irrevocable Life Insurance Trusts ("ILITs"); (iv) Special Needs Trusts; and (v) Special Securities Trusts.
- 4. Keeping property for descendants in a lifetime spendthrift trust is an effective way to safeguard those assets from future creditors, including divorcing spouses.<sup>20</sup> However, practitioners must still take care to research whether their jurisdiction treats spouses as exception credits who can receive alimony even from a spendthrift trust.

#### C. Blended Families

- Also known as stepfamilies, the blended family is important for estate planners to understand, since many people form families after a previous relationship ends. In these situations, attorneys must look at all prior divorce agreements and nuptial agreements and take care to understand family dynamics that can have an impact on estate planning for a blended family.
- 2. With multiple marriages comes the opportunity for multiple sets of children and/or stepchildren, meaning there may be potential beneficiaries who face different inheritances and economic circumstances. These disparate situations can often cause discord within a family. Thus, balancing the interests among children from prior marriages and stepchildren is a critical and delicate issue that estate planners must consider when working with blended families.<sup>21</sup>
- 3. The greater the wealth disparity between spouses, the greater the likelihood there will be hostilities between the poorer spouse and children from the wealthier spouse's prior marriage. For smaller estates, estate planners may recommend using a pot trust and appointing an independent trustee to use its broad discretionary powers to equalize the economic status of the various beneficiaries. Estate planners should urge caution to avoid permitting a surviving spouse to act as trustee for trusts for children who are not also that spouse's children, having such children act as trustee for the spouse, or having one sibling act as a trustee for another. Except in rare cases, this puts the individual family member fiduciary in a fraught position. This conflict can be exacerbated when siblings who do not share both parents are put in the position of acting as trustee for each other.
- 4. Clients with children from prior marriages may seek to eventually pass most of their assets to those children, rather than to the current spouse. These circumstances may suggest the use of a trust that distributes income to the spouse for life, with the remainder to the children. It may also make sense to divide the assets immediately at death between the children from former relationships and the surviving spouse in order that the children do not need to wait until the surviving spouse's death to receive an inheritance. In particularly tense relationships, it may be desirable to name a charity as the remainder beneficiary (instead of children from a prior relationship).

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> *Id.* at ch. 3.

# D. Same-Sex Married Couples

- 1. In the relatively recent past, drafting for same-sex couples was an exercise in finding ways to treat a same-sex life partner as a fiduciary and beneficiary in light of three limitations: (i) without the many allowances that state law provides to a legal spouse (such as right of health surrogacy and to dispose of remains); (ii) without the benefit of the unlimited marital deduction for transfer tax purposes; and (iii) without the many other privileges that the federal government provides to a legal spouse. Consequently, it was essential to have powers of attorney for property and healthcare naming a client's same-sex life partner as agent, and clients were advised to have copies ready to be provided to custodians and healthcare providers. It was also essential to have testamentary documents permitting the partner to dispose of remains and to receive property at death—particularly tangible property. Additionally, it was often important to have significant life insurance in place in an irrevocable life insurance trust to offset any estate taxes that would be due when transferring assets to the surviving same-sex life partner without the benefit of the marital deduction. In some cases, same-sex partners would go through an adult adoption in order to make the partner a legal relative who could inherit and be entitled to some benefits under the law.
- 2. Some states that did not grant the right to marry instead offered civil unions as an alternative. <sup>22</sup> Civil unions were intended to provide the same legal protections as marriage in the state. For example, the Illinois statute provided: Partners joined in a civil union shall have all the same protections, benefits, and responsibilities under law, whether they derive from statute, administrative or court rule, policy, common law or any other source of civil or criminal law, as are granted to spouses in a marriage. <sup>23</sup> Note that a civil union (or the related domestic partner status) does not entitle the parties to the same protections of marriage under federal law. <sup>24</sup>
- 3. In 2015, the Supreme Court in *Obergefell v. Hodges* held that all states must allow same-sex couples to marry and must recognize same-sex marriages from other states.<sup>25</sup> The right to marry (with its accompanying advantages and disadvantages) that has long existed for traditional different-sex couples is now available to same-sex couples anywhere in the country.
- 4. Because same-sex marriage is now universally recognized in the United States, most of the prior drafting concerns have been eliminated or become irrelevant for same-sex spouses. Nonetheless, because not all countries recognize these marriages and because even in the United States, same-sex couples continue to face discrimination, estate planning advisors should be alert to specific recommendations for a same-sex couple that would be unnecessary for a different-sex couple (*e.g.*, such as carrying electronic copies of a marriage certificate and powers of attorney for each other).<sup>26</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See Illinois Religious Freedom Protection and Civil Union Act, 750 Ill. Comp. Stat. 75/1; see also Richard A. Wilson, A Guide to the New Illinois Civil Union Law, 99 ILL. B.J. 232 (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See Illinois Religious Freedom Protection and Civil Union Act, 750 Ill. Comp. Stat. 75/20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See Answers to Frequently Asked Questions for Registered Domestic Partners and Individuals in Civil Unions, IRS available at <a href="https://www.irs.gov/newsroom/answers-to-frequently-asked-questions-for-registered-domestic-partners-and-individuals-in-civil-unions">https://www.irs.gov/newsroom/answers-to-frequently-asked-questions-for-registered-domestic-partners-and-individuals-in-civil-unions</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Obergefell v. Hodges, 135 S. Ct. 2584 (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See generally, Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 6.

#### E. Multinational Couples

- 1. The modern family is increasingly multinational. According to the Pew Research Center, 13.7% of the population was not born in the United States. <sup>27</sup> Further, 21% of married-couple households in the United States (11.4 million) consist of at least one spouse who was not born in the United States. Of those 11.4 million couples, 36% (4.1 million) consist of one spouse who was born in the United States and one spouse who was not, and 64% (7.3 million) consisted of both spouses who were not born in the United States. <sup>28</sup> Thus, an increasing number of married couples have highly specific estate planning needs relating to international and non-citizen planning. Estate planners must first establish the citizenship and resident status of each spouse in order to determine what special planning might be useful. A person is domiciled in the United States if living in the United States with no intent to leave and move to another country.
- 2. Estate planners should review any existing premarital agreement and identify any jurisdiction-specific issues. The advisor should consider the citizenship of the couple, their resident status, and location of their assets to establish which jurisdiction's laws apply. Moreover, documents provided by clients may contain choice-of-law clauses, which will have a bearing on the ultimate outcome.
- 3. A U.S. citizen who is married to a non-U.S. citizen spouse who has in excess of the estate tax exemption amount should consider planning to minimize estate taxes. Chief among these options is creating a marital trust that meets the requirements for a qualified domestic trust ("QDOT"). QDOTs are an effective way for such couples to defer estate tax on assets that would otherwise pass outright to a non-U.S. citizen surviving spouse. Estate planners should make plans to use QDOTs for the benefit of surviving spouses whether the decedent spouse is a U.S. citizen or resident.
- 4. It is also important to avoid unintentionally creating foreign trusts by failing the "court test" or the "control test" (*i.e.*, having a non-U.S. person control any substantial trust decisions).<sup>29</sup>

#### F. Unmarried Couples

1. As of 2020, there were about 8.8 million unmarried-partner households in the United States. 30 The rights and responsibilities afforded to them vary greatly across jurisdictions. Some states allow nonmarital couples to establish civil unions, or domestic partnerships, and may allow parties in such a status the same state rights as married spouses. Approximately a dozen jurisdictions recognize common law marriage. If a couple satisfies all of the legal requirements to qualify as common law spouses, then they will have the same legal rights as ceremonially-married couples who have a marriage license.

2. The Internal Revenue Code ("Code") views unmarried couples as legal strangers. Donative transfers between non-spouses are taxable gifts if they exceed the annual exclusion of \$17,000. However, some couples in a nonmarital relationship can structure their financial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Abby Budiman, *Key findings about U.S. Immigrants*, Pew Research Center (Aug. 20, 2020), available at <a href="https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2020/08/20/key-findings-about-u-s-immigrants/">https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2020/08/20/key-findings-about-u-s-immigrants/</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 5 (with special thanks to Leigh-Alexandra Basha and Nicole K. Mann for their contributions to the chapter).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 5 (citing Treas. Reg. § 301.7701 and I.R.C. § 672(f)(2)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Thomas Gryn, Rose M. Kreider, Chanell Washington & Lydia Anderson, Married Couple Households Made Up Most of Family Households, Census (May 25, 2023), available at <a href="https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2023/05/family-households-still-the-majority.html">https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2023/05/family-households-still-the-majority.html</a> (figure 3).

affairs to reduce tax liability in ways that married couples cannot. For example, they can still utilize old-fashioned grantor retained income trusts.

- 3. A cohabitation agreement is a contract between two unmarried individuals. A legally enforceable cohabitation agreement covers property and finances; the couple may include other provisions not subject to legal enforcement, for example, referring to day-to-day activities such as how the household will operate.<sup>31</sup> A cohabitation agreement should address some of the most common issues, such as expenses incurred while living together and any obligations the couple wishes to undertake involving assisted reproductive technologies, children, and dispute resolution.
- 4. If partners do not want a cohabitation agreement, there are alternatives: partnership and LLC agreements, joint revocable trusts or Holdings Trusts, and tenancy in common agreements are potential arrangements to govern two unmarried persons.

### G. Polyamorous Relationships

- 1. Planning for polyamorous relationships invokes some of the issues that arise in planning for blended families and planning for unmarried couples (and sometimes also planning for nonmarital children, discussed below). While polyamorous relationships have traditionally been associated with old-fashioned plural marriage, the 21st-century version appears in alternative forms.<sup>32</sup> The most common version of traditional plural marriage in the United States occurs among fundamentalist followers of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints. The structure involves one legal spouse in addition to one or more "spiritual" spouses committing to each other for life, and usually results in children raised together in a compound arrangement. While this concept has been somewhat normalized in modern culture through television programs like Big Love or Sister Wives, these types of arrangements are presumably very rare.<sup>33</sup> Thus, while they may have become popularized on television, they remain rare issues for estate planners and are outside the bounds of this outline.
- The modern polyamorous relationship instead may arise when spouses choose to spend many years in amicable separation or to establish an open marriage, taking on other known and accepted romantic partners.<sup>34</sup> Surprisingly, this is an increasingly common phenomenon among ultra-high net worth individuals. Investment guru Warren Buffett took advantage of such an unconventional marital arrangement, remaining married to his first wife Susan until her death despite residing with his full-time partner, Astrid Menks.<sup>35</sup> Film producer Jerry Weintraub even memorialized his marital and nonmarital relationships in the final lines of his obituary, which read that he was survived by his wife of many years, Jane Morgan, from whom he was separated but never divorced, as well as his "longtime

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Morning Glory Zell-Ravenheart, A Bouquet of Lovers, 23 Green Egg Magazine 89 (1990) (where the term "polyamory" was first used).

<sup>33</sup> See e.g., Big Love, HBO 2006-2011; Sister Wives, TLC 2010-present; see also Stephanie Kramer, Polygamy is rare around the world and mostly confined to a few regions, Pew Research Center (Dec. 7, 2020), available at https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2020/12/07/polygamy-is-rare-around-the-world-and-mostly-confined-to-afew-regions/ (noting generally that polygamy is rare and that people in the "U.S. are rarely prosecuted for living with multiple romantic partners, but every state has laws against getting married while already married to someone else"). <sup>34</sup> Susan Dominus, Is an Open Marriage a Happier Marriage?, N.Y. Times Magazine (May 11, 2017), available at https://www.nytimes.com/2017/05/11/magazine/is-an-open-marriage-a-happier-marriage.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Åine Cain, *Inside billionaire Warren Buffett's unconventional marriage, which included an open arrangement and* 3-way Christmas cards, Business Insider (Nov. 16, 2018), available at http://www.businessinsider.com/warrenbuffett-marriage-wife-2017-10.

companion," Susan Ekins.<sup>36</sup> Prominent philanthropist David Rubenstein famously elected to remain separated from his wife for 12 years despite other relationships stating that "it's complicated" as the reasoning behind maintaining the marriage despite the lengthy separation.<sup>37</sup> The pair ultimately divorced in late 2017. Typically, in such arrangements, the new romantic partners become integrated into the family, raising estate planning concerns both for the existing spouse as well as the new romantic partner. This issue is being discussed by family offices and others who serve high net worth clients as advisors seek to ensure the plan adequately provides for all involved parties.

- 3. Planning for spouses, nonmarital partners, and/or children raises separate and distinct issues, so clients need to think through different options for each type of family member. No marital tax-free transfers are available for the unmarried partner, but they are available for the spouse. Thus, in taxable situations, often it will be best if the exemption from federal transfer taxes is reserved for the unmarried partner and children, and the marital deduction should be utilized for the spouse via marital trust planning for increased control. Cohabitation agreements can be used among polyamorous partners to create tax efficiencies, reallocate some benefits and anticipate responsibility for debts.
- 4. Where there are children from both marital and nonmarital relationships, it is especially important to consider the definition of descendants. For example, where an older trust document includes only "legitimately born" descendants as beneficiaries, this excludes nonmarital children.<sup>38</sup> The results under older trust documents may also impact the current generation's estate planning, as a client may want to protect descendants not provided for by an older instrument.
- 5. Depending on the openness of the relationship, it may be prudent to engage in separate planning for a nonmarital partner. Specifically, for some clients (who unlike Buffett or Weintraub prefer more discretion), it may be best to rely on an entirely separate irrevocable trust to make provisions for the nonmarital partner. One possibility is to fund the trust with some version of "permanent term" insurance. Ideally, there will be premiums of the annual exclusion gift (currently \$17,000 per year) or less, so in the event of a breakup, the insured/settlor can simply turn off the insurance payments and let the trust terminate for want of any assets. In designating the remainder beneficiary, it may be best to either include the nonmarital partner's family, or a charity, to limit the opportunity for conflict between the nonmarital partner and any surviving spouse or children from other relationships.
- 6. The client needs to determine whether the currently married spouse, the adult children, if any, or the nonmarital partner should act as agent under powers of attorney. Often, it is advantageous to nominate a neutral third party rather than the nonmarital partner.

#### H. Multiracial Families

- 1. Both interracial marriage and multiracial identity are increasingly common in the modern family.
- 2. Interracial marriage has been steadily increasing over the past almost 55 years since miscegenation laws were finally overturned in the United States.<sup>39</sup> In 1967, only 3% of all

10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Kim Masters, *When Jerry Weintraub Threatened to Break My Kneecap*, The Hollywood Reporter (July 15, 2015), available at https://www.hollywoodreporter.com/news/jerry-weintraub-threatened-break-my-808559.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Roxanne Roberts, *Billionaire David Rubenstein and his wife, Alice Rogoff, divorce*, Wash. Post (Dec. 8, 2017), available at <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/lifestyle/style/billionaire-david-rubenstein-and-his-wife-alice-rogoff-divorce/2017/12/08/ba41a5f4-dc49-11e7-b859-fb0995360725\_story.html?utm\_term=.ed15cf59b7f9.">https://www.washingtonpost.com/lifestyle/style/billionaire-david-rubenstein-and-his-wife-alice-rogoff-divorce/2017/12/08/ba41a5f4-dc49-11e7-b859-fb0995360725\_story.html?utm\_term=.ed15cf59b7f9.</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> See Leimberg, Goffe, Kamin, ch. 4 (with special thanks to Carrie Harrington for her contributions to the chapter).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Loving v. Virginia, 388 U.S. 1 (1967).

newlyweds were married to someone of a different race or ethnicity. Since then, intermarriage rates more than doubled by 1980 to 7%. By 2015 the number had more than doubled again to 17%. <sup>40</sup> The most recent statistics from 2021 suggest that now at least 19%, nearly one-fifth, of new marriages are now interracial. <sup>41</sup>

- 3. Self-identification as "biracial" or "multiracial" has also changed significantly. This trend can be attributed both to interracial marriage and coupling, interracial adoptions, and also to genetic testing that reveal an individual's DNA. The population of multiracial Americans was measured at 9 million people in the 2010 Census, and had increased to 33.8 million people in the 2020 Census. This is a 276% increase just in the past decade. Additionally, take note that in 2019, for the first time in U.S. history, more than half of the nation's population under age 16 identified as "a racial or ethnic minority."
- 4. As estate planning professionals, this has several implications. The first is to emphasize the importance of never making assumptions about a client's background or their spouse or partner's racial and cultural identification. To the extent that the client's racial or ethnic identity may be important to them, advisors should give them an opportunity to share that information during the intake and onboarding process. Some clients may want to share and others may think it isn't relevant, so be sure to inquire respectfully (as in a questionnaire) and be sure that all such questions are optional. It also underscores the importance of taking proactive steps to cultivate cultural sensitivity and competence, which includes recognizing and addressing one's implicit biases. 45

# I. Religious Diversity in Families

1. Religiosity in the U.S. has changed over the past decades. When asked about the importance of religion in their life, 53% of Americans stated it was "very important", 24% reported it was "somewhat important", 11% said "not too important", 11% said "not at all important", and 1% said "don't know." According to the Public Religion Research Institute 2022 Census of American Religion, 73.2% of Americans identify themselves with a religion; 26.8% identify as unaffiliated. Of those who identify with a religion, 67.3% of

10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Gretchen Livingston & Anna Brown, *Intermarriage in the US 50 Years after Loving v. Virginia* (May 18, 2017), available at <a href="https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2017/05/18/1-trends-and-patterns-in-intermarriage/">https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2017/05/18/1-trends-and-patterns-in-intermarriage/</a>. *See also* Justin McCarthy, *U.S. Approval of Interracial Marriage at New High of 94%* (Sept. 10, 2021), available at <a href="https://news.gallup.com/poll/354638/approval-interracial-marriage-new-high.aspx">https://news.gallup.com/poll/354638/approval-interracial-marriage-new-high.aspx</a> (citing that 94% of Americans approve of interracial marriage).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Kim Parker & Amanda Barroso, In Vice President Kamala Harris, We Can See How America Has Changed, Pew Research Center (Feb. 25, 2021), available at <a href="https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/02/25/in-vice-president-tank/">https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/02/25/in-vice-president-tank/</a> kamala-harris-we-can-see-how-america-has-changed/ ("The rise of intermarriage . . . In 2019, 11% of all married U.S. adults had a spouse who was a different race or ethnicity from them, up from 3% in 1967. Among newlyweds in 2019, roughly one-in-five (19%) were intermarried."). See also Robyn McFadden, Interracial Marriages Now More Common, But Not Without Challenges, CBS News (June 13, 2021), available https://www.cbsnews.com/news/interracial-marriages-now-more-common-but-not-without-challenges/ ("According to the Pew Research Center, at least 19 percent of new marriages in the U.S. now involve spouses from different ethnic or racial groups – up from 11% in 2000.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Sabrina Tavernise *et al.*, *Behind the Surprising Jump in Multiracial Americans*, *Several Theories*, New York Times (Aug. 13, 2021), available at <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2021/08/13/us/census-multiracial-identity.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2021/08/13/us/census-multiracial-identity.html</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Nicholas Jones *et al.*, 2020 Census Illuminates Racial and Ethnic Composition of the Country, United States Census Bureau (Aug.12, 2021), available at <a href="https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2021/08/improved-race-ethnicity-measures-reveal-united-states-population-much-more-multiracial.html">https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2021/08/improved-race-ethnicity-measures-reveal-united-states-population-much-more-multiracial.html</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> William H. Frey, *The Nation is Diversifying Even Faster than Predicted, According to New Census Data*, The Brookings Institute (July 1, 2020), available at <a href="https://www.brookings.edu/research/new-census-data-shows-the-nation-is-diversifying-even-faster-than-predicted/?amp.">https://www.brookings.edu/research/new-census-data-shows-the-nation-is-diversifying-even-faster-than-predicted/?amp.</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> *Religious Landscape Study – Importance of Religion in One's Life*, Pew Research Center (May 12, 2015), available at <a href="https://www.pewforum.org/religious-landscape-study/importance-of-religion-in-ones-life/">https://www.pewforum.org/religious-landscape-study/importance-of-religion-in-ones-life/</a>.

the U.S. population identifies themselves at Christians, including 41.3% Protestant, 23.1% Catholic, 1.5% Mormon, 0.3% Orthodox Christian and 1.1% Jehovah's Witness. Non-Christian faiths comprise 5.9%, including 1.9% Jewish, 0.6% Muslim, 0.7% Buddhist, 0.7% Hindu, 0.5% Unitarian Universalist, and 1.6% Other Faiths.<sup>47</sup>

- 2. Religion and religious preferences can impact numerous aspects of a client's estate plan, including: (a) selection of agents, guardians and fiduciaries; (b) distribution provisions; (c) philanthropic planning and charitable giving; (d) testamentary gifts among family members; (e) end of life care decisions and the definition of death; (f) arrangements at death and the disposition of remains; (g) conditioning inheritance on religious affiliation; (h) marriage and divorce; and (i) dispute resolution provisions.<sup>48</sup>
- 3. One example of how religion impacts estate planning is for those who belong to a religion that requires or encourages giving a certain percentage (*e.g.*, 10%) of one's income to charity each year. Judeo-Christian and Muslim religions each have a variation of giving 10% to charity tithing in Christianity, tzedakah in Judaism and zakāt in Islam. One study indicated that among Christians, the most generous segments were evangelicals (24% of whom tithed); people who had prayed, read the Bible and attended a church service during the past week (12%); and charismatic or Pentecostal Christians (11%). Among all born again adults, 9% contributed one-tenth or more of their income. The study also showed that Protestants were four times as likely to tithe as were Catholics (8% versus 2%, respectively).<sup>49</sup>
- 4. Another area of planning worth highlighting are the differences in burial practices among the religions. Traditionally, Catholicism requires burial, not cremation, although that has changed if certain procedures are followed. Traditionally Judaism requires burial in a pine box. Muslims are buried with their graves facing Mecca. Hindus are generally cremated with their remains scattered in a river or sea.<sup>50</sup>

#### J. Special Needs

1. Approximately one-fourth of adults in the United States are living with some type of disability.<sup>51</sup> Moreover, according to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, about one in six children in the United States had a developmental disability as measured in 2006 to 2008, with one in 59 being diagnosed on the autism spectrum. Between 1979 and 2003, the number of babies born with Down syndrome increased by about 30%.<sup>52</sup> "Each year, about 6,000 babies are born with Down syndrome, which is about 1 in every 700 babies born."<sup>53</sup> Accordingly, considering disability planning is an imperative when working with the modern family. Some important considerations when planning for these special needs

<sup>49</sup> New Study Shows Trends in Tithing and Donating, The Barna Group (Apr. 14, 2008), available at https://www.barna.com/research/new-study-shows-trends-in-tithing-and-donating/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> PRRI 2022 Census of American Religion: Religious Affiliation Updates and Trends, Public Religion Research Institute (Feb. 24, 2023), available at https://www.prri.org/spotlight/prri-2022-american-values-atlas-religious-affiliation-updates-and-trends/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Jennifer Uzell, *Factsheet: Death and Funerals in World Religions*, Religion Media Centre (Mar. 27, 2018), available at <a href="https://religionmediacentre.org.uk/factsheets/death-funeral-rituals-in-world-religions/">https://religionmediacentre.org.uk/factsheets/death-funeral-rituals-in-world-religions/</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Disability Impacts All of Us, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (last reviewed May 15, 2023), available at <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/disabilityandhealth/infographic-disability-impacts-all.html">https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/disabilityandhealth/infographic-disability-impacts-all.html</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Coleen A. Boyle *et al.*, *Trends in the Prevalence of Developmental Disabilities in US Children, 1997-2008*, Pediatrics (June 2011), available at <a href="https://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/127/6/1034">https://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/127/6/1034</a>; *see Autism Spectrum Disorder, Data & Statistics, Prevalence*, CDC, (last reviewed June 28, 2023), available at <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/autism/data.html">https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/autism/data.html</a>.; *see also Occurrence of Down syndrome in the United States*, CDC (last reviewed June 17, 2019), available at <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/birthdefects/downsyndrome/data.html">https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/birthdefects/downsyndrome/data.html</a>.

<sup>53</sup> *Id.* 

- involve the impact of the Affordable Care Act ("ACA") and Medicaid, and the potential use of third party trusts, self-settled trusts, and ABLE<sup>54</sup> accounts.
- 2. The ACA closed the gap in coverage for individuals with disabilities by loosening resource limitations for Medicaid coverage, which made it available for a larger pool of low-income families, subject to state participation in that expansion. Additionally, it prohibited private insurers from denying coverage on the basis of pre-existing conditions. The ACA has expanded access to health coverage for disabled individuals without forcing them to transfer most of their assets to either a d(4)(A) supplemental needs trust or a d(4)(C) pooled trust (both are discussed below).
- 3. Third party supplemental needs trusts are the most commonly used and flexible type of supplemental needs trust. These types of trusts must be created and funded by anyone other than the individual with the disability and is often done by parents, grandparents, or siblings through a lifetime or testamentary gift.<sup>55</sup> Third party supplemental needs trusts may be used to enhance the beneficiary's quality of life by way of providing goods and services that are not covered by government benefits. Any trust assets that remain upon the death of the beneficiary will then be distributed pursuant to the terms of the trust instrument as set forth by the trust settlor, without any Medicaid reimbursement requirement.
- 4. The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993 (as amended) permits the creation of self-settled supplemental needs trusts (aka "Pay-Back Trusts") for funds belonging to a disabled individual under the age of 65. These trusts provide a method of preserving public benefits for an individual with disabilities who has or acquires assets in their own name, such as by gift, inheritance, or lawsuit settlement. So-called "(d)(4)(A) trusts" must be for the individual's sole benefit, and any remainder at the disabled beneficiary's death must be used to pay back the government for expenditures to or for the beneficiary during life. 57
- 5. Pooled trusts under Section (d)(4)(C) provide an alternative to a privately created supplemental needs trust. Under this type of arrangement, funds for multiple beneficiaries are pooled for investment management purposes under a common trust agreement, but each beneficiary has their own separate account within the trust for their own sole benefit. They may be created by a court, parent, grandparent, or guardian of a person with disabilities, and also by the person with the disability themselves. These assets are exempt for purposes of Social Security and Medicaid eligibility during the beneficiary's life but are subject to Medicaid reimbursement upon the beneficiary's death—unless the funds were retained in trust by a nonprofit association to benefit other beneficiaries of the pool.<sup>58</sup>
- 6. Created in 2014, ABLE accounts are tax-advantaged accounts for individuals with marked and severe functional limitations beginning before age 26. They offer a greater degree of flexibility than supplemental needs trusts and pooled trusts, and they are often more cost-effective to administer. Note that many individuals with disabilities view ABLE accounts not as a replacement to supplemental needs trusts, but rather as a helpful complement. Contributions to an ABLE account must be made in cash and cannot exceed the annual gift tax exclusion amount from a single donor to a single donee. The 2017 tax act increased ABLE contributions to the lesser amount of: (i) the amount of federal poverty line for one-person households; or (ii) the individual's annual compensation. <sup>59</sup> The contribution limit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> The Stephen Beck, Jr., Achieving a Better Life Experience Act (ABLE Act) of 2014, 26 U.S.C. § 529A (2014), as amended.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 13 (with special thanks to Larry Rivkin for his contributions to the chapter).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(4)(A).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> *Id*.

was expanded for years after 2018 and before 2026. After the general limitation is reached, the designated beneficiary of the ABLE account may make additional contributions up to the lesser of: (i) their compensation includable in gross income for the tax year, or (ii) the federal poverty line for a one-person household. Additionally, individuals are allowed to roll over amounts from 529 qualified tuition plans to an ABLE account, if the ABLE account is owned by the same designated beneficiary of the 529 plan, or a member of the designated beneficiary's family.<sup>60</sup>

# K. Transgender Clients and Family Members

- 1. An estimated 2.6 million adults in the United States currently identify as transgender.<sup>61</sup> A transgender individual is a person whose assigned gender at birth does not align with their gender identity, *i.e.*, the state of their "gender identity" does not match the individual's "assigned sex." An awareness of transgender issues has led to a rise in transgender individuals coming out, most notably seen among the nation's youth. Transgender public figures like Chaz Bono, Caitlyn Jenner, and Laverne Cox have taken to mainstream media, using it as a platform to increase transgender visibility and dialogue surrounding the subject. Estate planners must be increasingly sensitive to the fact that their clients, or members of their clients' families, may be transgender.
- 2. Estate planners must be intentional not only in ensuring that their planning documents reflect the wishes, intent, and goals of transgender clients, but also that any client contemplates having descendants or other beneficiaries who could be transgender. Because these are politically charged times in which transgender clients or family members may face discrimination or challenges, advisors should be sensitive to those concerns as well.<sup>62</sup>
- 3. Advisors and attorneys must handle such delicate issues as the use of gendered references and pronouns. They must also understand that a client's preferred gender identification may change over time. Drafting with complete gender-neutrality so that gender-identifying pronouns are not necessary is often preferred. However, where a client is concerned that family members who do not recognize their transition may attempt to recharacterize their gender post-mortem, estate planners should include statements about the individual's gender identity within the estate planning documents. Where using a gender identifier in documents such as wills, trusts, powers of attorney, and pleadings, it is important to use names and pronouns consistent with how the person identifies. Assumptions regarding the client's preferences to identify as a "he" or "she" should be avoided. 63 The following are examples of specific provisions unique to transgender clients that should be included or considered when drafting estate planning documents: (i) Giving the fiduciary the right and directive to take whatever action necessary to preserve a client's self-identity post-mortem; and (ii) For transgender individual beneficiaries of a trust, consider whether psychological and medical expenses for realigning gender and physical sex are covered as permissible expenses. Estate planners can achieve this by expressly including such expenses in a definition of medical expenses, drafting the definition broadly so that these expenses would not be excluded, or adding a sentence such as: "Medical expenses shall also be construed liberally to include elective procedures."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> I.R.S. News Release IR-2018-239 (Dec. 4, 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> What percentage of the US population is transgender?, USA Facts (Aug. 3, 2023), <a href="https://usafacts.org/articles/what-percentage-of-the-us-population-is-transgender/#footnote-1">https://usafacts.org/articles/what-percentage-of-the-us-population-is-transgender/#footnote-1</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> See Carla Spivack, *The Dilemma of the Transgender Heir*, 33 QUINNIPIAC PROB. L.J. 147 (2020), where the author discusses the possibility that where one beneficiary no longer identifies with the gender at the time a document was executed may open the door for other beneficiaries to seize an opportunity to augment their share by arguing that the named beneficiary no longer exists.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 9.

- 4. Medical powers of attorney are often statutory forms, many of which do not typically address important issues particular to transgender clients. Depending on who is named as agent, estate planners may need to anticipate the possibility of challenges by family members and specifically grant visitation rights to certain individuals in any medical power of attorney. This also might include establishing which individuals do not have visitation rights and whether or not the agent has the power to control who visits. Finally, a medical power of attorney should direct whether certain medical therapies, such as hormone replacement therapy, should be continued during a period of incompetence and under what circumstances they should be discontinued.
- 5. Advising modern families mandates a working knowledge of the sensitive and unique considerations involved in working with transgender clients. There are other distinct legal issues inherent in representation of transgender clients involving everything from medical expenses, income tax considerations, marriage, and changing gender identifiers on legal documents from licenses to birth certificates.

#### L. Adoption

- 1. Adoption is another important aspect for the modern family. The Census indicated that nearly 4% of families with children under 18 include at least one child who has been adopted.<sup>64</sup> Moreover, 1 in 35 children in the United States is adopted and more than 1.2 million children live with at least one adoptive parent.<sup>65</sup> Some important issues relating to adoption include: (i) the adoption of minors, including international adoptions; (ii) adoption of stepchildren or foster children; (iii) adult adoptions, including the adoption of same-sex partners; and (iv) the treatment of adopted descendants in estate planning instruments.
- 2. While trusts for one's "descendants" historically included only one's biological descendants, that assumption generally no longer holds true. Children who are adopted may now inherit not only from their legal parents, but also from other ancestors, siblings and other collateral relatives of their adoptive parents. Correspondingly, when an adoption is granted, children who are adopted typically are cut off from their genetic parents for purposes of inheritance law. In the eyes of the law, all legal children (regardless of how they became legal children) now have the same rights for purposes of inheritance. However, the former so-called "stranger-to-the-adoption rule" continues to be relevant when working with older trust instruments in jurisdictions relying on state law interpretations of definitions that were in effect when the trust was created, rather than on current interpretations under the law. 66
- 3. In addition, when children are adopted by a grandparent or other relative, laws can differ on the shares they may inherit from family members when the result is multiple legal relationships with the same person (grandparent is also now legal parent and aunt or uncle is now also legal sibling). Some state law clarifies that they may inherit only the largest share to which they would be entitled from a relationship, but not multiple shares.
- 4. Another aspect in serving modern families with issues pertaining to adoption can include international adoptions the process of adopting from other countries and any racial, ethnic or cultural aspects of raising children from other countries and perhaps differing backgrounds from their adoptive parents. The popularity of international adoption

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> *See* Rose M. Kreider & Daphne A. Loquist, *Adopted Children and Stepchildren: 2010*, U.S. Census Bureau (Apr. 2014), available at <a href="https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2014/demo/p20-572.html">https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2014/demo/p20-572.html</a>.

<sup>65</sup> Adoptive Parent Resources: U.S. Adoption Statistics, Lifelong Adoptions (Sept. 2022), available at https://www.lifelongadoptions.com/adoption-statistics.

<sup>66</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 10.

exploded in the 1990s and early 2000s, with rates tripling from 1990 to a peak in 2004.<sup>67</sup> However, international adoption has significantly declined, dropping by almost 93% since 2004, primarily due to increased regulations and partly as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.<sup>68</sup>

- 5. A stepparent or foster-parent can adopt a minor child only where both biological parents have provided explicit consent which generally requires that one biological parent: (i) has their parental rights terminated by agreement or by a court, or (ii) is deceased. Some states and the UPC have established special intestacy rules for children adopted by the spouse of one of the genetic parents. While a stepparent can adopt a child only once the other parent's rights have been terminated, either voluntarily or involuntarily, these special rules preserve the ability of the child to inherit from the biological family. Under this exception, the child may inherit from the adopting stepparent and the stepparent's family, as well as from both genetic parents and their families. As a drafting tip, clients should be encouraged to expand limitations in the definition of descendants in their documents to include that a child may be adopted past the age of 18 until at least age 21, or better yet 25.
- 6. Many states allow adults to adopt other adults. This commonly occurs where stepparents or foster-parents may adopt a child after the child has reached 18 years old. Prior to Obergefell, same-sex couples more often used adult adoption to establish a legally recognized relationship through which they could inherit or obtain other rights from each other. While this practice is no longer necessary—and some of these adoptions have actually been undone so the parties could marry one another—some of these relationships may still exist. Courts are divided on whether they are willing to allow inheritance from a non-parent relative based on adult adoption. Under Illinois law, for example, a person adopted after reaching age 18, who never resided with the adoptive parent before attaining the age of 18 years, is not considered a descendant of the adoptive parent for purposes of inheriting from ancestors or relatives of the adoptive parent.
- 7. For both initial drafting purposes and for interpreting older documents, it is critical to understand whether a child who was adopted is included in a class term such as "children," "nieces and nephews," "grandchildren," or "descendants" in a will or trust. Older wills and trusts may include express language excluding all adoptees, or those adopted as adults. Such exclusionary language may also be implied for trusts executed in past decades under prior laws.<sup>72</sup>

#### M. Nonmarital Children

1. Under common law, children born outside of marriage generally did not inherit from either genetic parent. The law today, however, presumes that references to classes such as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> See Mireya Navarro, To Adopt, Please Press Hold, New York Times (June 5, 2008), available at https://www.nytimes.com/2008/06/05/fashion/05adopt.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> See Fact Sheets: U.S. Adoption & Foster Care Statistics, Congressional Coalition on Adoption Institute, (retrieved June 9, 2021), available at <a href="http://www.ccainstitute.org/resources/fact-sheets">http://www.ccainstitute.org/resources/fact-sheets</a>. See also Ashley Westerman, Why International Adoption Cases in the U.S. Have Plummeted, NPR (June 25, 2018), available at <a href="https://www.npr.org/2018/06/25/623114766/why-international-adoption-cases-in-the-u-s-have-plummeted">https://www.npr.org/2018/06/25/623114766/why-international-adoption-cases-in-the-u-s-have-plummeted</a>;

Katherine Wiles, *International adoptions dropped by nearly half during 2020. But COVID-19 only helped to accelerate a years-long decline.* Market Watch (Nov. 13, 2021), available at <a href="https://www.marketwatch.com/story/international-adoptions-dropped-by-nearly-half-during-2020-but-covid-19-only-helped-to-accelerate-a-years-long-decline-11636496504">https://www.marketwatch.com/story/international-adoptions-dropped-by-nearly-half-during-2020-but-covid-19-only-helped-to-accelerate-a-years-long-decline-11636496504</a> (noting that as of 2020, there were only 1,622 intercountry adoptions, which is nearly a 93% decline from the peak in 2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> See Susan Gary et al., Contemporary Trusts and Estates, ch. 2 (3d ed. 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> See Probate Act of 1975, 755 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/2-4(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 10.

"descendants" or "issue" in a will or trust instrument include nonmarital children unless a showing of contrary intent rebuts the presumption. This presumption does not apply to all existing documents and in some jurisdictions, class definitions may be determined based on the law at the time the document was written. In these jurisdictions, it is presumed that a settlor used a particular term with reference to the law that was then in effect. Further, there are many trust documents in existence today, particularly older trusts, which still define the class of beneficiaries based on their parents' marital status.<sup>73</sup> Just under 40% of children born today are nonmarital.<sup>74</sup>

- 2. Social norms have evolved over the last century with regard to the treatment of nonmarital children, and the law has generally followed suit. Historically, states effectively barred nonmarital children from inheriting, unless the parents married. State statutes instead created additional ways for the child to inherit from the father, such as presenting evidence of paternity, with some states requiring paternity to be established during lifetime and some allowing posthumous determinations. However, there remain certain circumstances in which a client may not want to include nonmarital children for inheritance purposes. Establishing definitions determining whether a parent-child relationship exists will allow clients to provide for descendants they intend to benefit, rather than relying on state law.
- 3. Establishing the mother of a nonmarital child has typically been straightforward but is becoming less so with the increased use of certain assisted reproductive technologies. Identifying paternity can be more challenging. Paternity statutes in many states now apply without regard to the sex of the parent, and they may require the following types of proof: (i) the subsequent marriage of the biological parents; (ii) the child living with the second parent for a specified period of time along with that individual holding out the child as his/her child; (iii) a court order determining parentage; or (iv) the person consenting to being named as the parent on the child's birth certificate. Some jurisdictions permit children to have more than two parents, depending on the circumstances. In some circumstances, jurisdictions will recognize the parental rights of a nonbiological de facto parent. In Maine, courts allow a de facto parent to establish parental rights if they can demonstrate the undertaking of a permanent, unequivocal, committed, and responsible parental role in the child's life, and that there were exceptional circumstances sufficient to allow the court to interfere with the legal or adoptive parent's rights. <sup>75</sup> In Delaware, courts have recognized the de facto parental rights of a nonbiological same-sex spouse to children born using assisted reproductive technologies. <sup>76</sup> In California, courts have recognized the parental rights of three parents, all sharing custody of one child.<sup>77</sup> Conversely, in New York, courts have recognized that when a biological father had established a parental relationship, through acting as a father, the father cannot use equitable estoppel to prevent the mother from declaring him the father.<sup>78</sup>
- 4. For both initial drafting purposes and for interpreting older documents, it is critical to identify, and then clarify, the status of nonmarital children. If parenthood is established,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> *See* Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 11 (with special thanks to Professor Anne-Marie Rhodes for her contributions to the chapter).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Elizabeth Wildsmith, Jennifer Manlove & Elizabeth Cook, *Dramatic increase in the proportion of births outside of marriage in the United States from 1990 to 2016*, Child Trends (Aug. 8, 2018), available at <a href="https://www.childtrends.org/publications/dramatic-increase-in-percentage-of-births-outside-marriage-among-whites-hispanics-and-women-with-higher-education-levels">https://www.childtrends.org/publications/dramatic-increase-in-percentage-of-births-outside-marriage-among-whites-hispanics-and-women-with-higher-education-levels</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> *Pitts v. Moore*, 90 A.3d 1169 (Me. 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Smith v. Smith, 893 A.2d 934 (Del. 2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> C.A. v. C.P., 29 Cal. Rptr. 3d 38 (Ct. App. 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> *Ramos v. Broderek*, 88 N.Y.S.3d 204 (App. Div. 2018).

- then they will be included in a class term such as "children," "nieces and nephews," "grandchildren," or "descendants" in a will or trust.
- 5. One recent case illustrates the complexities of planning for nonmarital descendants. Ordinarily the term "child" or "grandchild" would be interpreted to include all biological descendants, but one Appellate court recently reversed a lower court to exclude biological nonmarital grandchildren based on settlor intent. The trustees were permitted to interpret the trust to exclude them based on a subsequent declaration by the settlor (Peter Bing) stating he hadn't intended to include nonmarital descendants (*i.e.*, Elizabeth Hurley's son, Damian, and Lisa Bonder's daughter, Kira) under the factual circumstances of the case.<sup>79</sup>

### N. Assisted Reproductive Technologies

- 1. The increased use of assisted reproduction technology has confronted the modern family with unique planning issues surrounding the creation of children and preservation of genetic materials involving the creation of children. While there are many different modes of assisted reproduction, the term encompasses the general definition of conception by any means other than sexual intercourse. Estate planners refer to these modes of conceptions collectively as assisted reproductive technologies ("ART").
- 2. The widespread use of ART has raised many critical and challenging questions for estate planners, chiefly: (i) how to define parentage and descendants for legal purposes, and (ii) how to determine who can control the disposition of frozen genetic material.
- 3. ART and the evolution of family relationships have created the possibility that more than two individuals can have a parenting role. ART has thus brought about three distinct categories of "parentage": (i) biological or genetic parentage—contributing the genetic materials to the child (*i.e.*, sperm or egg); (ii) gestational parentage—carrying and bearing the child; and (iii) functional parentage—raising the child following the birth.<sup>80</sup>
- 4. Some of the most common fertility procedures include artificial insemination, in-vitro fertilization (IVF), and surrogacy. Artificial insemination involves sperm being injected into a woman's cervix or uterine cavity. It often involves the use of a couple's own genetic material, but also may use sperm from a donor. IVF refers to any procedure that involves conception outside of the human body, followed by transfer of one or more embryos into a woman's uterus. IVF can use the genetic material of both intended parents, or that of one or two third party donors, to create an embryo; the embryo can then be transferred immediately or frozen for later use. Surrogacy is an arrangement in which a woman other than the intended mother carries the child to term and gives birth to the child. In a "gestational surrogacy," the surrogate's own egg is fertilized with the intending father's sperm, such that the surrogate is the biological mother of the resulting child. Conversely, the surrogate in a "gestational carrier" arrangement has no genetic relationship with the child and carries to term an in-vitro fertilized embryo produced with the genetic material from one or both of the intended parents.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> *Ellis v. Hurley*, No. B3000799, 2020 WL 6816605 (Cal. Ct. App. Nov. 20, 2020), as modified on denial of reh'g (Dec. 21, 2020), review denied (Mar. 10, 2021) (following the suicide of Stephen Bing, the trustees of the trust established by his father were permitted to interpret the trust to exclude the settlor's nonmarital grandchildren when the settlor attested he had not meant to include them).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch.12 (with special thanks to Carole M. Bass and Cara Koss for their contributions to the chapter).

- 5. Parentage determinations are established pursuant to state law. Estate planning documents should clearly state that any child born from assisted reproduction is considered the child of the intended parent(s) rather than the genetic donors.<sup>81</sup>
- 6. In surrogacy situations, the child's intended parents will become the child's legal parents by way of adoption or through a petition to be named on the child's birth certificate. The parental rights, if any, of third parties, including the surrogate, are then terminated in connection with the adoption or petition. The type of legal procedure varies among jurisdictions. Et it is important to hire counsel with the requisite expertise in this particular area as drafting definitions that account for surrogacy situations is challenging. Counsel has the option to use the UPC approach, which includes a presumption that a birth certificate identifying an individual other than the birth mother as the parent of a child presumptively establishes a parent-child relationship between the child and that individual.
- 7. Considerations motivating the storage of genetic material include a multitude of factors, such as expense, potential infertility from disease (or risk of death), and the emotional toll of the process.
- 8. The gamete provider may designate the desired disposition of the genetic material at the time of initial storage. However, problems often arise where the contract is not entirely clear, or there is competing evidence of the donor's intent regarding the treatment of the genetic material.
- 9. The issue turns on whether the genetic material is "property" in the traditional sense, meaning it would typically be passed by will. State law is currently unsettled in this area, and decisions regarding the destruction and disposition of cryogenically preserved genetic material are not uniform. Courts have overturned orders to destroy cryogenically preserved sperm of decedents. A Conversely, courts have determined that genetic material should be destroyed based on language in a storage document that established the decedent's intent to discard the material at death. The converse of the decedent of the deced
- 10. Estate planning attorneys should determine whether clients have stored genetic material. This can be done during the intake process by way of questions regarding the client's family, background information, and assets. If so, then the estate planner should review

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> For sample language that results in the intended parents who requested the ART procedure becoming the *only* parents for purposes of the drafting instrument, *see* Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch.12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> See e.g., id. (highlighting California's popularity for surrogacy, where surrogates may be paid, the state permits the intended parents to be listed as the child's parents on the birth certificate, and the legal rights can be established in advance of the child's birth).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> 18 U.S.C. § 2707 (allowing third parties to bring civil actions for violations of the Stored Communications Act and including provisions for punitive damages in the case of willful or intentional conduct). The Stored Communications Act (SCA) was enacted as part of the Electronic Communications Privacy Act of 1986. The SCA, in part, restricts service providers who provide "electronic communications services" and "remote computing services" to the public from releasing information relating to communications maintained in electronic storage. 18 U.S.C. §§ 2701-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> See e.g., Hecht v. Super. Ct. of L.A. Cnty., 20 Cal. Rptr. 2d 275, 282 (Ct. App. 1993) (California Court of Appeals overturned the trial court's order to destroy the cryogenically preserved sperm of the decedent who had bequeathed the sperm to his girlfriend in his will, stating an unambiguous intent that the stored sperm be used by the girlfriend to have a child after his death. The court held that the sperm fell within the broad definition of "property" in California's Probate Code, citing the American Fertility Society's ethical statement that "gametes and concepti are the property of the donors . . . [who] therefore have the right to decide at their sole discretion the disposition of these items" (citation omitted)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> See e.g., In re Estate of Kievernagel, 83 Cal. Rptr 3d 311 (Ct. App. 2008) (court rejected widow's argument that she had an interest in decedent's sperm because decedent's consent forms signed at the center communicated an unambiguous intent to destroy the material on death).

- any contracts with fertility providers and storage facilities. Attorneys should consider reiterating the testator's intent with regard to the disposition of genetic material in a will.
- 11. Because of ART, children may now be born long after the death of a genetic parent through frozen gametes or even through reproductive materials retrieved after the death of an individual. Issues concerning the rights of posthumous children can result in litigation.
- 12. For children born after the death of a parent, the traditional common law approach was that a child born within 300 days of a father's death was a child of that parent. Some statutes simply permitted that an afterborn posthumous child was a descendant and could inherit. 86 Governing laws vary dramatically across jurisdictions.
- 13. The UPC has been revised to take ART into consideration and in states that have adopted the UPC, the child must have been in utero not later than 36 months after a parent's death; or born not later than 45 months after the individual's death. Only three states, Colorado, North Dakota and New Mexico, have adopted the UPC approach.<sup>87</sup> In total, 25 states have enacted statutes that explicitly address whether a posthumously conceived child is considered an heir of the deceased parent. Twenty-one of those states grant inheritance rights to these children on the basis of various requirements, such as consent from the gamete provider or timing of the birth of the child.<sup>88</sup> Four states have explicitly rejected inheritance rights for posthumously conceived children; the remaining 21 state legislatures, along with the District of Columbia, have yet to address this issue.<sup>89</sup>
- 14. Including statements concerning limitations on both consent and time in any document clarifies the ability of a posthumously conceived child to benefit—for example: (i) consent; (ii) timing; (iii) legitimacy; and (iv) notice.
- 15. Consent for a posthumously conceived child to inherit can be given at the time of gamete or embryo freezing or through a written instrument. The instrument should clearly define what constitutes evidence of consent.<sup>90</sup>
- 16. Including a time limit in which a posthumous child must be born or conceived provides certainty of property rights for other beneficiaries and avoids the potential of posthumous children frustrating estate or trust administration.
- 17. Some states, namely those that have adopted the Uniform Parentage Act of 2017, appear to only recognize the posthumously conceived children of a married couple. Consequently, a posthumously born child might not inherit if the parents were not married or if the

36

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> This was the prior rule in Illinois before it was updated to limit the timing for a posthumous child to inherit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> UPC § 2-120(k); Katie Christian, *It's Not My Fault!*" *Inequality Among Posthumously Conceived Children and Why Limiting the Degree of Benefits to Innocent Babies Is a "No-No!*, 36 MISS. C. L. REV. 194, 203-09 (2017) (describing the different approaches states take to the inheritance rights of posthumously conceived children).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Cassandra M. Ramey, Note, *Inheritance Rights of Posthumously Conceived Children: A Plan for Nevada*, 17 NEV. L.J. 773, 775 (2017) (states include Alabama, Arkansas, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Illinois, Iowa, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, New Hampshire, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Oregon, Texas, Utah, Washington, and Wyoming).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> *Id.* The four states rejecting inheritance rights include Florida, Minnesota, Ohio, and Virginia. For example, Florida provides that a "child conceived from the eggs or sperm of a person or persons who died before the transfer of their eggs, sperm, or preembryos to a woman's body shall not be eligible for a claim against the decedent's estate unless the child has been provided for by the decedent's will." Fla. Stat. Ann. § 742.17(4). Illinois formerly took this approach but modified its statute as of January 1, 2018. 755 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/2-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 12.

marriage of the child's parents ended before the child was born.<sup>91</sup> When posthumous birth is contemplated, drafters should ensure that such a child inherits by including language to that effect.

- 18. Drafters may consider adding a time period during which the person in control of the decedent's genetic material must notify the fiduciary that a child may be conceived. This ensures the fiduciary does not make premature distribution of assets that could potentially be affected by a child's birth.<sup>92</sup>
- 19. The term "descendants" should be carefully defined to be broad enough to include those whom the transferor intends to benefit. Estate planners should discuss the groups of children who currently exist or may exist in the future. If the transferor intends to include individuals who are not clearly the settlor's legal children (such as a stepchild or the legal child of a same-sex partner), such individuals should be specified by name and included in the definition of descendants to avoid future contention. The class of "children" could also include someone born to or adopted by a spouse or partner (perhaps within a time limitation). Additionally, the class of descendants should be defined to include more remote descendants. Keep in mind that anti-lapse statutes may not protect descendants of a predeceased child of a partner. Consideration should be given as to whether those individuals should still be provided for even if the relationship with the partner has ended.

## O. Longer Life Spans in Retirement

- 1. Life expectancies are generally increasing in the United States. 93 Increased access to primary medical care, advances in medical treatments, improvements in motor vehicle safety, and clean water supply and waste removal are all factors that have contributed to improvement in the mortality rate. However, with longer life spans come new challenges, including how to guarantee adequate income for a potentially longer retirement. Retirement plans are critical for estate planners to consider as they now constitute a large portion of the wealth of Americans.
- 2. In 2019, Congress passed the Setting Every Community up for Retirement Enhancement Act (SECURE Act), altering rules related to IRA retirement accounts. <sup>94</sup> Building upon this foundation, on December 29, 2022, the Secure 2.0 Act was signed into law, introducing further provisions to help more American prepare for retirement planning. <sup>95</sup>
- 3. The division of retirement assets is often a contentious issue in divorce. In general, value attributable to funds in a qualified plan or IRA before the marriage remains separate property, but contributions during the marriage, and the appreciation thereon, usually are treated as marital assets. The spouses may dispute: (i) the portion of retirement assets that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Uniform Parentage Act § 204(a)(1)(B) (2017). The Uniform Parentage Act ("UPA") has been adopted in California, Vermont, and Washington and has been introduced in Connecticut and Pennsylvania. § 204(a)(1)(B) provides: "An individual is presumed to be a parent of a child if . . . the individual and the woman who gave birth to the child were married to each other and the child is born not later than 300 days after the marriage is terminated by death, [divorce, dissolution, annulment, or declaration of invalidity, or after a decree of separation or separate maintenance], whether the marriage is or could be declared invalid[.]" (First brackets in original.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch.12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> Kenneth D. Kochanek *et al.*, National Center for Health Statistics Data Brief No. 293, *Mortality in the United States*, 2016, CDC (Dec. 2017), available at https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db293.htm (reporting decrease in life expectancy in 2015 and 2016, but experts at the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention note that these two data points are not sufficient to establish a trend of declining life expectancy).

<sup>94</sup> Pub. L. No. 116-94, 133 Stat. 2534 (2019).

<sup>95</sup> Pub. L. No. 117-328, 136 Stat. 3559 (2022) (Division T of the Consolidated Appropriations Act).

is separate or marital property; and (ii) valuation of future pension rights or unvested benefits.

- 4. A significant interest in a separate account plan or IRA often is a useful asset for satisfying one spouse's obligations to the other. The division can be accomplished tax-free, with the former spouse receiving a separate account, or rolling the proceeds over into their own IRA. The former spouse then assumes the tax obligation as funds are withdrawn.
- 5. To ensure a legally valid and tax-free division of a retirement plan or IRA upon divorce, a qualified domestic relations order ("QDRO") must be used. The Code defines a QDRO as a domestic relations order that "creates or recognizes the existence of an alternate payee's right to, or assigns to an alternate payee the right to, receive all or a portion of the benefits payable with respect to a participant under a plan" and that meets additional detailed requirements set forth in the Code and the regulations. <sup>96</sup>
- 6. The "alternate payee" is most often the spouse; however, it can be a child or other dependent. The order cannot alter the form or timing of payment of the benefits. For example, it cannot require distribution of benefits that are not yet distributable under the plan.
- 7. Note the existence of state statutes that provide for revocation upon divorce of beneficiary designations in retirement assets not covered by ERISA. 98 It is nonetheless important to check beneficiary designations upon any major change in the client's family situation.

# P. Longer Life Spans and Fading Capacity

- 1. Fading or diminished capacity is becoming more common as Americans live longer. When presented with a client who may have diminished capacity, attorneys should first determine whether the client is competent to engage the lawyer's services. When it comes to the estate planning process, the tests for testamentary capacity, contractual capacity, capacity for healthcare decisions, and donative capacity can differ.
- 2. Undue influence is a challenging legal issue when dealing with the elderly population. Circumstances implicating undue influence often involve a challenge to a will after the death of a testator. The laws vary from state to state, but the most common definitions acknowledge that this is a process that happens when the client still retains capacity. There are also medical and psychological models of undue influence.<sup>99</sup>
- 3. Beginning with the initial client meeting, attorneys can take targeted steps in managing situations implicating questions about capacity. Lawyers must take care to remember that they are the gatekeepers and must be on alert for the possibility of undue influence. It is the competent testator or donor who is subject to undue influence. Attorneys facing these situations should consult all available resources including the *ABA Handbook*, the ethical rules for the particular jurisdiction, the ACTEC Commentaries on the Model Rules, and their state statutory and case law.
- 4. Powers of attorney are the private alternative to guardianship and involve private delegation of decision making. Creating a durable power of attorney is the first step in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> I.R.C. § 414(p)(1)(A).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> I.R.C. § 414(p)(8).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> See Egelhoff v. Egelhoff ex rel. Breiner, 532 U.S. 141 (2001); see also Sveen v. Melin, 138 S. Ct. 1815 (2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> For a survey of definitions of undue influence across various jurisdictions as well as a treatment of the psychological models, *see* Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch.16 (with special thanks to Kathleen Sherby for her contributions to the chapter).

disability planning. It allows the principal to appoint an attorney-in-fact or agent to act on the principal's behalf to handle the principal's financial affairs if the principal is incapacitated.

- 5. Powers of attorney can be either: (i) springing powers, under which the agent's authority only begins upon the principal's incapacity; or (ii) durable, which are effective immediately and remain in effect. Planners should encourage the use of durable powers to avoid complicated and potentially contentious, declarations of incapacity. The agent is expected first to act in accordance with the principal's instructions or wishes and not to substitute their own judgments for that of the principal. In the event the principal's wishes are not known, the agent should act in the principal's best interest by respecting the principal's individuality and life choices, and by honoring those values in carrying out the agent's duties.
- 6. Court supervised proceedings, such as guardianships or conservatorships, are the default option for those who have not planned for potential disability. Each state has its own guardianship law, but guardianship law nationwide displays a trend towards focusing on the "person first" using person-centered language in drafting to show a commitment to the person's expressed wishes rather than on what a third party believes to be best. <sup>100</sup> Major issues in guardianship decision-making involve healthcare and residential placement decisions. Financial management issues in conservatorships of the estate and how to balance greater personal autonomy with third party financial management is another challenge. A developing issue receiving national attention, with the graying of America, is whether a guardian can consent to a divorce. <sup>101</sup>

# Q. Cryonics and Cloning

- 1. Modern estate planning professionals must also deal with clients who wish to plan for what is currently in the realm of science fiction. While still unusual, more and more clients are deciding that in lieu of burial or cremation, they prefer instead to be cryogenically frozen. Cryonics is an experimental procedure that has the goal of preserving a human body (or at least a human brain) for decades or centuries until a future time when medicine and technology can somehow restore that person to a version of life. 102
- 2. Robert Ettinger introduced the concept of cryonics to the mainstream in a 1962 book, *The Prospect of Immortality*, arguing that a person frozen at the exact moment of death could later be brought back to life. The first cryopatient was cryopreserved in 1967, and the total number of cryopatients has only grown exponentially since then. In the United States there are nearly 400 people cryogenically frozen and over 3,100 with arrangements at a facility to eventually be cryogenically frozen. In addition, approximately 200 pets have been cryopreserved. <sup>103</sup>
- 3. Perhaps the most famous case of cryonic preservation was baseball legend Ted Williams. Prior to his death, Williams executed a will saying he wished for his body to be cremated.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> In re Marriage of Gannon, 104 Wn. 2d 121, 702 P.2d 465 (1985) (holding that a special hearing is necessary to determine whether marriage dissolution is in the best interest of an incompetent spouse).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup>What Is Cryonics?, Alcor Life Extension Foundation (last visited Aug. 21, 2019), available at <a href="https://www.alcor.org/what-is-cryonics/">https://www.alcor.org/what-is-cryonics/</a>.

Statistics Details, Cryonics Institute (May 2021), Cryonics Institute Member https://www.cryonics.org/ci-landing/member-statistics/ (there are 1,780 Institute members with contracts to be cryogenically frozen, 206 current human patients, and 199 pets who have had their bodies, tissue, or DNA Membership Statistics, cryogenically frozen); **ALCOR ALCOR** (Aug. 2021), https://www.alcor.org/library/alcor-membership-statistics/ (there are 1,379 ALCOR members with contracts to be cryogenically frozen, and 184 current patients).

However, he also signed a "pact" that stated that he, his son, and his daughter would all like to be cryonically frozen. A bitter legal battle ensued. Ted's eldest child, Barbara Joyce Williams Ferrell, filed a petition demanding the return of her father's body to Florida to be cremated after the body had already been frozen in Arizona. Barbara and her husband spent much of their retirement funds on the lawsuit and eventually dropped the lawsuit after settlement. Today, Ted Williams and his son are still cryonically preserved, waiting to see if science can someday bring them back to life. 104

- 4. More recently, public figures such as PayPal founder Peter Thiel and computer scientist Ray Kurzweil have publicly disclosed that they too are prepared to be cryonically preserved. 105 The practice has become a lucrative and mystifying pursuit, with cryonics companies appearing in the form of Alcor in Arizona, the Cryonics Institute in Michigan, and KrioRus in Russia. Many view cryonics as a scam. 106 Accordingly, estate planners should remain appropriately skeptical while also being respectful of their clients' beliefs and hopes.
- 5. Most people are skeptical of cryonics because there is no evidence that it can be successful on a human. 107 However, some living creatures, including insects and some varieties of frogs, have successfully been frozen and brought back to life. 108 Proponents of cryonics argue that its ultimate success does not depend on the status of current cryopreservation technology, but rather on the potential for continued developments in the field.
- 6. For a client or loved one who is cryonically frozen, a primary planning issue is how to provide for themselves upon revival. Estate planners must determine how to assist the client in establishing an estate plan that ensures that their wishes to be cryonically preserved are honored, and that provides sufficient funds available to the settler when they are revived. Similarly, it is important to consider establishing a trust for the care of a cryonically preserved client during the period of biostasis. Increasing popularity of cryonics as an option has prompted a surge in the creation of trusts created to hold assets for a person in cryonic preservation until they are revived, often called personal revival trusts ("PRTs"). These trusts name individuals both as the settlor and as the future beneficiary. PRTs can be established in states that have repealed or significantly modified the rule against perpetuities. There are multiple trust theories pertaining to cryonics, most notably the "intermediate being" theory, which is considered the most effective in achieving the purpose of the PRT. Under this theory, a cryopreserved settlor is considered analogous to a cryopreserved pre-embryo. This theory was legitimized in a Tennessee Supreme Court case concerning a custody dispute over cryopreserved embryos, which the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Richard Sandomir, *Baseball; Williams Children Agree to Keep Their Father Frozen*, N.Y. Times (Dec. 21, 2002), available at <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2002/12/21/sports/baseball-williams-children-agree-to-keep-their-father-frozen.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2002/12/21/sports/baseball-williams-children-agree-to-keep-their-father-frozen.html</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Courtney Weaver, *Inside the weird world of cryonics*, The Financial Times (Dec. 18, 2015), available at <a href="https://www.ft.com/content/d634e198-a435-11e5-873f-68411a84f346">https://www.ft.com/content/d634e198-a435-11e5-873f-68411a84f346</a>.

Too See e.g., Michael Hendricks, *The False Science of Cryonics*, MIT Technology Review (Sept. 15. 2015), available at https://www.technologyreview.com/s/541311/the-false-science-of-cryonics/.

David Gorski, *Cold reality versus the wishful thinking of cryonics*, Science-Based Medicine (Aug. 2, 2014), available at <a href="https://sciencebasedmedicine.org/cold-reality-versus-the-wishful-thinking-of-cryonics/">https://sciencebasedmedicine.org/cold-reality-versus-the-wishful-thinking-of-cryonics/</a>. For further criticism of the science behind cryonics, *see also* Daniel Kolitz, Gizmodo, *Will Cryogenically Frozen People Ever Be Revived?* (Oct. 23, 2018), available at <a href="https://gizmodo.com/will-cryogenically-frozen-people-ever-be-revived-1829905516">https://gizmodo.com/will-cryogenically-frozen-people-ever-be-revived-1829905516</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> Cynthia Gorney, Frozen Dreams: *A Matter of Death and Life*, Wash. Post, (May 1, 1990, at D1), available at <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/archive/lifestyle/1990/05/01/frozen-dreams-a-matter-of-death-and-life/">https://www.washingtonpost.com/archive/lifestyle/1990/05/01/frozen-dreams-a-matter-of-death-and-life/</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> Eric Engelhardt, *Issues Facing Trustees of Personal Revival Trusts*, J. Personal Cyberconsciousness 1 (3), 12 (Aug. 2006), available at http://www.terasemjournals.org/pdf/Journal\_of\_PC\_Vol1\_Issue%203\_old.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Igor Levenberg, *Personal Revival Trusts: If You Can't Take It with You, Can You Come Back to Get It?*, 83 St. John's L. Rev. 1469, 1472 (2009).

- court classified as "intermediate beings." Other theories involved in the creation and consideration of PRTs include the "undead contingent beneficiary" exception.
- 7. Relatedly, the scientific process of cloning involves "human asexual reproduction, accomplished by introducing the genetic material of a human somatic cell into a fertilized or unfertilized oocyte, the nucleus of which has been or will be removed or inactivated, to produce a living organism with a human or predominantly human genetic constitution." Cloning humans concerns two distinct activities: (i) therapeutic cloning; and (ii) reproductive cloning. Reproductive cloning involves implanting an embryo into a uterus and bringing the embryo to term. Therapeutic cloning does not ever contemplate bringing the embryo to term, but rather uses the project to harvest stem cells from that embryo. While there is no federal ban on therapeutic cloning, it remains controversial; and reproductive cloning has been banned by several states. Because cloning of self is an alternative to revival of a cryogenically frozen self, a well-drafted PRT should include cloning as a permissible form of revival so that any future clone or clones could benefit from the trust assets if legally permissible in the future.
- 8. Both cryonics and cloning present many legal, moral, scientific, and ethical considerations to estate planners and their clients. It is vital for estate planners to communicate honestly and respectfully with their clients, while making sure their clients understand the underlying scientific technology, the uncertainty of success, and the potential future ethical and legal limitations.

# R. <u>Digital Assets and Cryptocurrencies</u>

- 1. In addition to new ways of thinking about the preservation of frozen genetic material, cryonics, and cloning, the modern family must contend with new types of assets that did not exist for prior generations of estate planners. A "digital asset" is defined in the Revised Uniform Fiduciary Access to Digital Assets Act ("RUFADAA")<sup>114</sup> as: "an electronic record in which an individual has a right or interest. The term does not include an underlying asset or liability unless the asset or liability is itself an electronic record."<sup>115</sup> RUFADAA also defines "electronic" as "relating to technology having electrical, digital, magnetic, wireless, optical, electromagnetic, or similar capabilities."<sup>116</sup> Many different items fit into this broad definition: personal computer files, social media accounts, financial accounts, business accounts, domain names, blogs, and loyalty benefit programs, among others. By excluding the non-digital underlying assets, the RUFADAA definition applies only to the records, not the assets that may be stored in digital form.
- 2. Access to digital assets is governed by both federal and state laws. Most states have adopted RUFADAA. Consequently, unless a client's estate planning instruments specifically

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Davis v. Davis, 842 S.W.2d 588 (Tenn. 1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> This definition is provided under state law: NDCC12.1-39-01(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Steven Goldberg, Cloning Matters: *How* Lawrence v. Texas *Protects Therapeutic Research*, 4 YALE J. HEALTH POL'Y L. & ETHICS 305 (2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> See e.g., 755 Ill. Comp. Stat. 70/1, et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> 755 Ill. Comp. Stat. 70/2(10).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> 755 Ill. Comp. Stat. 70/2(11).

<sup>117</sup> Gerry W. Beyer & Kerri G. Nipp, *Practical Planning for Digital Assets and Administration of Digital Assets by Fiduciaries*, 43 TAX MGMT. EST. GIFTS & TR. J. 3 (Jan./Feb. 2018), available at <a href="https://www.bloomberglaw.com/product/tax/document/X4EUPFQK000000">https://www.bloomberglaw.com/product/tax/document/X4EUPFQK000000</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 21 (with special thanks to Michael Rosen-Prinz for his contributions to the chapter).

confer the power to access digital assets, the power will be extremely limited and typically not include content. 119 RUFADAA establishes a three-tier hierarchy for fiduciary access: 120

- a. If the internet provider has established an online tool (such as Facebook's Legacy Contact or Google's Inactive Account Manager) for addressing issues of fiduciary access, and the user has filled out that form, then that controls the fiduciary's access to that particular asset, regardless of what the user's will, trust, or power of attorney might otherwise provide. This is analogous to a beneficiary designation. Thus, for example, Google has established an Inactive Account Manager; if the user has set that up, then the instructions in the Inactive Account Manager override any contrary provision.
- b. Where the provider has not established an online tool, or the user has not used that tool, then the user's written direction in a will, trust, power of attorney, or other record overrides a general direction in the internet service provider's terms-of-service agreement.
- c. If a user provides no specific direction under (1) or (2), then the internet service provider's terms of service will govern fiduciary access. If the terms of service do not address fiduciary access, the default rules of RUFADAA will apply.
- 3. Estate planning for digital accounts is an important part of working with a client to ensure asset management upon incapacity and transfer upon death. Under federal law, it is a crime to intentionally access without authorization and obtain, alter, or prevent authorized access to a wire or electronic communication while it is in electronic storage. <sup>121</sup> Without the proper authority, it would be a crime for a fiduciary to access the digital assets. Thus, preparing a plan for a client's digital assets is critical. Possible steps include: (i) identifying the digital assets; (ii) deciding what the client wants to do with them; (iii) naming a digital fiduciary and granting the fiduciary the necessary powers to access digital assets; and (iv) preparing instructions to accomplish the decedent's intent regarding digital assets. <sup>122</sup>
- 4. Explaining the importance of planning and the consequences of failing to plan for digital assets will help clients understand which accounts and assets can and should be shared with family members or other individuals and who will act as a fiduciary over the assets. It is important to ascertain exactly and entirely what digital assets the client owns. Clients may be initially reluctant to disclose some digital assets that are sensitive. However, failing to account for these in planning may result in access to them being given to an unintended (or unwanted) party. Planners can encourage disclosure through a conversation or a written questionnaire.
- 5. A digital fiduciary can be given the right to access and manage digital assets and accounts on behalf of the decedent to the full extent of state and federal law. Choosing a digital fiduciary should be done with the same care as choosing a trustee or executor. Desirable qualities include a familiarity with modern technology, discretion, and the ability to seek outside help in situations that require additional technical skills. The will, trust, or other document appointing the fiduciary should grant the specific authority to access and inspect any online accounts, hard drives, or other electronic devices that store digital information. Under RUFADAA, unless the user consents to disclosure of electronic communications to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> See Legislative Fact Sheet—Fiduciary Access to Digital Assets Act, Uniform Law Commission (2015), available at (as of May 2018, RUFADAA has been enacted in 40 states, as well as the U.S. Virgin Islands. Inductions in 2018 count six new states including the District of Columbia).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> See Naomi Cahn, The Digital Afterlife Is a Mess, Slate (Nov. 29, 2017), available at <a href="http://www.slate.com/articles/technology/future\_tense/2017/11/the\_digital\_afterlife\_is\_a\_mess.html">http://www.slate.com/articles/technology/future\_tense/2017/11/the\_digital\_afterlife\_is\_a\_mess.html</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> See SCA, 18 U.S.C. § 2701(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 21.

- a fiduciary through the use of an online tool or in estate planning documents, the fiduciary may find it impossible to access those assets.
- 6. Because clients may have privacy concerns, it is incumbent to help them consider certain issues such as whether they want their fiduciaries (*e.g.*, parents, spouses, or children) to have full access to their digital lives or if they want accounts destroyed. Do they want their likenesses to continue to exist on social media for future generations? Are they concerned about active Facebook accounts after their deaths? These are some of the many questions estate planners need to anticipate when working with clients concerning the maintenance and disposition of their digital assets. Instructions to a digital fiduciary should indicate the decedent's intent regarding each digital asset or class of assets along with the means to carry out that intent. If the client has used an online tool, then the client should ensure the fiduciary is aware of the tool and has been granted access through it. Google has a process for accessing mail accounts upon a user's death<sup>123</sup> and, in addition to its Legacy process, Facebook has allowed access to deceased users' accounts through a special form.<sup>124</sup> Of course, the Facebook and Google tools apply only to those products.
- 7. The estate planner can discuss the utility of a password manager, which can be regularly updated. In addition, a comprehensive list of digital assets should include cryptocurrencies, which are a technology that can be used to transfer money, record data, and invest. They do not exist in any physical form, and are considered digital assets, but are not controlled by a centralized bank or government. Rather, they are generally recorded on blockchain, a decentralized, public ledger. Popular forms of this currency include Bitcoin and Ethereum. Regulators struggle with the decentralized structure of cryptocurrency. Gains from virtual currency investments are subject to the capital gains tax, according to the IRS. Regulators warn that cryptocurrencies are hotspots for theft and fraud, so planning for them is important.
- 8. The estate planner should ensure that the client is aware of the online digital tools and plans accordingly. If the client has not used an online tool, then the client can set out plans for digital assets in a will, trust, or other planning document.

#### S. Intellectual Property

1. When working with modern families, it is also important to determine whether the clients have any intellectual property that should be taken into consideration. Intellectual property—copyright, trademarks, patents, and trade secrets—continues to present unique challenges for practitioners in estate planning. Intellectual property constitutes an intangible asset that can potentially generate significant amounts of income for generations if structured and disposed of properly. Planners must consider not only income, gift tax,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Submit a request regarding a deceased user's account, Google Account Help (last visited Aug. 22, 2019), available at <a href="https://support.google.com/accounts/contact/deceased?hl=en&rd=1">https://support.google.com/accounts/contact/deceased?hl=en&rd=1</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> Donna Leinwand Leger, *New Facebook policy allows social media immortality*, USA Today (Feb. 12, 2015), available at <a href="http://www.usatoday.com/story/tech/2015/02/12/facebook-policy-change-allows-one-final-post-after-death/23184757/">http://www.usatoday.com/story/tech/2015/02/12/facebook-policy-change-allows-one-final-post-after-death/23184757/</a>; see also Special Request for Medically Incapacitated or Deceased Person's Account, Facebook Help Center (last visited Aug. 22, 2019), available at <a href="https://www.facebook.com/help/contact/228813257197480">https://www.facebook.com/help/contact/228813257197480</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> Scott D. Hughes, Cryptocurrency Regulations and Enforcement in the U.S., 45 W. St. U. L. Rev. 1 (2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> IRS Notice 2014-21, IRB 2014-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> See e.g., Ted Knutson, *Cryptocurrency Fraud Widespread, Warns Regulator*, Forbes (Apr. 10, 2018), available at <a href="https://www.forbes.com/sites/tedknutson/2018/04/10/cryptocurrency-fraud-widespread-warns-regulator/#79a5b2376b06">https://www.forbes.com/sites/tedknutson/2018/04/10/cryptocurrency-fraud-widespread-warns-regulator/#79a5b2376b06</a>.

- and estate tax rules, but also intellectual property laws that present different issues from other categories of assets. 128
- 2. The Copyright Act protects original literary works; music, including lyrics; dramatic works; choreography, including pantomime; pictures; graphics; sculptures; movies and other audiovisual works; sound recordings; and architecture. 129 In situations where a creator has a new copyright and its value has not yet been established, planners can encourage the creator to sell the copyright to a trust for the benefit of the creator's children or grandchildren, which should result in a tax imposed at capital gains rates. 130

#### T. Pets

- 1. Humans and charitable institutions are no longer the sole beneficiaries for whom clients wish to provide when disposing of their assets at death. There has been a surge in planning for pets where high net worth or high-profile individuals die with provisions in their wills or trusts for the benefit of their animals. <sup>131</sup> The development of "pet trusts" can be attributed both to the intense emotional bond between owners and their animals, and also to changing social values whereby animals are considered not just companions, but "fur babies." <sup>132</sup>
- 2. Pet trusts are a type of noncharitable purpose trust that allows an individual owner to designate a specific amount of money for the future care of a pet in the event of the owner's death or incapacitation. 133 While its purpose does not serve the public, it simultaneously does not violate any public policy, thereby neither helping nor hurting society. There are two forms of pet trusts: common law and statutory. For a comprehensive collection of animal statutes organized by state, see Texas Tech Professor Gerry W. Beyer's website. 134
- 3. In 1990, Section 2-907 of the UPC was amended to provide statutory recognition of honorary trusts for pets and domestic animals. It required the trust to end either 21 years after its creation, or when no living animal was covered by the trust, whichever came first. The original 21-year limit was later put into brackets, indicating that an enacting state may select a different figure and create a specific exemption to the rule against perpetuities to perhaps create an enforceable trust for the duration of the pet's lifetime and any

<sup>129</sup> 17 U.S.C. §§ 102-03.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> See generally, Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 20 (with special thanks to Michael Rosen-Prinz for his contributions to the chapter).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> William M. Weintraub & Burton A. Mitchell, Estate and Gift Tax Planning for Copyright Owners, Los Angeles available (May 2002) at https://www.jmbm.com/docs/estate and gift tax planning for copyright owners.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> See e.g., Stephanie Strom, Helmsley Left Dogs Billions in Her Will, N.Y. Times (July 2, 2008), available at https://www.nytimes.com/2008/07/02/us/02gift.html (hotelier Leona Helmsley left \$12 million in her will to her white Maltese, Trouble).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 22; see also Vasiliki Agorianitis, Being Daphne's Mom: An Argument for Valuing Companion Animals as Companions, 39 J. MARSHALL L. REV. 1453 (2006); Mat Jobe, Fur Babies: How Dogs Really Are Like Children, Terribly Terrier (July 10, 2013), available at https://terriblyterrier.com/fur-babiesdogs-as-children/; Anjana Shekar, Fur babies over human ones? Meet millennials who choose to raise pets instead of kids, The News Minute (Mar. 13, 2018), available at https://www.thenewsminute.com/article/fur-babies-over-humanones-meet-millennials-who-choose-raise-pets-instead-kids-77914.

<sup>133</sup> Breahn Vokolek, America Gets What It Wants: Pet Trusts and a Future for Its Companion Animals, 76 UMKC L. REV. 1109, 1121 (2008).

The Website of Gerry W. Beyer (last visited Aug. 22. 2019), available at http://www.professorbeyer.com/Articles/Animal Statutes.html.

- offspring.<sup>135</sup> The amendments to Section 2-907 prompted similar amendments to the Uniform Trust Code ("UTC") in 2000.
- 4. The UTC was amended in 2000 to make honorary trusts for pets and domestic animals enforceable. The main difference between the UTC and the UPC is that the UPC recognizes honorary trusts but does not deem them valid or enforceable per se. Several states have enacted the UPC, UTC, or a variation of the two. 137
- 5. Often, pet trusts will designate a trustee to manage the money and a caretaker to provide for the daily care of the pet. The pet owner generally names a remainder beneficiary to receive the residual property when the pet passes away or the trust terminates. When drafting the terms of the trust, the settlor should expressly provide for "expenditures for food, shelter, veterinary care, medication, boarding or pet-sitting, and costs for the disposition of the pet's remains." Additionally, any preferences or instructions for the disposal of the pet's remains upon death or directions for euthanizing the pet should be explicit.
- 6. The funding for a pet trust is a taxable event. Any amount gifted to a pet trust will be included in the gross taxable estate. <sup>139</sup> Income tax is also a concern, because the IRS does not recognize pets as beneficiaries. There are two Revenue Rulings that are directly on point in regard to pet trusts and their tax implications. Revenue Ruling 78-105 requires that no portion of the amount passing to a valid trust for the lifetime benefit of a pet qualifies for the charitable estate tax deduction, even if the remainder beneficiary is a qualifying charity. <sup>140</sup> Revenue Ruling 76-486 holds that an enforceable pet trust established under a state statute would be taxed on all of its income, regardless of any distributions made for the benefit of the pet beneficiary. <sup>141</sup>
- 7. State legislatures are increasingly enacting Section 2-907 of the UPC or a functional equivalent that authorizes pet owners to create enforceable, long-term care trusts for the benefit of their companion animals.<sup>142</sup>

# U. Modern Philanthropy

1. There is a long-established history of personal philanthropy in the United States. Individual giving and bequests from family foundations contributed to a new high of total charitable donations, in the amount of \$390.05 billion in 2016. The classic structures for family philanthropy include private foundations, contributions to other organizations, charitable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> UPC § 2-907(c)(2); Jennifer R. Taylor, *A "Pet" Project for State Legislatures: The Movement Toward Enforceable Pet Trusts in the Twenty-First Century*, 13 QUINNIPIAC PROB. L.J. 419, 438 (1999).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> Emily Gardner, An Ode to Roxy Russell: A Look at Hawaii's New Pet Trust Law, 11 HAW. B.J. 30, 31 (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> In 2005, the Hawaii State Legislature passed H.B. 1453 by unanimous vote to validate trusts for domestic and pet animals extending beyond the death of the transferor. The law provides "a trust for the care of one or more designated domestic or pet animals shall be valid," and "terminates when no living animal is covered by the trust."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> Bambi Glenn, Estate Planning for Your Pets, 40 MD. B.J. 23, 27 (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Darin I. Zenov & Barbara Ruiz-Gonzalez, *Trusts for Pets*, 79 FLA. B.J. 22, 25 (2005).

<sup>140</sup> Rev. Rul. 78-105, 1978-1 C.B. 295.

<sup>141</sup> Rev. Rul. 76-486, 1976-2 C.B. 192.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> Gerry W. Beyer, *Pet Animals: What Happens When Their Humans Die?*, 40 SANTA CLARA L. REV. 617, 676 (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> Giving USA 2017: Total Charitable Donations Rise to New High of \$390.05 Billion, Giving USA Foundation (June 12, 2017), available at <a href="https://givingusa.org/giving-usa-2017-total-charitable-donations-rise-to-new-high-of-390-05-billion/">https://givingusa.org/giving-usa-2017-total-charitable-donations-rise-to-new-high-of-390-05-billion/</a> (Giving USA is the longest-running and most comprehensive report of its kind in America, researched and written by the Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy).

remainder trusts, and charitable lead trusts, all of which are explored in greater depth below.

- 2. Private foundations are appealing to donors because they present a more permanent option for a donor to carry out charitable intentions. Like public charities, they are tax-exempt entities, but due to their private nature, they are subject to more restrictive rules concerning taxpayer deductions. Estate planners should counsel clients about the potential for abuse if: (i) the founder engages in self-dealing, or (ii) the foundation fails to distribute assets in furtherance of active charitable purposes. <sup>144</sup> If self-dealing occurs, the tax code imposes a 10% excise tax on the self-dealer and a 5% excise tax on the foundation manager. These figures can rise to 200% and 50% respectively, upon the self-dealer and the foundation manager if gone unchecked and uncorrected. <sup>145</sup>
- 3. Although there are heavy burdens imposed on the founder and the founder's family when operating a private foundation, these are balanced against the benefits of this method of giving. The donor maintains significant control over where the charitable contributions are distributed, and the founder can appoint (i) the initial board of directors if the foundation is a corporation; or (ii) the initial trustees if the private foundation is a trust. This is a useful charitable giving vehicle for donors who have a clear philanthropic goal in mind and want to be able to personally execute their specific charitable giving intentions. Private foundations, however, are not the ideal charitable giving mechanism for all taxpayers; for example, such foundations need significant resources that will generate income beyond what is needed to pay legal and accounting fees to remain in operation.
- 4. Charitable remainder trusts are a type of tax-exempt trust that is subject to some, but not all, of the private foundation excise taxes on self-dealing and taxable expenditures. Distributions from charitable remainder trusts are taxed under a special rule known as the "four-tier" rule, which aims to have as much of the distribution as possible to be taxable as ordinary income or as a capital gain before the income beneficiary receives anything that is tax-exempt. 146 Charitable remainder trusts may be structured as either charitable remainder annuity trusts or unitrusts. An annuity trust pays the noncharitable beneficiary a fixed-dollar amount that is specified in the trust agreement, while a unitrust pays a fixed percentage of the value of the trust property. The payouts from an annuity do not vary year to year, although distributions of a unitrust can fluctuate based on the increase or decrease in value of the trust. 147 Estate planners generally recommend a unitrust for younger individuals due to its ability to hedge against inflation, and its overall flexibility. 148 Conversely, older individuals might prefer the annuity trust because payments are not subject to short-term risks of assets that might fluctuate in value or changes in interest rates. In order to constitute a charitable remainder trust, the amount or percentage distributed to income beneficiaries each year must not be less than 5% of the value of the property in the trust. The trustee does not have the discretion to pay the income beneficiary more or less than what is in the trust agreement. Payments may be made over concurrent or successive lives to income beneficiaries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> Michael J. Hussey, *Avoiding Misuse of Donor Advised Funds*, 58 CLEV. St. L. Rev. 59, 79 (2010) (citing Comm. on Ways & Means, Tax Reform Act of 1969, H.R. Rep. No. 91-413, at 20-21 (1969)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> I.R.C. § 4941(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> I.R.C. § 664(b); Christopher R. Hoyt, *Transfers from Retirement Plans to Charities and Charitable Remainder Trusts: Laws*, Issues and Opportunities, 13 VA. TAX REV. 641, 681 (1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> See Leimberg, Kamin & Goffe, ch. 23 (with special thanks to Stephanie Casteel for her contributions to the chapter). <sup>148</sup> See generally Elise Lin, Ron Shoemaker & Debra Kawecki, *F. Trust Primer* (2001), available at <a href="https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-tege/eotopicf01.pdf">https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-tege/eotopicf01.pdf</a>.

- 5. A charitable lead trust is an irrevocable trust structured to provide financial support to one or more charities for a set term. At the conclusion of the trust term, the remainder is distributed to noncharitable beneficiaries, such as family members.
- 6. Donor advised funds have become the cornerstone of modern philanthropy and have surged in popularity in recent years.<sup>149</sup> The largest commercial donor advised fund is the Fidelity Gift fund, which in 2020 made a record 1.5 million donor recommended grants, totaling \$7.3 billion.<sup>150</sup> These funds resemble a version of the typical private foundation and afford donors a measure of control and involvement without being under the donor's explicit control.<sup>151</sup>
- 7. The Pension Protection Act of 2006 provided the first statutory definition of a donor advised fund as a "fund or account (i) which is separately identified by reference to contributions of a donor or donors, (ii) which is owned and controlled by a sponsoring organization, and (iii) with respect to which a donor (or any person appointed or designated by such donor) has, or reasonably expects to have, advisory privileges with respect to the distribution or investment of amounts held in such fund or account by reason of the donor's status as a donor."

  152
- 8. There are many advantages of a donor advised fund. They are easier to create than a charitable trust or a private foundation; moreover, donors do not need to select the recipient charity at the year's end but can elect to defer that decision while still receiving the tax benefits in the year of the contribution despite having delayed the decision on recipients.

The above discussion thus far has provided an overview of many of the estate planning concerns for modern families. Estate planning professionals can do a better job in accommodating a wider array of clients by keeping in mind this diversity of issues. To help identify your client's unique circumstances and needs, it is helpful to develop an extensive client questionnaire covering issues common to modern families. Because the shape and constitution of families and their needs will continue to evolve, the other focus in planning must be to preserve flexibility as is discussed below.

# III. Drafting with Flexibility for All Modern Families.

#### A. General Approach

- 1. In our ever-changing world, where social norms, the composition and structure of families, medical and technological advances, and corresponding tax laws and trust rules are continually evolving, most estate planners acknowledge that drafting to preserve flexibility for future changes is increasingly important.
- 2. While historically, trustees in the United States primarily have sought merely to follow the terms of the governing instrument, which presumably reflects the presumed intent of a trust's settlor, under the UTC and evolving modern trust law, there is a trend towards focusing on the best interests of the living beneficiaries of an irrevocable trust over the dead hand of a deceased testator or settlor. <sup>153</sup> There has been an increased relaxation of the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> See generally The 2022 DAF Report, National Philanthropic Trust, <a href="https://www.nptrust.org/reports/daf-report/">https://www.nptrust.org/reports/daf-report/</a> (accessed Sept. 1, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Fidelity Charitable, 2020 Giving Report (2020), available at <a href="https://www.fidelitycharitable.org/content/dam/fc-public/docs/insights/2020-giving-report.pdf">https://www.fidelitycharitable.org/content/dam/fc-public/docs/insights/2020-giving-report.pdf</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> Darryll K. Jones, Regulating Donor Advised Funds, 75 FLA. B.J. 38, 40 (2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> I.R.C. § 4966(d)(2)(A).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> UTC § 404 ("A trust and its terms must be for the benefit of its beneficiaries."). For more on the benefit of the beneficiary rule, *see* Lee-ford Tritt, *The History, Impact, and Future of the Benefit-of-the-Beneficiary Rule, Parts I & II*, Est. Tax & Pers. Fin. Plan Update (Dec. 2014/Jan. 2015). Note that the Illinois Trust Code legislation excludes this

traditional Claflin doctrine by refusing to view spendthrift language and other boilerplate as a "material purpose" of a trust, and a growing recognition that every clause of a trust need not be sacred as the manifestation of a settlor's original intent, particularly since a settlor's wishes often change over time.

3. In many cases, maximizing flexibility means allowing for change in the trust instrument to accommodate the beneficiaries' best interests in the future. The UTC sets out standards for modification to supplement any lack of flexibility in the trust instrument. Many state statutes also now provide for multiple ways to modify existing irrevocable trusts. Accordingly, clients and their estate planning advisors have numerous options to consider in drafting for flexibility and for modifying irrevocable trusts. Some of the most common tools are described below.

### B. Distribution Standards and Related Powers

- 1. Utilizing broad distribution standards maximizes flexibility. Enabling an independent trustee to make distributions for a beneficiary's best interests, or just stating that distributions can be made in the trustee's sole and absolute discretion, will be most desirable when the goal is to maximize flexibility in making distributions.
- 2. Individual trustees who have discretionary powers to distribute trust property to themselves not subject to an ascertainable standard will be deemed to possess a general power of appointment. Rather than risk estate inclusion for a trustee who is a beneficiary or a related or subordinate party with such broad powers, the trust should carve back the distribution standards for trustees who are beneficiaries or related and subordinate parties, and instead such discretionary distribution authority should be subject to ascertainable standards like health, education, maintenance and support. Sample language is included in the Addendum.
- 3. For flexibility, the trust should also include a "facility of payment" clause that permits distributions to be made directly to a beneficiary or to third parties for the beneficiary.
- 4. Additionally, the trust can permit loans to be made to the beneficiary with or without interest for situations in which loaning the funds may be more desirable than making a distribution—such as where a trust is GST-exempt and the funds are needed by a second generation beneficiary, or where the funds are being used to purchase an asset like a home that may also be used and perhaps partially owned by a beneficiary's spouse.
- 5. Finally, to increase flexibility for a primary beneficiary, the trust may include a so-called "5&5 withdrawal power," permitting the primary beneficiary each year to withdraw up to the greater of \$5,000 or 5% of the trust value.

### C. Trustee Succession Plan

1. Many clients would be comfortable permitting their children to inherit their share of assets outright, if not for the tax and asset protection benefits that trust planning offers. Accordingly, the most flexible trustee planning will name each generation of descendants to be trustee of their own trusts, as long as such descendant is not incapacitated. Many clients may feel, however, that an adult beneficiary who is merely 18 or 21 years old may be too young to serve as sole trustee of a trust. Therefore, it is common to require that the beneficiary can begin to serve as co-trustee with another trustee at a particular age (e.g.,

language, which has been criticized by some. *See e.g.*, Daniel P. Felix, *New Illinois Law Guarantees Your Trust a Flat Tire*, (Oct. 18, 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> See Susan Gary et al., Contemporary Trusts and Estates, ch. 10 (3d ed. 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> I.R.C. §§ 2041(b)(1)(A), 2514(c)(1).

- 25) and then can act as sole trustee at an older age (e.g., 30). Depending on the amount of wealth and the clients' faith in their own children, the age of sole trusteeship may be even older. But for clients who seek to raise responsible and financially competent children, the goal can be to instill independence at whatever age they expect their children may be assuming other trappings of adulthood, such as marrying, buying a house and having children.
- 2. In addition to permitting descendants to serve as trustees, if the goal is to build in flexibility, the trust will also permit an adult primary beneficiary who has reached a certain age to alter the default trustee succession that is in the instrument. This would include the ability to appoint successor or co-trustees, to remove an acting trustee or co-trustee, and to designate a trustee succession plan, including imposing additional limitations (such as education or experience) on who may qualify for the position of successor trustee. To avoid the risk of estate inclusion, a beneficiary of the trust should not be empowered both to remove an acting trustee and to appoint a related or subordinate party as a successor trustee. <sup>156</sup>

### D. Divided Trusteeships and Directed Trusts

- 1. Traditionally, all the functions of a trustee were handled by the same trustee or trustees. This meant that the same person or entity was responsible for trust administration, investments and distributions.
- 2. In recent years, however, there has been a growing recognition that a single trustee performing all functions may not always be ideal. A single trustee may not be able to accommodate all of the needs of the trust. In certain situations, such as where the assets or family dynamics are complex, a more modern "multi-participant trust" governance structure may be warranted. States have recognized the benefit of having several specialists perform distinct trustee functions, and in order to attract trust business to their state, have been enacting "directed trust" statutes to facilitate this trend. These statutes define the participants' roles and attempt to clearly delineate, with varying success, the duties and liabilities associated with each participant. Although the concept of a directed trust is not new, states have only recently begun enacting the statutory framework for the powers of directed trustees.
- 3. A directed trust is one in which the trust instrument provides that a co-trustee or third party will direct the trustee as to one or more of the trustee's responsibilities. The third party has the power to direct the trustee with regard to the matter under the third party's control, and usually the trustee has no discretion over that particular area of administration. This arrangement is quite different from a delegated trust—*i.e.*, one in which the trustee contracts with a third party to perform certain fiduciary acts on behalf of the trustee. In the latter arrangement, the third party acts as an agent of the trustee, subject to the terms of the contractual relationship. In the directed trust, however, the third party has specified control over the trustee.
- 4. States with a directed trust statute allow the trustee to avoid liability for the actions or inactions of a third party that is granted the power to direct the trustee in the trust instrument. Courts are reluctant to impose liability upon a trustee when the trust instrument and directed trust statute state that the trustee shall act as directed by the third party. Without the statute, trustees should be cautious in following the direction of a third party,

33

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> Rev. Rul. 95-58, 1995-2 C.B. 191. *Contra Estate of Vak v. Comm'r*, 973 F.2d 1409 (8th Cir. 1992); *Estate of Wall v. Comm'r*, 101 T.C. 300 (1993) (rejecting IRS limitation against appointing related or subordinate parties as successor trustees).

even if the trust instrument grants that power, for fear of future claims brought by the beneficiaries. <sup>157</sup>

- 5. The following are common examples of when clients might want to consider naming a directed trustee: (i) the trust owns an interest in a family business; (ii) the trust owns a concentrated position in a company; (iii) the settlor wants to direct investments as investment direction advisor; (iv) the settlor wants the trust to be able to invest in certain so-called "alternative investments," such as private equity or hedge funds; (v) the settlor decides that a group of individuals is better equipped than the named trustee at making investment decisions with respect to a family business, a concentrated position, or alternative investments as an "Investment Committee"; or (vi) the settlor would rather have someone who knows the beneficiary as well as the settlor and who can consider the personal circumstances when making distribution decisions and name that individual as "Distribution Advisor" or multiple individuals as a "Distribution Committee."
- 6. Some of the advantages of naming a directed trustee include that it: (i) allows for specialized expertise in an asset class; (ii) ensures the family's views and goals are incorporated in the decision making regarding the trust assets; (iii) may reduce the total cost of trust services as an institutional trustee is likely to charge less for acting in a directed capacity; (iv) increases flexibility with respect to the management of trust assets; and (v) can help manage trustee liability (depending on state law).
- 7. Some of the disadvantages of naming a directed trustee may include: (i) an additional layer of administrative complexity; (ii) the difficulty of determining the appropriate flexibility; (iii) possible additional expenses; (iv) lack of clarity as to how much protection the directing party may obtain through exculpatory clauses; and (v) the lack of case law and direction provided by the courts. In addition, it may be challenging to bifurcate a trustee's fiduciary duty without affecting the remaining fiduciary duties of the trustee. If the trustee no longer has a duty to invest, this can create some uncertainty as to how this impacts the duty to account to beneficiaries and the protection the directed party receives under such an arrangement. There can also be a lack of clarity regarding who is functioning as managing trustee to coordinate between different fiduciaries with different focuses and priorities. For example, what happens if the administrative trustee needs cash to pay taxes or administrative fees, but the investment trustee is unwilling or unable to liquidate, and/or the distribution trustees plan to distribute?
- 8. When drafting for a directed trust with divided trusteeship, there are a number of things to keep in mind, and flexibility is crucial. The instrument doesn't need to set forth a divided trusteeship initially, but can merely permit that different roles can be appointed later. The instrument can permit Special Trustees to be named who assume authority for particular specialty assets, and the instrument can also permit an "Investment Director" or "Investment Direction Advisor" who directs any other trustees with regard to investments

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> See Rollins v. Branch Banking & Tr. Co. of Va., 56 Va. Cir. 147 (2001) (Where the trust instrument gave the power to make investment decisions to the beneficiaries of the trust and stated the trustee could not be responsible for losses resulting from the retention of an investment. The court ruled in favor of the corporate trustee and cited the trust instrument and the state's directed trust statute in ruling that "[t]he beneficiaries, alone, had the power to make investment decisions" and that "the court cannot hold a trustee, or anyone else, liable for decisions that it did not and could not have made." However, the court refused to excuse the trustee from all fiduciary duties in the case and stated that the trustee cannot rid itself of its "duty to warn." In refusing to grant the trustee demurrer in the case, the court stated that a trustee has a duty to keep beneficiaries informed about the conditions of the trust and as to any subject matter or facts that a beneficiary may need to know to protect his/her interests. Rollins was settled out of court after the court refused to grant demurrer but prior to final determination of the merits of the case.).

- more broadly. Similarly, a "Distribution Trustee" or "Distribution Advisor" can be named initially or just contemplated in the instrument.
- 9. Even if there is an initial directed trustee and directing party, drafters should include provisions for later combining all trustee functions into one (non-directed) trustee in case that is desirable in the future. Drafters should also always provide for the appointment, removal, and succession of directing parties. Furthermore, drafters should make it explicit that the directed trustee has no ability to remove or appoint the directing party. For example, in Illinois, if the directed trustee appoints a directing party or successor to a directing party, then the directed trustee will assume the same fiduciary and other duties and standards that applied to such directing party.<sup>158</sup>
- 10. Drafters should address how the directed trustee will share information with the directing party and vice versa. In addition, drafters should include provisions for sharing information with other participants, including anything that could or should be communicated to a beneficiary.
- 11. Flexibility is particularly essential when drafting state governing law clauses in trusts. It is best to provide maximum flexibility for changing applicable state law for the trust in the future. The governing law clause in a trust should designate the initial state governing law for trust administration, construction and validity issues. It should also include language that allows substitution of another state's laws during the trust term. Typically, the trustee or beneficiary can be given the power to change state governing law. The trust agreement can designate a different state's law to apply to different trust issues. <sup>159</sup>

### E. Powers of Appointment

- 1. Powers of appointment are among the most useful tools to build in flexibility and allow the settlor to grant a powerholder the option of distributing trust assets among desired appointees in the future. This enables changing beneficial interests in a non-fiduciary capacity, unlike a trustee or Trust Protector who may be deemed a fiduciary. The most flexibility will include broad lifetime and testamentary special (or "limited") powers of appointment (meaning the powerholder can appoint the trust property among any persons, including individuals or trusts, or organizations other than the party's self, estate, or creditors, during life or at death). <sup>160</sup>
- 2. To maximize flexibility, the trust instrument can permit the primary beneficiary (or even an independent powerholder) to have broad special lifetime and testamentary powers of appointment. Such powers can even permit the powerholder to appoint property to a new trust in which the powerholder has rights or powers, as long as those rights or powers are no broader than in the original instrument. Sample language is included in the Addendum.
- 3. For most trusts, but particularly for large trusts that are expected to remain in effect for many years, it is best to permit powerholders to have flexibility beyond the ability to appoint trust assets to the settlor's descendants. Often it will be desirable for the powerholder to be able to appoint for the benefit of a spouse or other lifetime partner (at least in a continuing trust), and for income tax reasons to have the ability to appoint to charitable organizations (including any Foundation or Donor Advised Fund) the family

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> 760 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/16.3(f)(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> See In re Peterls Family Inter Vivos Trs., 77 A.3d 249 (Del. 2013) (absent language in a trust instrument restricting a change in the governing law or language indicating that the initial governing law shall always govern administration of the trust, changing the initial governing law of the trust is permitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> See generally Jonathan G. Blattmachr et al., Estate Planning's Most Powerful Tool: Powers of Appointment Refreshed, Redefined, and Reexamined, 47 REAL PROP. TR. & EST. L.J. 529 (2013).

- may have in place. The most flexible option is for the trust instrument to provide both lifetime and testamentary broad special powers of appointment.
- 4. To maximize privacy and flexibility, drafters should be wary of creating testamentary powers of appointment that can be exercised only by a will. Instead, it is prudent to allow the power to be exercised by any instrument that specifically references the power and is delivered to the trustee of the irrevocable trust over which the powers are being exercised. The instrument exercising the power of appointment can require all the same formalities that would be required of a trust amendment (such as a signed instrument delivered to the trustee to be kept with the trust records that makes specific reference to the power of appointment being exercised). Sample language is included in the Addendum.
- 5. General powers of appointment can also be used for flexibility in tax planning. One method to trigger inclusion in the gross estate—and therefore obtain a step-up in basis and also utilize the powerholder's own GST tax exemptions—is to provide a powerholder with a general power of appointment either by formula or by permitting an independent trustee or Trust Protector to add such power. By building in the trigger of a general power of appointment under certain circumstances, or for one to be added, the assets over which the beneficiary has such power will be includable in their estate. The property subject to the power is includable in the powerholder's estate whether or not the power is exercised and will result in a step-up in basis. A general power of appointment is defined as a power that is exercisable in favor of the decedent, the decedent's estate, the decedent's creditors, or the creditors of the decedent's estate. In traditional planning, advisors are careful to avoid general powers of appointment—as such powers cause the property to be subject to the estate tax. However, the use of general powers of appointment to trigger estate tax inclusion should be considered with the minimization of estate tax consequences and the focus on basis planning.
  - a. There are several issues to contemplate for advisors who wish to use a general power of appointment to force estate tax inclusion: (i) how and when the general power should be given to the beneficiary; (ii) when the general power should be triggered; and (iii) how broad the general power should be when given to the beneficiary. A general power should be employed only if the cost of estate tax inclusion cost is less than the income tax saved by increasing tax basis. Some commentators have suggested drafting a complex formula to determine when to grant such general powers and over what property and recognized the inherent challenges in such a task. <sup>162</sup>
  - b. Because of the numerous challenges with the use of a formula, it may be preferable to incorporate trust language providing an independent trustee (or Trust Protector) the discretion to grant a general power of appointment when the tax effective increase in asset basis is desired. The general power of appointment could be dependent on a number of factors including: (i) a comparison of estate taxes incurred by using the general power to any income tax savings realized if the property is included in the gross estate; (ii) the amount of appreciation in each asset; (iii) which assets are likely to be sold; (iv) the federal and state income tax rates at the time of any potential sale; (v) the depreciation rate with respect to depreciable property owned by the trust; and (vi) whether having a general power of appointment facilitates the desirable use of the powerholder's own GST tax exemption to be applied to the trust property. Sample

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> I.R.C. § 2041(a)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> See e.g., Michael A. Yuhas & Carl C. Radom, *The New Estate Planning Frontier: Increasing Basis*, 122 J. TAX'N 4 (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> If a trustee is granted the power to confer a general power, then the trustee should be exculpated for liability for any decision to exercise or not exercise the power.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> Please note that the amount of estate tax incurred will be dependent on a number of factors (*e.g.*, elections made by the executor and administrative expenses incurred by the estate).

language allowing the trustee the discretion to grant a general power of appointment is included in the Addendum. Because many independent trustees or Trust Protectors will not want to be in a position of having to affirmatively determine whether or not to grant such a power, it has become increasingly common for drafters to add language requiring the independent trustee or Trust Protector to consider granting such a power only when that has been requested by a trust beneficiary.

### F. Trust Protectors

- 1. Generally, a Trust Protector is a third party other than the settlor, trustee, or beneficiary that is granted specific powers to make decisions needed to carry out the settlor's intent or to address changing laws and circumstances. For ideal flexibility, all trust instruments will contemplate that a Trust Protector can make amendments to an irrevocable trust instrument. The Trust Protector can be viewed as a surgeon who can make important corrections, clarifications and updates to the instrument, such as adding financial powers as new investment vehicles, inventing business structures or converting a trust into a special needs trust.
- 2. Trust protectors have been around for centuries in foreign trusts, but they are a more recent trend in U.S. trusts. The desire to build in flexibility to address changed circumstances, coinciding with a trend of trusts lasting longer (e.g., 360 years, or in perpetuity), has led to an increase in the use of Trust Protectors. While most states have responded to this development, some states do not yet address Trust Protectors; even those that do are not consistent or fully developed.
- 3. Enabling a Trust Protector can be particularly useful in the following circumstances:
  - a. To Provide a Third Party with Certain Powers. It may be desirable for a settlor to give a third party powers that traditionally were held by the trustee or even the beneficiary. Such powers include approving trustee compensation or replacing trustee vacancies. In some situations, the Trust Protector could provide a check and balance on matters relating to the trustee. For example, if the beneficiary has the right to remove and appoint trustees, the beneficiary could exert pressure on the trustee to exercise the trustee's authority or to make discretionary distributions with the implied or express threat of being removed if it does not comply with the beneficiary's wishes. As a neutral third party, the Trust Protector can help ensure the right factors are being considered in the removal process. At the same time, the Trust Protector may be closer to the beneficiary or be privy to information that allows the third party to fully ascertain the situation.
  - b. Changing Governing Law or Situs. One power that is commonly held by an independent trustee that could also be held by a Trust Protector is the power to change trust situs and governing law. As clients change their residences across the country, and move trusts to more favorable jurisdictions, the power to change governing law is particularly important. See sample language in the addendum.
  - c. To Provide Flexibility in Long-Term Trust. As trusts last longer and longer, it has become important to retain the ability to adjust trust provisions to comply with the

without regard to the date of the creation of the first power. This provision has generally been interpreted to mean that a beneficiary who holds a special power of appointment will be subject to estate tax on the assets if they exercise the special power of appointment to create a new trust—the terms of which grant the beneficiary thereof a general power

of appointment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> The Delaware tax trap is another way that a beneficiary may possess a general power of appointment. Under I.R.C. 2041(a)(3), a beneficiary is deemed to possess a general power of appointment when the beneficiary exercises a nongeneral power of appointment to create another power of appointment—which under the applicable local law could be validly exercised so as to postpone the vesting of any estate or interest in such property for a period ascertainable without regard to the date of the creation of the first power. This provision has generally been interpreted to mean that

settlor's goals as time and circumstances change. Some of these powers include the ability to turn off grantor trust status, add beneficiaries, change the ultimate contingent beneficiaries to facilitate a trust merger, or modify distribution provisions such as to protect a beneficiary with special needs and avoid disqualifying them for public benefits. Because a trustee has a fiduciary duty to the beneficiaries, the trustee often may not be able to perform these adjustments.

- d. To Maintain Privacy of Trust Administration. While many powers given to a Trust Protector can be achieved by going to court, utilizing a Trust Protector allows a trust to maintain its privacy by having the Trust Protector carry out the powers that would have been open to public records in court. Some of these powers include the powers to modify the trust instrument, change the governing law of the trust, remove and replace trustees, resolve disputes among the beneficiaries or between the beneficiaries and the trustee, and interpret the terms of the trust. While granting the Trust Protector these powers does not prevent the trustee or beneficiaries from going to court, it does reduce the likelihood of a court proceeding.
- e. *To Monitor*. Some practitioners believe that a Trust Protector should be named at the outset in order to protect the trust by monitoring the trustee's administration of the trust. This can be quite challenging since the Trust Protector is not privy to the day-to-day administration of the trust in the way it would be if it served as a co-trustee. Courts have determined that, unlike a trustee, a Trust Protector has no standing to bring an action in court, which could leave the party named as Trust Protector powerless to interfere if such individual did determine that something was amiss with the trust. <sup>166</sup>
- f. Trust Protector as Enabler or Surgeon. Many believe strongly that the best way to utilize a Trust Protector is to permit a party (such as the party designated in the instrument with the power to appoint and remove trustees) to appoint an individual who would qualify as an independent trustee to serve as Trust Protector with the power to engage in making primarily substantive trust revisions. The process of appointing a Trust Protector to make necessary changes then can be relatively clean. A Trustee Appointer can appoint an independent party (often an attorney) to amend or restate the trust in ways deemed to be consistent with settlor intent to address changes in tax law, investment powers, or other changed circumstances.
- g. *To Mediate*. A final approach is to name an individual (or succession of individuals) who could be consulted to resolve a dispute between two trustees, or other parties who have powers within the trust, such as for the appointment or removal of trustees. This may be a situation where the settlor's spouse and child or two children are named together as fiduciaries or powerholders, but if the two of them are in disagreement, the trusted individual can resolve the dispute. As a practical matter, being named as a third party to resolve disputes sounds like a pretty unappealing role. Accordingly, if a client insists on taking this approach, it is best to have the party accept this role in advance, make it clear that the party gets involved only when called upon by the two disagreeing parties, and settle compensation for serving in the role in advance.
- 4. Many trust instruments that permit the appointment of a Trust Protector assume that the party serving in such role is not intended to be a fiduciary. However, some of the statutes that have blessed the existence of Trust Protectors have now defined them expansively (*e.g.*, to include mere trustee appointers and removers) and have imposed fiduciary duties on such parties. These developments have made the role more frightful, particularly for

38

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Schwartz v. Wellin, No. 2:13-cv-3595-DCN, 2014 WL 1572767 (D.S.C. Apr. 17, 2014) (where Trust Protector filed suit against trustees, suit was dismissed since the Trust Protector lacked standing as he was neither a trustee nor a beneficiary).

- individuals who are named in trust instruments as Trust Protector (including as Trustee Appointer or remover) but may have no other connections to the trust. 167
- 5. Despite being given the title of "protector," a Trust Protector preferably should not be utilized with the goal of having the Trust Protector monitor the trustee's administration of the trust. If a settlor wants someone or entity to monitor the trustee, the settlor should either select a different trustee or appoint the party intended to serve as Trust Protector as a cotrustee. Often, a beneficiary is in a better position to monitor the trustee than a named Trust Protector. <sup>168</sup>
- 6. When a client hears that they may make changes to an irrevocable trust, it may be tempting for the client to ask the Trust Protector to make changes to the trust regularly. Best practice is for Trust Protectors to act sparingly and in reaction only to changed circumstances and changes in the law, not purely at the settlor's request.
- 7. Settlors often want to retain as much power as possible, while minimizing tax consequences. Settlors can grant powers to the Trust Protector, who will act in a non-fiduciary capacity and carry out the settlor's intent without the estate tax consequences. The following are drafting suggestions for a trust that will either (i) have a Trust Protector or (ii) permit the appointment of a Trust Protector if there is a change in circumstances:
  - a. The trust instrument should clearly state the Trust Protector's powers and duty of care. While the state may have established default rules, drafters should be careful of relying on state law: there is little consistency between state Trust Protector laws. Drafting based on one state's body of laws does not protect against the possibility of a vastly different set of laws if the trust is moved to another jurisdiction. Additionally, even if the trust never changes situs, state laws are still developing, so long-term planning entails setting out the settlor's intent.
  - b. Trust protectors and trust advisors perform separate and distinct roles, even though the terms may be used interchangeably, as many states do not differentiate between the two. Trust advisors should be used when the intention is to have a third party perform specific trustee powers such as investments or distributions. Trust protectors are for powers that the settlor, beneficiary, or trustee may not want to or cannot have the trustee perform. Additionally, unlike trust advisors, Trust Protectors are not required to act as fiduciaries as long as the governing instrument is specific in so stating.
  - c. The trust instrument should state the standard of care for the Trust Protector. Depending on the powers granted to the Trust Protector, the appropriate standard of care will vary. In some cases, it will be lower than the standard applicable to a trustee or trust advisor because the Trust Protector is not necessarily a fiduciary acting on behalf of the beneficiaries. If that is what the settlor intends, then the trust instrument should clearly state that the Trust Protector is not a fiduciary; the instrument should specify that the Trust Protector is not liable for their actions unless they act in bad faith, with reckless indifference to the purposes of the trust, or in their own self-interests. If the Trust Protector is granted powers comparable to those typical of a trustee, then the Trust Protector will most likely be a fiduciary and subject to the same

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Robert T. McLean Irrevocable Tr. v. Ponder, 418 S.W.3d 482 (Mo. Ct. App. 2013) (court refused to hold the Trust Protector liable for failing to monitor the trustees or direct their activities; court deferred to the trust instrument, which granted the Trust Protector the ability to remove and appoint trustees; Trust Protector was granted no other powers; court held that the Trust Protector's powers were limited by the trust instrument and no other powers were implied by law or the trust instrument).

standard of care as the trustee. The trust instrument could also provide indemnification for the Trust Protector from litigation fees and expenses.

### G. Decanting

- 1. Decanting allows one trust to pour its assets into a new trust. This can be done at common law in a trust that permits distributions in continuing trust for beneficiaries' best interests, but many states have now enacted laws that govern the process of decanting. State decanting laws will vary. Some are more onerous than others, and over time the laws could change to become even more onerous. If the settlor's goal is to maximize future flexibility, there is no harm—and there could be significant benefit—in having the settlor expressly assent to future decanting. It is even better to spell out what decanting would look like (*e.g.*, provide whether notice to contingent beneficiaries is waived). The Uniform Trust Decanting Act has been enacted in fifteen states. <sup>169</sup>
- 2. Note that like the Trust Protector, decanting should be used with caution if the goal is to remove trust beneficiaries. The *Hodges v. Johnson* case in New Hampshire illustrates that a trustee who goes along with decanting to remove current beneficiaries could be in breach of the trustee's fiduciary duties.<sup>170</sup>
- 3. Trust mergers and severances can be utilized as an alternative to decanting. Most state statutes authorize mergers with substantially similar trusts, but it can be helpful to include an express authorization for trust mergers or severances to maximize flexibility in the instruments.
- 4. Including broad investment and administrative powers can reduce the need for decanting. Permitting a trustee to have broad flexibility in investments can facilitate trust administration. This can include a comprehensive list of investment and administrative powers, as well as incorporating all state statutory powers as they exist at the time of execution and at any time in the future during the trust administration. For example, the introduction to the list of powers in the trust could state something similar to the following: "In addition to all powers now or hereafter granted by law regardless of the statutory effective date of the power, the trustee shall have the following powers with respect to each trust held under this instrument . . . ." Since modern families often wish to divide trustee functions in ways that have one trustee responsible for trust administration and a separate trustee or investment direction advisor responsible for trust investment, it can be helpful to segregate the administrative powers and the investment powers into separate sections of the trust instrument.

### H. Grantor Trust Provisions

1. Utilizing intentionally defective irrevocable grantor trusts maximizes flexibility in that it requires the settlor, who is treated as the grantor for income tax purposes, to pay the trust's income tax liabilities and also permits the settlor and the settlor's spouse to engage in income tax-free transactions with the trust such as installment sales, loans, and leases.

2. Traditional transfer tax planning has focused on removing assets from the gross estate—or at least discounting the value of assets included in the gross estate. Gift tax planning has encouraged lifetime transfers to take advantage of the tax-exclusive nature of the gift tax and to shift post-gift appreciation out of the donor's taxable estate. However, the landscape of income tax and transfer tax planning has changed dramatically in the past several years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> ULC, Trust Decanting Act, available at <a href="https://www.uniformlaws.org/committees/community-home?">https://www.uniformlaws.org/committees/community-home?</a>CommunityKey=5b248bac-9251-47fb-bad8-57a23f3df540.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> *Hodges v. Johnson*, 177 A.3d 86 (N.H. 2017) (finding that although the statute permits decanting to remove beneficial interests, the way in which it was accomplished violated the trustee's duty of impartiality).

The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (the "2012 Tax Act") lowered the estate tax rate to 40%, increased the income tax rate to 39.6%, increased the capital gain rate to 20%, and implemented a new 3.8% surtax on net investment income tax. As discussed below, the 2012 Tax Act also made permanent the portability of a deceased spouse's unused exclusion amount (commonly referred to as the "DSUE amount") for those estates that make an appropriate election on a timely filed estate tax return.

- 3. The Tax Cut and Jobs Act of 2018 ("the 2018 Tax Act") increased the exemption amount, as of 2024, \$13.61 million with inflation adjustments, and lowered the highest marginal income tax rate from 39.6% to 37%, but trusts still pay taxes at the highest marginal rate starting at only \$15,200 of income. The reduction of the transfer tax rates accompanied by the increase of the federal income tax rates has changed the estate planning focus with respect to most clients from reducing the estate tax to reducing the income tax of clients. As such, the strategies that planners typically employed to remove assets from a client's estate are now of little value to clients who are unlikely to face a gift or estate tax liability.
- 4. Under the current income and transfer tax structures, planners must shift their focus from just reducing federal estate tax to reducing federal income tax. In planning for estate tax inclusion and basis step-up, an advisor must be aware of those assets that reap the most income tax benefits from a step-up in basis. With proper planning, these assets will provide either lower or no recognized gain on sale, a higher basis for depreciation—and, in some cases, will provide preferred capital gain as opposed to ordinary income treatment.
- 5. Many advisors have clients who use grantor trusts to take advantage of the income tax result that the trust settlor/grantor is treated as the owner of the trust for income tax purposes. Thus, a grantor would not recognize gain or loss on a sale of property to the trust, and any income or deduction of the trust would be taxed to the grantor. This is particularly attractive because the trust can appreciate for the benefit of the beneficiaries without having to pay income tax. The payment of income tax by the grantor dramatically increases the value of the trust with the added benefit of not incurring gift tax. Choosing which grantor trust powers to include can make a difference.<sup>171</sup>
- 6. A common provision included in a trust to qualify it as a grantor trust is to give the settlor the power, in a non-fiduciary capacity, to reacquire trust assets by substituting assets of equivalent value. A client who is a settlor and grantor may increase basis by swapping assets with a grantor trust. The grantor has the ability to swap a high-basis asset for an asset of equivalent value (and a low basis) held by the grantor trust. This will not be considered an exchange for income tax purposes, and the low-basis asset will then be includable in the client's gross estate—and will receive a step-up in basis at the client's death.
- 7. Including the ability to make loans to the grantor with inadequate interest or inadequate security is another popular provision that increases flexibility (for example, if the settlor has gifted too much and needs access to borrow trust assets to pay expenses). In addition, including the power to add charitable beneficiaries can also be useful as this may enable the trust to take charitable income tax deductions. This is even more beneficial under the 2018 Tax Act, where individual deductions have limitations if the grantor trust status will eventually be turned off or after the death of the settlor. Finally, including the settlor's spouse as a permissible beneficiary and/or as a fiduciary with the power to make discretionary distributions can also be useful. A few sample grantor trust powers are included in the Addendum.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> See I.R.C. §§ 671-79 and the regulations thereunder.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> I.R.C. § 675(4)(C).

- 8. Grantor Trust Reimbursement.<sup>173</sup> While originally intended to punish settlors who tried to evade income taxes by transferring assets to trusts, grantor trusts have become an essential tool in estate planning. With grantor trust status, a trust can accelerate growth without the tax drag. Also, the trust can utilize the settlor/grantor's social security number as its taxpayer identification number and avoid tax preparation complications and fees. It can engage in desirable transactions with the settlor, like renting residential real estate, buying assets in an installment sale at low interest rates, and swapping out low-basis assets for higher basis assets.
  - a. A well-drafted grantor trust will always include the ability to turn off grantor trust status in case the grantor tires of paying the trust's taxes. For example, in a year when there is an unusually large capital gain or in which the grantor may be particularly cash-strapped, the grantor might be inclined to turn off the status rather than incur the tax liability.
  - b. Turning off grantor trust status, however, is harmful to the trust and is always contrary to the best interests of the beneficiaries. It may also have unintended consequences if the grantor is engaged in otherwise non-recognized transactions with the trust, such as a lease with a qualified personal residence trust, or an installment sale to an intentionally defective grantor trust. In such situations, it is preferable for the trust to contain a discretionary trustee power to simply reimburse the grantor for the taxes in lieu of turning off the status.
  - c. Across the country, many practitioners are addressing this issue by inserting language in their trusts giving trustees the authority to reimburse grantors for taxes (or to pay the trust's share of the tax liability directly) as a disincentive for turning off grantor trust status altogether and to build in more flexibility.
  - d. The Internal Revenue Service permits reimbursement for taxes and will not include the amount of the trust in the settlor's taxable gross estate as long as the payment is not: (i) forbidden by state law; (ii) subject to a pattern of abuse that suggests an agreement to reimburse; or (iii) mandatory. In Revenue Ruling 2004-64, the IRS addressed this issue and determined that there would be no inclusion in the gross estate for federal estate tax purposes if the trustee has discretionary authority, under the instrument or applicable local law, to reimburse the grantor for the income tax liability. There must not be any facts indicating control by the grantor, such as preexisting arrangements, powers to remove trustee and name the grantor as trustee, or local law subjecting the trust assets to the claims of the grantor's creditors. On the other hand, if the applicable local law or the trust's governing instrument requires a mandatory payment for the income tax liability, this will trigger inclusion in the grantor's taxable gross estate under Code Section 2036(a)(1) for any trust created after October 4, 2004.
  - e. Under the holding of the Revenue Ruling, no state statute expressly authorizing reimbursement for grantor taxes should be necessary, as long as such reimbursement is permitted by the instrument, and there is no local law subjecting the trust assets to the grantor's creditors' claims. Nonetheless, to provide comfort and clarity, many states have enacted statutes that address grantor trust reimbursement.
  - f. States have been heeding the call to make statutory revisions that facilitate grantor trust reimbursement. In 2019, Delaware amended its law to join New Hampshire and

42

This section on grantor trust reimbursements is drawn from Kim Kamin, *Where Are All the Grantor Trust Reimbursement Statutes?*, Wealth Management (Jan. 17, 2018), available at <a href="http://www.wealthmanagement.com/estate-planning/where-are-all-grantor-trust-reimbursement-statutes">http://www.wealthmanagement.com/estate-planning/where-are-all-grantor-trust-reimbursement-statutes</a>.

New York in more explicitly permitting it.<sup>174</sup> More recently, Connecticut and Florida have also changed their laws to permit reimbursement even for trusts that are silent.<sup>175</sup>

### I. Funding Formulas

- 1. Following passage of the Economic Growth Tax Relief Reconciliation Act ("2001 Tax Act") federal legislation enacted in 2001 that eliminated the pick-up tax, a number of states enacted separate estate tax regimes. For states in which the federal and state estate tax exemption amounts do not match, the estate taxes are described as "decoupled." As a result of this, some states like Illinois now have state-only Qualified Terminable Interest Trust ("QTIP") marital deduction elections to be made upon the first spouse's death. <sup>176</sup>
- 2. Planners have several options available to them when drafting documents to take advantage of a state QTIP election—and the strategy implemented will depend on a client's particular situation and the flexibility desired. Additionally, the strategy chosen may also depend on the portability of the predeceased spouse's estate tax exemption amount and the applicability of estate taxes and income taxes.
- 3. Consideration of income taxes is increasingly important now that the highest income tax rates can exceed the highest transfer tax rates. Part of planning for flexibility is to consider that sometimes it will be in the best interests for trust assets to be distributed outright to a beneficiary such as (i) to shift income from the trust's bracket to the beneficiary's bracket or (ii) to receive a step-up in basis at that beneficiary's death. Along the same lines, it may be desirable for certain beneficiaries to be granted general powers of appointment over trust assets to secure a step-up in basis over those assets at death.
- 4. When preparing estate planning documents for a client, a planner may utilize one of the following options (and sample language for each is included in the Addendum):
  - a. Rely purely on portability as discussed in more detail below.
  - b. Use a credit shelter trust with the lower of the federal and state estate tax exemptions, and a QTIP-able Marital Trust. Under this approach, the funding formula (whether fractional or pecuniary) for the credit shelter trust provides that the largest amount that will not incur federal *or* state estate taxes is allocated to the credit shelter trust. Any remaining assets are allocated to a QTIP-able trust. The executor could then make a federal QTIP election over such trust and a state QTIP election over the gap amount—resulting in no federal or state estate tax being payable upon the predeceased spouse's death.
  - c. Use a Credit Shelter Trust with the *greater* of the federal and state estate tax exemptions and a QTIP-able Marital Trust. Under this approach, the funding formula (whether fractional or pecuniary) for the credit shelter trust provides that the largest amount that can pass free without incurring federal estate taxes only (\$13.61 million in 2024) is allocated to the credit shelter trust. Any remaining assets are allocated to a QTIP-able trust. The executor could then make a federal QTIP election over such trust—resulting in no federal estate tax being payable upon the predeceased spouse's death. If the credit shelter trust qualifies for QTIP treatment, the executor may make a partial state QTIP election for the gap amount of the credit shelter trust. While this

\_

Todd A. Flubacher & J. Zachary Haupt, *Delaware*, Wealth Management (Jul. 22, 2019), available at <a href="https://www.wealthmanagement.com/estate-planning/delaware">https://www.wealthmanagement.com/estate-planning/delaware</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> Jennifer Smith & Kristen A. Curatolo, *Two States Enact Grantor Trust Reimbursement Statutes*, Wealth Management (Feb. 17, 2021), available at <a href="https://www.wealthmanagement.com/estate-planning/two-states-enact-grantor-trust-reimbursement-statutes">https://www.wealthmanagement.com/estate-planning/two-states-enact-grantor-trust-reimbursement-statutes</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> 35 Ill. Comp. Stat. 405/2.

strategy was utilized widely prior to decoupling and is likely a part of a significant number of existing plans, it has a couple of drawbacks:

- (1) In many cases, the credit shelter trust will not be drafted in a manner that will allow it to qualify as a QTIP-able trust—as it will not require a mandatory distribution of income or will name beneficiaries other than the surviving spouse. Therefore, the state QTIP election will be unavailable, and the credit shelter trust will generate some state estate tax—which may potentially be avoided if the credit shelter trust had qualified for the state QTIP election and the surviving spouse was not subject to state estate taxes upon death.
- (2) Even if the credit shelter trust is a QTIP-able trust, it will cause the credit shelter trust to be a "leaky" trust—as the income from the entire trust must be distributed to the surviving spouse (as opposed to the discretion to retain the assets in trust for the surviving spouse's benefit).
- d. Three-Trust Strategy. Pursuant to this strategy, the credit shelter trust is funded with a formula (whether fractional or pecuniary) that provides for the largest amount that will not incur federal or state estate taxes. Any remaining assets are allocated to a QTIP-able trust—and further divided by formula between a "State QTIP Trust" (for the gap amount) and a "Federal QTIP Trust" (for the balance of the assets). The executor could then make a state QTIP election over the "State QTIP Trust" and a federal QTIP election over the "Federal QTIP Trust"—resulting in no federal or state estate tax being payable upon the predeceased spouse's death. While this approach already works well in some states that have decoupled, it could also be useful in boilerplate in case clients move from a state where it isn't necessary to a state that has decoupled from the federal estate tax and permits a state-only QTIP election.
- e. *QTIP-able Trust Approach*. Under this approach, sometimes referred to as a "single fund QTIP" approach, all assets are allocated to a trust over which the decedent's executor can make a QTIP election. The executor would then make a partial QTIP election for a portion of the trust to avoid federal estate taxes and a state QTIP election over the gap amount. Similar to the strategy above of funding the credit shelter trust with the greater of the federal and state estate tax exemptions, this strategy will result in all assets being held in a "leaky" trust—as the income from the entire trust must be distributed to the surviving spouse (as opposed to the discretion to retain the assets in trust for the surviving spouse's benefit).
- f. Disclaimer Approach. With this approach, there is typically an outright bequest to the surviving spouse with a provision that any amount disclaimed by the surviving spouse passes to a QTIP-able trust or to a Family Trust. The disclaimer must be made within nine months. The executor would have up to nine months (or fifteen months, if an extension is filed) after the predeceased spouse's date of death to decide whether to make a full or partial QTIP election. If a QTIP election is not made, then the portion over which no election was made could pass to a credit shelter trust. Otherwise, if the QTIP election is made, then the executor could make a reverse QTIP election and allocate the predeceased spouse's GST exemption to the trust. One potential hazard to this approach is that the surviving spouse may decide—after the death of the predeceased spouse—not to execute a disclaimer (and simply receive all assets outright and free of trust).
- g. *Clayton Trust*. The Clayton contingent QTIP election is a more flexible variation of the traditional partial QTIP election. <sup>177</sup> A Clayton contingent QTIP election permits a surviving spouse's income interest in a QTIP marital deduction trust to be contingent on the fiduciary's election to treat the marital trust property as QTIP property under

44

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> See Estate of Arthur M. Clayton, Jr. v. Comm'r, 976 F.2d 1486 (5th Cir. 1992); see also 26 C.F.R. § 20.2056(b)-7(d)(3).

Section 2056(b)(7) of the Code. The property elected for QTIP treatment remains in the QTIP marital deduction trust, while the non-elected portion of the QTIP trust property is generally distributed to the surviving spouse and the decedent's descendants in a traditional Family Trust. Under the provisions of a Clayton trust, the residue of the decedent's estate (to the extent the assets qualify for the marital deduction) is left to a single QTIP marital deduction trust for the benefit of the surviving spouse. Through the use of a Clayton contingent QTIP election, the decedent's fiduciary determines how much of the QTIP trust property should qualify for the marital deduction. With a six-month extension to file the decedent's federal estate tax return, the decedent's fiduciary will have fifteen months to determine the appropriate contingent QTIP election amount.

- 5. Additional Considerations. Although there are several options to be considered with respect to decoupling, the most appropriate option to include will involve other factors—such as (i) whether the priority is the minimization of estate tax or the reduction of income tax; and (ii) the option for married couples to take advantage of portability. For these reasons, the appropriate strategy will involve a discussion and analysis with clients of all such possibilities and their goals.
- 6. Portability. Portability was first introduced as part of the Tax Relief, Unemployment Reauthorization, and Job Creation Act of 2010 (the "2010 Tax Act"). It became effective for married persons dying on or after January 1, 2011. Specifically, Section 303(a) of the 2010 Tax Act provides for the portability of any unused exclusion amount for a surviving spouse if the decedent's executor makes an appropriate election on a timely filed estate tax return that calculates the unused exclusion amount. The unused exclusion amount is referred to in the legislation as the "deceased spousal unused exclusion amount" (commonly referred to as the "DSUE amount"). The surviving spouse can apply the DSUE amount either to gifts by the surviving spouse during their lifetime or for estate tax purposes at the surviving spouse's death. Additionally, an individual can only use the DSUE amount from their last deceased spouse. As a result of the passage of the 2012 Tax Act, portability is now a permanent part of the transfer tax system.
- 7. The following summarizes various aspects of portability:
  - a. The portability election is made by the executor of the deceased spouse's estate by filing a timely and complete Form 706.
  - b. The surviving spouse's DSUE amount is not subject to reduction if Congress subsequently reduces the basic exclusion amount.
  - c. If the decedent made gifts requiring the payment of gift tax, the excess taxable gift over the gift exemption amount (on which gift tax was paid) is not considered in calculating the DSUE amount.
  - d. The surviving spouse can use the DSUE amount after the decedent's death, assuming the portability election is eventually made by the executor.
  - e. Any gifts made by the surviving spouse are first covered by the DSUE amount, leaving the spouse's own exclusion amount to cover later transfers.
  - f. DSUE amounts from multiple spouses may be used to the extent that gifts are made to utilize the DSUE amount from a particular spouse before the next spouse dies.
- 8. Because the portability provisions are permanent, married clients are more likely to consider implementing a simple plan that leaves all assets to the surviving spouse and relies

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> Typically, the non-elected portion will be allocated to a credit shelter trust that will provide for discretionary distributions of income and principal to the surviving spouse and/or the grantor's descendants.

on portability to take advantage of the estate tax exemptions of both spouses. However, such an approach is not helpful in planning for the estate tax in most states that have an estate tax—as only two of those states have adopted portability, Hawaii and Maryland.

- 9. When deciding about whether to rely on portability, the following factors should be considered:
  - a. The age and life expectancy of the surviving spouse;
  - b. Whether assets in the predeceased spouse's estate are likely to appreciate substantially;
  - c. Whether assets in the predeceased spouse's estate are likely to be sold during the surviving spouse's lifetime or retained until the surviving spouse's death—and the related tax effects;
  - d. Whether the assets will be used by the surviving spouse during their lifetime; and
  - e. Whether the surviving spouse resides in—or will move to or from—a state with a state estate tax (*e.g.*, Illinois).

### 10. Different Approaches.

- a. Arguments Favoring Credit Shelter Trusts. Although spousal portability allows the surviving spouse to avail themself of the predeceased spouse's unused federal estate tax exemption amount, there are possible pitfalls which could occur if married couples rely on it for utilization of the federal estate tax exemption of the first spouse to die, which include the following:
  - (1) First, relying on portability does not leverage the federal estate tax exemption of the first spouse to die. If assets appreciate and there is no credit shelter trust (*i.e.*, if all of the couple's assets are in the surviving spouse's name or revocable trust) or if the credit shelter trust is not fully funded (*i.e.*, if the value of the assets in the predeceased spouse's name is less than their federal estate tax exemption amount), then the appreciation on such assets is fully taxable in the surviving spouse's estate. Alternatively, if the assets in the predeceased spouse's credit shelter trust appreciate after the first death, then the appreciation passes free of estate tax to the family.
  - (2) In addition, assets passing to a surviving spouse in a credit shelter trust are afforded protection from the surviving spouse's creditors, whereas assets held in the surviving spouse's individual name or in the name of their revocable trust are not protected from creditors. Therefore, if a couple relies on portability instead of titling sufficient assets in each spouse's name (and if the majority of the couple's assets are titled in the name of the surviving spouse), then those assets will lose the creditor protection that they otherwise would have been afforded had the assets passed to the predeceased spouse's credit shelter trust upon their death.
  - (3) The predeceased spouse might use a credit shelter trust to restrict the surviving spouse's ability to access the trust assets and provide for the management of the assets by appointing a trustee who is not the surviving spouse.
  - (4) Furthermore, a surviving spouse can only avail themself of the unused portion of the federal estate tax exemption of their last spouse to die. As a result of this limitation, it is possible that remarriage by a surviving spouse could cause the loss of the portability if the new spouse predeceases the surviving spouse but uses their full federal estate tax exemption.
  - (5) Because portability does not apply to the GST tax, it is still necessary to fund

- both estate tax exemptions (to the extent possible) to fully leverage the GST exemptions of both spouses.
- (6) Finally, portability is not an option with state estate tax in any state other than Hawaii (and soon to be in Maryland) as referenced above.
- 11. Arguments Favoring Portability. While relying on portability is the simplest approach, there are other reasons why a married couple might employ portability as the better alternative to credit shelter trusts, such as the following:
  - a. A couple may have a desire for simplicity and not wish to be burdened with the extra duties and reporting obligations that are attendant to trusts. Additionally, there may be administrative costs and disadvantageous income tax consequences incurred as a result of the use of trusts.
  - b. A couple may be more motivated in obtaining the step-up in basis of their assets, rather than removing future appreciation of those assets from their taxable estates.
  - c. Portability works well for a married couple who have not been married before and do not have any other children from a prior marriage.
  - d. There are assets in the predeceased spouse's estate that would be difficult to administer in a trust, such as a residence.
- 12. Drafting Considerations. A married couple's decision on which strategy to use will likely depend on factors such as: the need to protect assets from federal and state estate taxes and from other creditors, control of assets, administrative simplicity, and evaluation of income tax consequences. While planners may draft documents that implement either of the strategies above, the optimal approach is to draft documents that provide flexibility for the surviving spouse to decide whether to rely on portability after the death of the predeceased spouse. There are a couple of options that provide this flexibility: (i) a QTIP-able trust; and (ii) a disclaimer approach—both of which allow a couple to "punt" on the decision until the first death.
  - a. *QTIP-able Trust Approach*. A QTIP-able trust approach affords substantial flexibility to a surviving spouse. By allocating all assets to a trust over which the decedent's executor can make a QTIP election, the factors discussed above can be analyzed after the death of the predeceased spouse. By drafting a QTIP-able trust into an estate plan, the predeceased spouse's executor has up to nine months (or fifteen months, if an extension is filed) after the predeceased spouse's date of death to decide whether to make a QTIP election and over what portion of the trust the election should be made. If a QTIP election is made by the executor, then a reverse QTIP election could be made to allocate the predeceased spouse's GST exemption to the trust. A QTIP-able trust also makes it straightforward to fully utilize the predeceased spouse's exemption amount without paying state estate taxes upon the predeceased spouse's death.
  - b. Disclaimer Approach. Under this approach, there is an outright bequest to the surviving spouse—with a provision that any amount disclaimed by the surviving spouse passes to a QTIP-able trust. The executor would have up to nine months (or fifteen months, if an extension is filed) after the predeceased spouse's date of death to decide whether to make a full or partial QTIP election. If a QTIP election is not made, then the portion over which no election was made could pass to a credit shelter trust. Otherwise, if the QTIP election is made, then the executor could make a reverse QTIP election and allocate the predeceased spouse's GST exemption to the trust. Under this approach, there are two different choices: (i) the spouse could decide not to make any disclaimers and keep the assets, and the executor would then make the

portability election; or (ii) the spouse could disclaim all or a portion of the outright bequest and the disclaimed assets would pass to the QTIP-able trust. The executor would have up to nine months (or fifteen months, if an extension is filed) after the predeceased spouse's date of death to decide whether to make a full or partial QTIP election.

- c. Clayton Trust. The Clayton contingent QTIP election is often viewed as the most flexible variation. It permits a surviving spouse's income interest in a QTIP marital deduction trust to be contingent on the fiduciary's election to treat the marital trust property as QTIP property under Section 2056(b)(7) of the Internal Revenue Code. The property elected for QTIP treatment remains in the QTIP marital deduction trust, while the non-elected portion of the QTIP trust property can be distributed to a Family Trust (i.e., Credit Shelter Trust). With a six-month extension to file the decedent's federal estate tax return, the decedent's fiduciary will have up to fifteen months to determine the appropriate contingent QTIP election amount which provides more time than the disclaimer approach.
- d. *Combination Approach*. In fact, the most flexible approach is for an instrument to permit both (i) a spouse up to nine months to disclaim; and also (ii) to permit an independent fiduciary fifteen months to make a *Clayton election*. See sample language in the Addendum.

### J. Additional Drafting Considerations

- 1. Protecting Privacy. Protecting privacy in the modern era is increasingly important. Here are some suggestions for how to do so.
  - a. Pour-over Wills. Because wills are eventually public instruments, pour-over wills are useful because assets are transferred into a trust, which does not become public. If a will must reference specific family members or specific assets, the drafter should include adequate details so that the appropriate individuals and property can be identified but disclose as little as possible beyond the minimum amount of information.
  - b. Exercising Testamentary Powers of Appointment. Along the same lines, testamentary powers of appointment should not be required to be exercised in a will, and certainly not a will that must be probated. Ideally, references to existing family trusts and information about a testamentary plan should be in trusts and other instruments that do not need to be filed with a court. This requires specifying that testamentary powers of appointment can be exercised in a will or, for example, "other instrument that is delivered to the trustee during the decedent's life or at death." Then, the terms for any continuing trust can either be made in a separate trust instrument (such as a "Power of Appointment Trust") or could be contained within the decedent's revocable living trust.
- 2. Gender-Neutrality. Gender-neutral language should be used in drafting. In the 21<sup>st</sup> century, there is no reason to risk offending clients, or to be imprecise in gendered pronouns. For example, do not use masculine pronouns and then put in the interpretive rules that such references also include the feminine. Drafting with gender-neutrality is particularly critical when thinking about how to be sensitive to the preferences of any transgender clients or family members or those who identify as gender fluid or non-binary.
- 3. Encourage Mediation. Legal disputes in court are public and can become particularly embarrassing for a high-profile family if the media takes interest. Litigation also can lead to the permanent impairment or even total destruction of family relationships. In states

where it is permitted, mandatory arbitration may protect the family's privacy, but has the same impact on the relationships, and may unfairly extinguish legal rights that in some instances might more properly be adjudicated by a court. The family may also desire court involvement and not arbitration when trying to modify a trust or have the court bless a settlement agreement, such as in a state that has adopted the Trust and Estate Dispute Resolution Act (TEDRA). Accordingly, encouraging mediation is the preferred approach. A few sample provisions are included in the Addendum.

### IV. Conclusion.

Over the past several decades, the concept of the family and the planning environment have changed significantly. It is crucial for estate planning attorneys to consider how these changes impact their clients' estate planning needs and wishes. The modern family may include children from assisted reproductive technologies with donor gametes, children from first and second (and subsequent) relationships, multiple ex-spouses, and/or nonmarital partners. Estate planning professionals should be sensitive to this multitude of changes when working with clients. Moreover, to ensure that planning documents are responsive to the evolving family structures and the many anticipated and unanticipated future changes, these professionals should build flexibility into the documents they draft.

### V. Addendum: Sample Trust Language.\*

- A. Distribution Standards
- B. Trustee Succession Plan
- C. Divided Trusteeship/Directed Trusts
- D. Direction Power of Individual Co-Trustee
- E. Granting Broad Special Powers of Appointment
- F. Method of Exercise of Powers of Appointment
- G. Power to Create Testamentary General Power of Appointment
- H. Change of Situs and Governing Law
- I. Trust Protectors
- J. Decanting Permission Limiting Notice Requirements
- K. Grantor Trust Power to Substitute
- L. Grantor Trust Power to Borrow
- M. Grantor Trust Power to Add Charitable Beneficiaries
- N. Grantor Trust Reimbursement Provisions
- O. Funding Formulas
- P. Digital Assets
- Q. Definition of Descendants
- R. Expanded Definition of Spouse
- S. Mediation Provision Options
- T. Fiduciary Liability Insurance
- U. Determination of Disability by Committee
- V. Execution and Electronic Signatures
- W. Disclaimer to Donor Advised Fund

<sup>\*</sup>Many of these samples are derived from the author's prior law firms, Schiff Hardin LLP (now ArentFox Schiff), as updated in 2014, and in some cases with additional modifications by the author. Permissions were granted for use in connection with the original materials on which this outline is based.

### A. Distribution Standards

For Family Trust or Other Spousal Lifetime Access Trust:

The trustee shall distribute to any one or more of my spouse and my descendants living at the time of the distribution as much of the net income and principal of the trust, even to the extent of exhausting principal, as the trustee determines from time to time to be required for their respective health, support, and education, and as the independent trustee, if any, believes to be desirable from time to time for their respective best interests; provided, however, that: (1) the trustee shall add any undistributed net income to principal from time to time, as the trustee determines; (2) my primary concern during the life of my spouse is for the health and support of my spouse, and the trustee shall not make a distribution to any other beneficiary under this paragraph if the trustee believes it may jeopardize the trustee's ability to make such distributions to my spouse in the future; (3) to the extent that the trustee believes it advisable, the trustee shall not distribute principal of the Family Trust to my spouse as long as any principal remains in the Marital Trust; (4) no distribution made under this paragraph to a descendant of mine shall be charged as an advancement; and (5) the trustee may make unequal distributions to the beneficiaries or may at any time make a distribution to fewer than all of them, and shall have no duty to equalize those distributions. The term "trustee" and any pronoun referring to that term designate the trustee or trustees at any time acting hereunder, regardless of number or gender, and the term "independent trustee" means a trustee who is not a beneficiary of the trust or a related or subordinate party, as defined in Section 672(c) of the Code, with respect to any beneficiary of the trust. The term "trustee" includes the term "independent trustee."

### For Child's Trust:

If the child for whom the trust is named is living on the division date, then commencing as of the division date and during the life of that child, the trustee shall distribute to the child as much of the net income and principal, even to the extent of exhausting principal, as the trustee in the trustee's sole and absolute discretion believes to be desirable for the best interests of the child, without regard to the interest of any other beneficiary; provided, however, that if the trustee is not an independent trustee, then the distributions shall be limited to those that the trustee determines to be required for the health, support and education of the child. The trustee shall add any undistributed net income to principal from time to time, as the trustee determines.

### B. Trustee Succession Plan

The Trustee Appointer may appoint any one or more Qualified Appointees as additional or successor trustees, Trustee Appointers or Trustee Removers. Any appointment of an additional or successor fiduciary hereunder shall be in writing, may be made to become effective at any time or upon any event, may be for a specified period or indefinitely, may be for limited or general purposes and responsibilities, and may be single, joint or successive, all as specified in the instrument of appointment. The Trustee Appointer acting from time to time may revoke any such appointment made by that Trustee Appointer before it is accepted by the appointee, may revoke or supersede an appointment by a previous Trustee Appointer that has not been accepted by the appointee unless the previous Trustee Appointer's instrument of appointment specifies otherwise, and may supersede the appointments otherwise made in this Article. If two or more instruments of appointment or revocation by the same Trustee Appointer exist and are inconsistent, the latest by date shall control. The Trustee Appointer shall act only in a fiduciary capacity in the best interests of all trust beneficiaries. For purposes of this instrument: (1) the Trustee Appointer means my spouse, if not disabled, otherwise the beneficiaries to whom the trust is named (the "Named Beneficiary") if any, or if none, the beneficiaries to whom the

| current trust income may or must then be distribute | ed by majority; and (2) a Qualified Appointee |
|---|---|
| means any person who has attained the age of        | _ years, or any bank or trust company, within |
| or outside the State of .                           |   |

### C. <u>Divided Trusteeship/Directed Trust</u>

- The Trustee Appointer acting from time to time may appoint one or more Qualified Appointees as Investment Direction Advisor of the trust pursuant to paragraph of the Trustee Provisions of this instrument. Despite the general powers of the trustee, the following provisions shall apply, where the context admits, to each trust from time to time held hereunder, during any period in which an Investment Direction Advisor shall be acting:
  - a. The trustee shall follow the written directions of the Investment Direction Advisor with respect to the purchase, sale, retention, or encumbrance of trust principal and the investment and reinvestment of funds held hereunder and shall have no duty to review or monitor trust investments.
  - b. The trustee shall issue proxies to vote all securities held by the trustee to or on the written order of the Investment Direction Advisor, and the trustee shall not thereafter be liable for the manner in which those securities are voted, for any direct or indirect result of that voting, or for any failure to vote those securities.
  - c. No trustee shall be accountable for any loss or diminution in value sustained by reason of following a direction by the Investment Direction Advisor or from failing to take an action with respect to trust principal in the absence of a direction from the Investment Direction Advisor pursuant to the preceding provisions of this paragraph, and no person dealing with the trustee shall be required or privileged to inquire whether there has been compliance with those provisions.
  - d. Any Investment Direction Advisor acting hereunder may resign at any time, and from time to time may waive for limited periods of time or delegate to any other person (including the trustee with the trustee's consent) any or all of their rights under this paragraph, by written notice delivered to the trustee. In the case of any such delegation, the person to whom rights and powers are delegated may take any action or make any decision for the Investment Direction Advisor making that delegation, within the scope of the delegated rights and powers, with the same effect as if the Investment Direction Advisor making that delegation had participated in that action or decision.
  - e. The rights and powers herein conferred on the Investment Direction Advisor shall be exercisable only in a fiduciary capacity.
  - f. The term "Investment Direction Advisor" means the person named or designated in the manner provided in this Article from time to time acting as investment direction advisor hereunder.

### D. <u>Direction Power of Individual Co-Trustee</u>

An individual co-trustee shall have all the powers of an Investment Direction Advisor and of Distribution Advisor, subject to any limitations herein for a beneficiary, or a related or subordinate party, who is acting as co-trustee.

### E. Granting Broad Special Lifetime and Testamentary Powers of Appointment

If the primary beneficiary is living on the creation of the trust, then at such time at or after the date of the creation of the trust as the primary beneficiary has reached the age of [30] years, the trustee shall also distribute to any one or more persons or organizations as much or all of the principal of the trust as the primary beneficiary may appoint either by will or from time to time by signed instruments delivered to the trustee during the primary beneficiary's life, which instruments shall specify whether such appointment is to be effective immediately, upon the primary beneficiary's death, or at some other time and shall be irrevocable unless made revocable by their terms. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the primary beneficiary shall not have the power (i) to appoint any principal under this paragraph to the primary beneficiary, the primary beneficiary's estate, or the creditors of either, or (ii) to satisfy any legal obligation of the primary beneficiary, including any obligation to support or educate any person; provided, however, that the primary beneficiary may exercise this power to create a successor trust of which the primary beneficiary is a beneficiary as long as the primary beneficiary's beneficial interests in, and fiduciary and non-fiduciary powers over, that successor trust are no broader than the interests and powers of the named beneficiary in the trust named for the named beneficiary under this instrument.

### F. Method of Exercise of Powers of Appointment

The trustee shall distribute any trust principal or net income as to which a power of appointment is exercised to the designated appointee or appointees (whether living at the time of exercise or thereafter born) upon such conditions and estates, in such manner (in trust or otherwise), with such powers, in such amounts or proportions, and at such time or times (but not beyond the period permitted by any applicable rule of law relating to perpetuities) as the holder of the power may specify in the will, revocable trust or other instrument exercising the power. To be effective, the exercise of any power of appointment granted hereunder shall make specific reference to the provision creating the power. The donee of a power of appointment granted hereunder may provide that if no descendant of mine is living, then the property subject to that power may be distributed to one or more beneficiaries other than those set forth in the [Contingent Ultimate Disposition Provisions] of this instrument (excluding the donee, the donee's estate and the creditors of either) without violating the terms of that power. In determining whether a testamentary power of appointment has been exercised by will, the trustee, without liability (unless there is proof of bad faith), may rely on a will believed by the trustee to be the will of the holder of the power of appointment, or assume that the holder left no will in the absence of actual knowledge of one within three months after the holder's death. The trustee shall not require that any will purporting to exercise a power be admitted to probate.

### G. Power to Create Testamentary General Power of Appointment<sup>179</sup>

- 1. An independent trustee is authorized in its sole discretion with respect to all or any part of the principal of any trust created hereunder, by an instrument in writing, to:
  - a. create in a beneficiary a testamentary general power of appointment within the meaning of Section 2041 of the Code (including a power the exercise of which requires the consent of some other person other than any beneficiary or trustee);
  - b. limit a testamentary general power of appointment created under this paragraph, as to all or part of such principal at any time prior to the death of such beneficiary by narrowing the class to whom such beneficiary may appoint the property subject to such appointment, so as to convert such power into a special power of appointment;
  - c. eliminate such power for all or any part of such principal as to which such power was previously created at any time prior to the death of such beneficiary;
  - d. irrevocably release the right to limit or eliminate such power with respect to such trust; and
  - e. divide such beneficiary's share of such trust principal into two fractional shares based upon the portion of such beneficiary's share of such trust that would be then includable in the gross estate of such beneficiary holding such power if they died immediately before such division (in which case the power shall be over the entire principal of one share which has an inclusion ratio of one and over no part of the other share which has an inclusion ratio of zero), including through effecting a qualified severance (as defined in Section 2642(a)(3) of the Code), and each such share shall be administered as a separate trust unless the trustee, in the trustee's sole discretion, thereafter directs the trustee of the trusts to combine such separate trusts into a single trust which the trustee is hereby authorized to do.
- 2. In granting such power to the independent trustee, it is my desire, which is not binding on the independent trustee, that a testamentary general power of appointment be created when the independent trustee believes the inclusion of the property subject thereto in the beneficiary's gross estate may achieve a significant savings in income taxes by subjecting such assets to an estate tax.
- 3. I hereby direct that the independent trustee's decisions under this Article shall be absolutely binding on all beneficiaries of the trust and of the estates of all such beneficiaries and that the independent trustee shall incur no liability by reason of any adverse consequences of such decisions to any beneficiary.

### H. Change of Situs and Governing Law

1. The [independent trustee/Trust Protector] may transfer the situs of administration of any trust created under this instrument, and, following any change in situs, also may change the law governing the administration of the trust to the law of the new situs, in each case

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> Sample language based on sample from Much Shelist, P.C. *See* Kim Kamin *et al.*, Ill. Inst. of Continuing Legal Educ. 58<sup>th</sup> Annual Est. Plan. Short Course, Modern Trust Drafting (2015).

as the [independent trustee/Trust Protector] may from time to time determine to be in the best interests of the trust and its beneficiaries, without regard to the notice requirements, duties and limitations on the [independent trustee/Trust Protector]'s authority contained in Illinois Trust Code Section 108, all of which are expressly waived. Any such change in governing law shall only take effect to the extent that it does not result in any significant change in the interests of beneficiaries. The [independent trustee/Trust Protector] shall have no duty to monitor the laws of other possible jurisdictions in order to determine whether and when to exercise this power.

2. The [independent trustee/Trust Protector] may, by written instrument filed with the trust records, change the situs and governing law of any trust to that of another state, except that any such change in governing law shall take effect only to the extent that it does not result in any significant change in the interests of beneficiaries.

### I. Trust Protectors

- 1. The Trustee Appointer may appoint any one or more individuals who would qualify as independent trustees and who are not then disabled as Trust Protector. Any appointment of a Trust Protector hereunder shall be in writing, may be made to become effective at any time or upon any event, and may be single, joint or successive, all as specified in the instrument of appointment. The Trustee Appointer may revoke any such appointment before it is accepted by the appointee. An appointment that has not been accepted by the appointee may be revoked by a subsequent Trustee Appointer unless the instrument of appointment specifies otherwise. In the event that two or more instruments of appointment or revocation by the same Trustee Appointer exist and are inconsistent, the latest by date shall control.
- 2. The Trust Protector may resign from one or more trusts held hereunder by giving prior written notice of such resignation to the Trustee Appointer and any other Trust Protector then acting. No trust created under this instrument is required to have a Trust Protector, and all trusts created hereunder need not have or continue to have the same Trust Protector.
- 3. The Trust Protector, by written instrument delivered to the Trustee, may modify or amend the terms of the trust, as such terms apply to one or more of the trusts created hereunder, in order to achieve tax advantages or to preserve tax benefits otherwise available with respect to the trust, to convert a beneficiary's interest to a supplemental needs interest that would allow the trust (with respect to that beneficiary) to qualify as a trust for a disabled beneficiary under applicable law or to qualify as a "qualified disability trust" under Section 642 of the Code, or for any other reason that the Trust Protector believes to be necessary or desirable, and, if the instrument so provides, any such modification or amendment shall apply retroactively to the inception of the trust. The Trust Protector may convert a beneficiary's interest to a supplemental needs interest only if the Trust Protector believes that the conversion is necessary for the beneficiary to qualify for benefits from a federal, state or local government or agency thereof ("public benefits") and that the conversion is in the best interests of the beneficiary. The document implementing a conversion to a supplemental needs interest may provide for the possibility that the beneficiary's interest may be converted back to its original form hereunder if such a reconversion would be in the best interests of the beneficiary. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trust Protector may not make a modification or amendment that would (i) significantly change any beneficiary's beneficial interests under the trust, except if necessary and in a beneficiary's best interests to convert the beneficiary's interest to a supplemental needs interest to allow

the beneficiary to qualify for public benefits, (ii) require any beneficiary to return to the trust amounts previously vested or distributed, (iii) modify the qualifications to act as Trust Protector, or (iv) change this sentence. For purposes of the preceding sentence, an amendment that changes the tax characteristics of the trust (including, but not limited to, an amendment that causes the trust to be or not to be a grantor trust or that grants or eliminates a general power of appointment) shall *not* be deemed a significant change in a beneficiary's beneficial interests. The term "supplemental needs interest" means the ability to receive distributions for the beneficiary's safety and welfare to the extent that such needs are not covered by public benefits that the beneficiary receives due to handicap, disability or financial need. Distributions made to a beneficiary with a supplemental needs interest may only be made to the extent that they supplement (and not supplant) the beneficiary's public benefits.

- 4. At any time when more than one person is acting as Trust Protector, the Trust Protectors must act unanimously.
- 5. The Trust Protector, in that capacity, shall have no duty to monitor any trust created hereunder in order to determine whether any of the powers and discretions conferred under this instrument should be exercised. Further, the Trust Protector, in that capacity, shall have no duty to keep informed as to the acts or omissions of others or to take any action to prevent or minimize loss. Any exercise or non-exercise of the powers and discretions granted to the Trust Protector shall be in the sole and absolute discretion of the Trust Protector and shall be binding and conclusive on all persons. The Trust Protector is not required to exercise any power or discretion granted under this instrument. Absent proof of bad faith, the Trust Protector, in that capacity, is hereby exonerated from any and all liability for the acts or omissions of any fiduciary or any beneficiary hereunder or arising from any exercise or non-exercise by the Trust Protector of the powers and discretions conferred under this instrument.
- 6. The Trust Protector acting from time to time, if any, on their own behalf and on behalf of all successor Trust Protectors, may at any time irrevocably release, renounce, suspend, or modify to a lesser extent any or all powers and discretions conferred on the Trust Protector under this instrument by a written instrument delivered to the trustee and the Trustee Appointer.

### J. <u>Decanting Permission Limiting Notice Requirements.</u>

An independent trustee shall have the power at any time and from time to time, in the sole and absolute discretion of the trustee, to distribute any portion or all of the principal of any trust held hereunder to the trustee of another trust under any other instrument, by whomever created, to the maximum extent permissible under applicable law. The trustee's exercise of the foregoing power need not comply with the requirements, or any equivalent statute under the laws of the state whose laws then govern the administration of this trust, including, but not limited to, that the trustee need not provide notice to any remainder beneficiary. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a beneficiary of the trust is acting as a trustee hereunder, such beneficiary may participate in the exercise the power under this paragraph only to the extent that the beneficiary's beneficial interests in, and fiduciary and non-fiduciary powers over, the successor trust are no broader than the interests and powers of the beneficiary under this instrument.

### K. Grantor Trust Power to Substitute

At any time during my life, I may reacquire any part or all of the trust principal by substituting other property of an equivalent value upon written notice to the trustee, which power shall be exercisable for my personal benefit in a non-fiduciary capacity and without the approval or consent of any person in a fiduciary capacity, subject to the requirement that property of an equivalent value be substituted. I may irrevocably release the power at any time by written instrument delivered to the trustee. A guardian, conservator or personal representative may exercise my rights under this paragraph on my behalf during any period in which I am disabled.

### L. Grantor Trust Power to Borrow

**Option 1:** At any time during my life and upon my request, the independent trustee may from time to time lend to me principal or income of the trust without interest and without security. The trustee may irrevocably release this power by written instrument filed with the trust records and delivered to me and the current income beneficiaries. Any release made under this paragraph shall bind all successor trustees.

**Option 2:** At any time during my life, I may borrow principal or income of the trust without security, but this shall not relieve the trustee of any fiduciary obligation with respect to the other terms of the loan, including the obligation to confirm that a promissory note or other evidence of indebtedness given to the trust is of sufficient value. I may irrevocably release the power granted to me in this paragraph at any time by written instrument delivered to the trustee. A guardian, conservator or personal representative may exercise my rights under this paragraph on my behalf during any period in which I am disabled.

### M. Grantor Trust Power to Add Charitable Beneficiaries

During my lifetime, the independent trustee may add or delete any one or more charitable organizations as additional beneficiaries under paragraph of this Article, and the trustee may distribute such amounts of income and principal to them, in such proportions, as the trustee believes to be desirable.

### N. Grantor Trust Reimbursement Provisions

Option 1: 180 Income Tax Reimbursement or Payment. If the settlor is treated (under Subpart E, Part 1, Subchapter J, Chapter 1 of the Code) as the owner of all or part of any trust under this Agreement, the Trustees (other than a Trustee who is, with

57

respect to the Settlor, a "related or subordinate party" within the meaning of Section 672(c) of the Code) may, in their absolute discretion, reimburse the Settlor for any amount of the Settlor's personal income tax liability that is attributable to the inclusion of such trust's income, capital gains, deductions and credits in the calculation of the Settlor's taxable income. The trustees may pay the Settlor directly or may pay the reimbursement amount to an appropriate taxing authority on the Settlor's behalf, as they see fit. No policy of insurance on the Settlor's life, if any is held in a trust from which the Settlor is reimbursed, nor its cash value nor the proceeds of any loan secured by an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Sample language from Proskauer Rose LLP.

interest in the policy may be used to reimburse the Settlor or to pay an appropriate taxing authority on the Settlor's behalf.

### Option 2: For each taxable year that the trust constitutes a so-called "grantor trust," the Trustees may reimburse the Grantor out of income or principal (apportioned among the trusts hereunder) for the Grantor's income tax (federal, state, local, or foreign) on the amount of the trust's income (if any) reportable on the Grantor's individual income tax return under Code Sec. 671.

## Option 3: With respect to each taxable year of the trust (or portion of a taxable year), the trustee may distribute to me such amount of the net income and principal of the trust as the independent trustee, in the independent trustee's sole and unfettered discretion, determines is appropriate to provide for any income tax imposed upon me with respect to the taxable income of the trust for such taxable year; provided that the power to direct this distribution to me may only be exercised (by giving a binding written direction to the acting trustee) by an independent trustee, and at any time that no independent trustee is acting, by a Qualified Appointee who is an independent trustee, appointed by the Trustee Appointer as a special trustee, whose authority shall be limited to exercising this discretion.

# Option 4: From time to time the Trustees, in the discretion of the Independent Trustees, may pay out of income or principal of a trust such amount as the Independent Trustees determine will fully or partially compensate the Grantor for income tax incurred by the Grantor on the trust's taxable income. Such payment may be made by a direct payment to the taxing authority or by reimbursement to the Grantor, or both, as the Independent Trustees determine. This Article .... supersedes any otherwise applicable provision of law governing payment or reimbursement of the Grantor's taxes, including any right the Grantor would otherwise have to such payment or reimbursement. The Independent Trustees may, at any time, by a written instrument, signed and dated and filed with the records of the trust, irrevocably release wholly or in part the power given to them by this Article .... Such release shall not restore any right, power or authority under any such otherwise applicable provision of law.

The Trustor hereby waives any right of reimbursement under any applicable law for the Trustor's tax liability (whether federal, state or otherwise), if any, attributable to a trust being treated as a "grantor trust" as to the Trustor under Code Sections 671 through 679. If (i) in any calendar year, a trust created hereunder is treated as a "grantor trust" as to the Trustor under Code Sections 671 through 679 and (ii) Revenue Ruling 2004-64 has not been modified, revoked or withdrawn and may be relied upon as precedent in the jurisdiction in which the trust is administered as it pertains to situation 3 described in Revenue Ruling 2004-64 (or if it has been modified, revoked or withdrawn if other binding precedent then exists that reaches the same holding as currently set forth in Revenue Ruling 2004-64 for situation 3), the trustee may, in the trustee's discretion, pay directly to the taxing authorities or reimburse the Trustor out of the trust property such amount equal to the amount by which the Trustor's Federal, state and local income taxes for the immediately preceding

**Option 5:**<sup>181</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> Sample language from Jennifer E. Smith and Kristen A. Curatolo.

calendar year exceed the amount of such taxes that would have been imposed if the trust's income, gains, losses and deductions had not been included in the determination of the Trustor's income tax liability (the "Incremental Taxes"); provided, however, (i) the cash value of a life insurance policy on the Trustor's life, or proceeds from a loan made against such policy, may not be used or applied for the payment of the Incremental Taxes, and (ii) the trustee shall have no discretion to pay directly to the taxing authorities or reimburse the Trustor out of the trust property any amount pursuant to this Section if such discretion, combined with any applicable state law which would subject the trust property to the claims of the Trustor's creditors, or would cause inclusion of the trust property in the Trustor's gross estate for federal or state estate tax purposes. If it is finally determined for income tax purposes that the trustee reimbursed the Trustor an amount in excess of the Incremental Taxes, the Trustor shall repay such trust such excess amount within thirty (30) days of the final determination of the Incremental Taxes.

It is intended that the trustee's exercise of discretion to reimburse the Trustor for any such income taxes not be considered a gift from the trust beneficiaries to the Trustor and that the existence of such power shall not be considered a retained right or interest that will cause inclusion of any part of any trust created hereunder in the Trustor's estate for federal and state estate tax purposes; this Section and this Agreement shall be construed in accordance with this stated intent. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, only a trustee who is not related or subordinate to the Trustor within the meaning of Section 672(c) of the Code, may exercise the powers to reimburse the Trustor granted to the trustee pursuant to this Section. This provision supersedes any otherwise applicable provision of law governing payment or reimbursement of the Trustor's taxes, including any right the Trustor would otherwise have to such payment or reimbursement.

### O. Funding Formulas<sup>182</sup>

Credit Shelter Trust (Lower of Federal and State Estate Tax Exemptions) and QTIP-able Trust:

If my spouse survives me, then upon my death the trustee shall set aside out of the trust estate, as a separate trust (herein referred to as the "Family Trust"), (a) all property in the trust estate, if any, as to which a federal estate tax marital deduction would not be allowed if it were given outright to my spouse, and (b) after giving effect to (a), the largest amount, if any, that would not result in or increase either (i) federal estate tax or (ii) state death taxes based upon the state death tax credit being payable by reason of my death. In determining the amount, if any, the trustee shall assume that none of this Family Trust qualifies for a federal estate tax deduction and that the Marital Trust hereinafter established (including any part thereof disclaimed by my spouse or on my spouse's behalf) qualifies for the federal estate tax marital deduction. I recognize that certain taxes and expenses may reduce the amount. For purposes of this instrument, my spouse shall be deemed to have survived me if the order of our deaths cannot be proved.

59

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> The following sample funding formula language is from Much Shelist, P.C.

Credit Shelter Trust (Greater of Federal and State Estate Tax Exemptions) and QTIP-able Trust:

If my spouse survives me, then upon my death the trustee shall set aside out of the trust estate, as a separate trust (herein referred to as the "Family Trust"), (a) all property in the trust estate, if any, as to which a federal estate tax marital deduction would not be allowed if it were given outright to my spouse, and (b) after giving effect to (a), the largest amount, if any, that would result in no federal estate tax (or the least possible federal estate tax) being payable by reason of my death. In determining the amount, if any, the trustee shall assume that none of this Family Trust qualifies for a federal estate tax deduction, and shall assume that the Marital Trust hereinafter established (including any part thereof disclaimed by my spouse or on my spouse's behalf) qualifies for the federal estate tax marital deduction. I recognize that certain taxes and expenses may reduce the amount. For purposes of this instrument, my spouse shall be deemed to have survived me if the order of our deaths cannot be proved.

### *Three-Trust Strategy:*

- 6.1 <u>Creation of Marital Share and Family Trust</u>. After the payment of Estate Expenses, Federal Death Taxes and State Death Taxes pursuant to the previous provisions of Article V hereof, if the settlor's spouse survives the settlor, the Trustee shall divide the balance of the trust estate of the trust into fractional shares as follows:
- Creation of Marital Share. If the settlor's spouse survives the settlor, the Trustee shall, as of the date of the settlor's death, set aside from the trust estate a fraction of the "Qualified Property," as hereinafter defined, as a separate share (undiminished by any Federal Death Taxes and State Death Taxes to the extent possible) which shall be designated as the "Marital Share." The numerator of the fraction shall be that amount which when added to all marital deductions, if any, allowed for property or interests in property passing or which have passed to the settlor's spouse otherwise than by the terms of this Article, will equal the minimum marital deduction necessary so that the least possible Federal Death Taxes and State Death Taxes will be payable by the settlor's estate. The minimum marital deduction shall be determined after taking into account all credits and deductions allowed to the settlor's estate for federal estate tax purposes (other than the marital deduction); provided, however, that the credit or deduction for State Death Taxes shall only be considered to the extent the use of such credit or deduction does not increase the combined Federal Death Taxes and State Death Taxes payable by the settlor's estate. The denominator of the fraction shall be the federal estate tax value of all Qualified Property. The Marital Share shall be further divided between the "Federal QTIP Marital Trust" and the "State QTIP Marital Trust," as provided in Section 6.2 of this Article VI.
- (b) <u>Creation of Family Trust</u>. The balance of the trust estate of the trust which shall not be allocable, distributable or payable pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this instrument shall be retained in trust by the Trustee as a separate trust, to be designated as the "Family Trust," and held, administered and distributed pursuant to the provisions of Article VII hereof.

### 6.2 Division of Marital Share into Separate Marital Trusts.

(a) <u>Creation of Federal QTIP Marital Trust</u>. Upon creation of the Marital Share, the Trustee shall set aside as a separate trust, designated as the "Federal QTIP Marital Trust," a fraction of the trust estate allocated to the Marital Share, to be held, administered and

distributed as hereinafter provided in this Article VI. The numerator of the fraction shall be that amount which when added to all marital deductions, if any, allowed for property or interests in property passing or which have passed to the settlor's spouse otherwise than by the terms of this Article, will equal the minimum marital deduction necessary so that the least possible federal estate tax will be payable by the settlor's estate. The minimum marital deduction shall be determined after taking into account all credits and deductions allowed to the settlor's estate for federal estate tax purposes (other than the marital deduction); provided, however, that the credit or deduction for State Death Taxes shall only be considered to the extent the use of such credit or deduction does not increase the combined Federal Death Taxes and State Death Taxes payable by the settlor's estate. The denominator of the fraction shall be the federal estate tax value of the Marital Share.

- (b) <u>Creation of State QTIP Marital Trust</u>. All of the Marital Share not otherwise allocated to the Federal QTIP Marital Trust shall be allocated to a separate trust, which trust shall be designated as the "State QTIP Marital Trust," to be held, administered and distributed as hereinafter provided in this Article VI.
- (c) <u>Marital Trusts</u>. The Federal QTIP Marital Trust and the State QTIP Marital Trust are hereinafter sometimes referred to individually as a "Marital Trust" and collectively as the "Marital Trusts."

### QTIP-able Trust Approach:

If my spouse survives me, then upon my death the trustee shall set aside out of the trust estate, as a separate trust (herein referred to as the "QTIP Trust"), all property in the trust estate. I recognize that certain taxes and expenses may reduce the amount. For purposes of this instrument, my spouse shall be deemed to have if the order of our deaths cannot be proved.

### Disclaimer Approach:

If my spouse survives me, then upon my death the trustee shall distribute, outright and free of trust, all property in the trust estate. Any part of such distribution disclaimed by my spouse or on my spouse's behalf shall be added to or used to fund the Family Trust provided for herein, to be held and administered as a part thereof.

### Clayton Election:

After first satisfying all of my just debts and approved claims against my estate, the expenses of the administration of my estate, and the payment of any specific devises contained in this trust agreement or under my will, if I am survived by my spouse, Trustee shall distribute the remaining trust property to the QTIP marital deduction trust; provided, however, Trustee shall first distribute to the Family Trust any trust property that: (i) does not qualify for the federal estate tax marital deduction, or (ii) is excluded from inclusion in my gross estate for federal estate tax purposes, or (iii) is otherwise exempt from federal estate tax in the first instance. Only property that qualifies for the federal estate tax marital deduction shall be distributed to the QTIP Marital Deduction Trust. If an election is made to qualify a fractional or percentile portion (but not all) of the QTIP Marital Trust for the federal estate tax marital deduction under IRC Section 2056 (b)(7), I give to the QTIP Marital Deduction Trust only that fractional or percentage share of the QTIP Marital Deduction Trust as to which my fiduciary shall make the QTIP election under IRC Section 2056 (b)(7). That portion of the QTIP Marital Deduction Trust as to which my fiduciary shall not make the IRC Section 2056 (b)(7) QTIP marital

deduction election shall be distributed to the Family Trust to be administered, distributed and disposed of under the terms of that trust. If I am not survived by my spouse, Trustee shall instead distribute the remaining trust property to the Family Trust.

### Disclaimer/Clayton Combo Alternative: 183

<u>Disposition of Trust Property at Settlor's Death.</u> As of my death, but after providing for the payment of any debts, taxes, and administration and other expenses, as provided later in this instrument, the trustee shall administer the balance of the trust principal (including property to which the trustee may be entitled from any other source) as follows:

- A. If my spouse survives me, the trustee shall allocate the trust principal to the Marital Trust, to be administered in the manner provided in subsequent Articles of this instrument; provided, however, that the trustee shall allocate to the Family Trust that portion of the trust principal which is (i) effectively disclaimed by my spouse, or (ii) allocated pursuant to [the Clayton election] provisions of this instrument with respect to principal for which no qualified terminable interest property election is made; or
- B. If my spouse does not survive me, the trustee shall allocate the entire trust principal to the Family Trust, to be administered in the manner provided in a subsequent Article of this instrument.

<u>Family Trust</u>. If the settlor's [SPOUSE] survives the settlor, the trustee shall, following the death of the settlor, set apart out of the trust estate and hold the following-described property as the principal of a separate trust for the primary benefit of the settlor's [SPOUSE] (which is referred to in this declaration as the Family Trust):

- (1) if the federal estate tax is applicable to the settlor's estate, and if the settlor's personal representative does not make the election as to any portion of the Residuary Trust Estate, such portion or all of the Residuary Trust Estate as to which the election is not made; and
- (2) if the settlor's [SPOUSE] makes a qualified disclaimer (within the meaning of Section 2518 of the Internal Revenue Code) and/or a disclaimer under applicable state law (which disclaimer, in either case, is referred to in this Article as the 'Disclaimer') with respect to any portion or all of the Marital Trust, such portion or all of the Marital Trust as to which the Disclaimer is made.

Disclaimer by the Settlor's [SPOUSE]. If the settlor's [SPOUSE] (or the settlor's [SPOUSE]'s legal representative or agent acting under a duly executed power of attorney) makes a qualified disclaimer (within the meaning of Section 2518 of the Internal Revenue Code) and/or a disclaimer under applicable state law of all or a specific portion of the Marital Trust, the property comprising the portion (or all) of the Marital Trust as to which the settlor's [SPOUSE] makes such disclaimer shall be added to and dealt with as part of the Family Trust under Article II or, if the Family Trust is not in existence, as the initial principal of the Family Trust under Article II; provided, however, that, in either case, the settlor's [SPOUSE] shall have no power of appointment under Subdivision (B) of Article II, whether exercisable by written instrument

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> Language based on sample provided by Christine R.W. Quigley and Lucy Bickford of ArentFox Schiff. *See also* Diana S.C. Zeydel & Todd A. Flubacher, *Care and Feeding of a Dynasty Trust: High Protein or Low Fat?*, 52nd Annual Heckerling Inst., ch. 3, at 82-83 (2018).

executed during the settlor's [SPOUSE]'s life or by the settlor's [SPOUSE]'s last will, with respect to the property so disclaimed.

### P. <u>Digital Assets</u>

[My executor/the trustee] shall have the power to access, control, handle, conduct, continue, distribute, dispose of, or terminate my digital assets, digital accounts and loyalty programs. The term "digital assets" means, but is not limited to, all digital files, including emails, documents, images, audio, video and similar files stored on digital devices, including desktops, laptops, tablets, peripherals, storage devices, mobile telephones, smartphones, and any similar digital device which currently exists or may exist as technology develops or such comparable items as technology develops, regardless of the ownership of the physical device upon which the digital asset is stored. The term "digital accounts" means, but is not limited to, email accounts, software licenses, social network accounts, social media accounts, file sharing accounts, financial management accounts, domain registration accounts, domain name service accounts, web hosting accounts, tax preparation service accounts, online stores, affiliate programs and other online accounts. The term "loyalty programs" refers to all frequent flyer programs and similar award programs.

### Q. Definition of Descendants

In determining who is a descendant of mine or of any other person:

- 1. Legal adoption before the person who is adopted has reached the age of 25 years, [but not thereafter,] shall be equivalent to blood relationship;
- 2. A non-marital child and those claiming through that person shall be considered to be descendants of (i) the natural mother and her ancestors, and (ii) if the natural father acknowledges paternity, the natural father and his ancestors, in each case unless such natural parent's parental rights have been terminated by judicial decree;
- 3. A parent identified on an individual's most recent official birth certificate shall be presumed to be a parent of the individual without further inquiry. Such presumption can be rebutted only by the identified parent through whom that individual may have an interest in this trust:
- 4. A child born as a result of assisted reproductive technology shall be considered a child of the individual whose status as such child's parent determines whether such child becomes a beneficiary under this instrument. An individual shall be considered the parent of a child:
  - a. If such child was conceived using (a) such individual's ovum or sperm and the ovum or sperm of such individual's spouse [or partner], (b) such individual's ovum or sperm and the ovum or sperm of a donor other than such individual's spouse [or partner], or (c) the ovum or sperm of a donor and the ovum or sperm of such individual's spouse [or partner, if such spouse or partner provided a signed, written acknowledgment that they are an intended parent of the child]; [or if the individual is an intended parent of such child under a written agreement with a gestational carrier, regardless of the enforceability of that agreement;]
  - b. Regardless of whether such ovum was fertilized in utero;

- c. Regardless of whether the child was carried to term by such individual, such individual's spouse, or any other person; and
- d. Regardless of whether such child has been legally adopted by such individual if such adoption is required under applicable law at the time of such child's birth to establish that such individual is such child's parent;
- 5. Any individual who may be considered a natural parent of a child solely because of having donated ovum or sperm or having acted as a surrogate mother and who would not otherwise be a beneficiary under this instrument, and any other individual who is related to such individual by consanguinity or affinity, shall not be a beneficiary under this instrument; and
- 6. A genetic child of a parent who was deceased or disabled at the time of such individual's placement in gestation shall be deemed to be a descendant of such parent only if:
  - a. such individual was born within [one / two / three] year[s] after such parent's death;
  - b. such parent gave signed, written permission to the surviving parent to use their genetic material to place such individual in gestation after such parent's death or disability; and
  - c. such deceased parent would have had legal rights and obligations as a parent of such child upon their birth under local law.
- 7. The term "partner" means an individual's companion in a marriage, civil union, domestic partnership, or substantially similar legal relationship with the individual.

### R. Expanded Definition of Spouse

The "spouse" of any individual means the person, if any, who is married to, in a civil union with, or is the registered domestic partner of that individual and not living separate and apart from that individual (other than for medical, business, or professional reasons), or who satisfied these requirements at that individual's death.

### S. Mediation Provision Options

- Option 1: If there is a dispute or controversy of any nature involving the administration or disposition of this trust, I direct the parties to the dispute to submit the matter to mediation or another method of alternative dispute resolution selected by them. The cost of the mediation shall be paid for by the trust. If a party refuses to submit the matter to mediation or other method of alternative dispute resolution, or if a party refuses to participate in good faith in such process, I authorize the court having jurisdiction over this trust to award reasonable costs and attorney's fees from that party's beneficial share or from other amounts payable to that party (including amounts payable to that party as compensation for services as personal representative or trustee).
- Option 2: Upon my incapacity or death, if any dispute arises between or among one or more trustees, beneficiaries, Trust Protectors or any other fiduciary ("disputing parties") with respect to the administration of the trust or any trust created hereunder, prior to filing any actions in court, the disputing parties shall make a good faith effort to settle any such dispute through mediation administered by a certified mediator. The cost of mediation shall be paid for by the trust. The disputing parties shall make reasonable efforts to agree on the mediator to employ for the mediation. Said

mediator shall have at least ten (10) years of experience in trust law of the state that governs the situs of the trust.

**Option 3:** It is the Settlor's hope and desire that any party who is considering the filing of any claim or lawsuit with respect to any trust created under this instrument should attempt mediation to resolve their dispute before any such filing.

### T. Fiduciary Liability Insurance

At all times, to use trust assets to (i) purchase such liability insurance as the trustee determines to be required to protect the trustee for errors or omissions, and (ii) defend the trustee from any claim arising from activities as trustee of any trust established under this instrument; and I hereby deem such liability insurance a proper trust expense, and expressly authorize the premiums for such insurance to be paid from trust funds.

### U. Determination of Disability by Committee

For purposes of this instrument, there is hereby constituted a "Committee" which shall consist from time to time of such of my spouse and my adult children who are not then disabled. The Committee, by majority vote, and with the written concurrence of a physician who has examined or treated me within the previous three months, at any time can declare me to be disabled, or subsequently declare that my disability has ended, in each case by written notice signed by that majority and delivered to me and to the trustee. During any period in which I have been declared to be disabled, unless the Committee designates otherwise in its declaration of disability or a subsequent notice, or a court of competent jurisdiction has determined that I am legally competent to act, I shall be (i) restricted from making withdrawals and giving directions under this Article, (ii) removed as trustee, (iii) prohibited from amending or revoking this instrument, and (iv) disqualified from removing trustees, appointing successor fiduciaries and approving trustee accounts, in which event the persons who would exercise those rights if I were then deceased shall exercise them in my place. No person shall have a duty to seek a judicial determination regarding my legal competency.

### V. Execution and Electronic Signatures

- 1. Generic Provision (can be customized by state): Execution and Electronic Signatures. This instrument may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument. The execution and delivery of this instrument (or any subsequent documents relating to this instrument) by facsimile, electronic mail, or other electronic means shall be treated in all manner and respects as delivery of a signed hard-copy original. Electronic signatures (specifically including an electronic signature created by an electronic process or software adopted by the signer with the intent to sign this instrument, including any electronic signature complying with the U.S. ESIGN Act of 2000, *e.g.*, www.docusign.com) shall be deemed original signatures for all purposes of this instrument and all matters related hereto, with such electronic or digital signature having the same legal effect as an original signature.
- 2. <u>For Delaware Trust</u>: Execution and Electronic Signatures. This instrument may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument. The execution and delivery of this instrument by electronic means shall be treated in all manner

and respects as delivery of a signed hard-copy original of this instrument. Electronic signatures (specifically including an electronic signature created by an electronic process or software that is adopted by the signer with the intent to sign this instrument, including any electronic signature complying with the U.S. ESIGN Act of 2000, *e.g.*, Docusign) shall be deemed original signatures for all purposes of this instrument, as provided by Section 3550 of Title 12 of the Delaware Code or other applicable law, and all matters related hereto, with such electronic or digital signature having the same legal effect as an original signature.

### W. Disclaimer to Donor Advised Fund

- 1. In the event that either a qualified or unqualified disclaimer within the meaning of IRC Section 2518 is made by any of my children (the "Disclaiming Child"), with respect to any amount directed to be distributed to them outright or set aside in a separate trust for their benefit as primary beneficiary (the "Disclaimed Amount"), said Disclaimed Amount shall be distributed to a donor advised fund at [CUSTODIAN OF DAF] (the "Disclaimer DAF"). It is my hope and desire, without imposing any mandatory direction, that the Disclaiming Child act as an advisor to the Disclaimer DAF to provide recommendations regarding distributions from the Disclaimer DAF.
- 2. In the event that I die after my spouse and a child of mine makes a disclaimer as described in this paragraph, the Disclaiming Child's trust shall be increased in value so as to achieve for it the entire marginal benefit of any estate tax charitable deduction in my estate, and the trusts for my other children shall be of the same value as if there had been no such disclaimer. If more than one of my children shall disclaim, then the marginal benefit of that charitable deduction shall be allocated pro rata between my children's trusts (based on the relative amounts of property disclaimed).